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QUANEX CORPORATION - MARKET DRIVEN...PROCESS BASED

RN
NET SALES NET INCOME DILUTED EPS FROM
($ In Millions) ($ In Millions) CONTINUING OPERATIONS
[7] Retired executive B PRIOR TO SPLIT" [J ADJUSTED FOR SPLIT-

life insurance benefit Retired executive life " Retired executive life

of $9.0 million and insurance benefit of insurance benefit of

$2.2 miilion in 2002 $.56 per share and $.13 $.37 per share and $.09

and 2003, respectively. per share in 2002 and per share in 2002 and

2003, respectively. 2003, respectively,

$1460.3
$55.5 $54.5

$42.9

$898.2

$853.4
$7774
$29.2
2001 2002 2003 2004 2001

2002 | 2003 | 2004

* Three-for-two stock split effective December 31, 2004.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

i
i
IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA) 2004‘%

CASH PROVIDED - FREE CASH FLOW « information Regarding Certification

" to the NYSE: On March 15, 2004,
BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES (S In Millions) Raymond A. Jean, the Company’s Chairman
($ In Millions) of the Board, President and Chief Executive

Officer, submitted to the New Yerk Stock
Exchange (the “NYSE") an annual certification
stating that as of the date thereof he was
not aware of any violation by the Company
of the NYSE's Corporate Governance listing
standards, as required by Section 303A.12{2)
of the NYSE's Listed Company Manual.

$124.2 $1047

This annual report to our shareholders
$102.8 contains forward-fooking st‘atements‘ .
These statements involve risks, uncertainties
$77.4 and other important factors that may cause
$85.0 $811 the actual results of Quanex and its divisions
to be materially different frem any future
$49.7 results expressed or implied by such
forward-looking statements. Information
identifying such risks, uncertainties and other
$31.6 important factors is contained in the sections
entitled "Quantitative/Qualitative Disclosure”
and "Business - Risk Factors” in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
October 31, 2004, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission and included as
2001 2002 2003 2004 2001 2002 2003 2004 part of this annual report to shareholders.

“Defined as Cash Provided by Operating Activities less
Capital Expenditures. Please see recenciliation on page 14.
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

am delighted to report to you that Quanex achieved

record performances in sales, earnings, and operating

cash flow during 2004, Qur employees executed our
plans well and made Quanex a much stronger company
during the year, measured not only by returns, but by our
balance sheet and market positions, as well. Overall, we
made tremendous progress in increasing shareholder value.
Here is how we performed in 2004:

» Total return to our common shareholders was 28%.

* The annual common stock dividend increased by 19%
to $.81 during the year, the 11th increase in 16 years;
dividends have been paid for 67 consecutive quarters.

¢ Diluted EPS from continuing operations of $3.45
was the best in the company’s history.

e Revenues grew 63% to $1.46 billion in sales.

¢ Return on investment was 10.6% and return
on equity at 11.5%.

e Cash provided by operating activities was a record
$124 million and free cash flow* was $105 million...
the best ever.

e QOur successful $125 million, 2.5% contingent
convertible bond offering added flexibility to our
financial structure.

*

Please see Non-GAAP reconciliation on page 14. N

While each of these achievements is notable, perhaps
the most exciting was the successful integration of our
acquisitions - TruSeal Technologies and North Star
Steel Monroe. This was made possible by the talent and
enthusiasm of the people involved, and by the Quanex
Game Plan, which gives us a common language and a
framework for realizing synergies in distribution, customer
service, and operational excellence practices.

HOW WE VIEW OURSELVES

In 2001, we established a market-driven strategy and laid
out a Game Plan for increasing shareholder value. This
Game Plan defined our key objectives, established a dis-
tinctive set of strategic and operational rules by which we
play, and identified the attributes that we seek from each
employee and which we deem essential to our success.

Our approach to business begins with a clear defini-
tion of our playing field and the commercial role we play.
Although we cast steel and aluminum, and fabricate, extrude,
or machine these metals, we no longer view ourselves as a
metals company. Rather, we serve the Vehicular Products
and Building Products markets. And at our core, we are a
valued supplier to the automotive industry and to the win-
dow and door industry. We live and breathe “Light and
Heavy-Duty Vehicle Build Rates,” “Housing Starts,” and
“Remodeling Expenditures.”

It is a subtle but important distinction that we define
our role based upon who we serve and how we serve them,
as opposed to what we make. Although our operational
activities and our distinct value proposition are founded
upon making excellent production, logistics, and adminis-
trative processes better, our mission is to become more
customer centered. We believe a deeper understanding
of our customers’ needs and our ability to provide unparal-
leled levels of service will accelerate growth and help build
a stronger business franchise over time. We are “market-
driven and process-based.”

WHAT DRIVES US
When we have our Business Leaders’ meetings, there are
four key elements on which we focus:

Profitable Growth

The best strategies for growth not only create value for
ourselves, but for our customers as well. We have devel-
oped leading market positions in our target markets
through intense customer interaction, and we want to
continue building on these relationships. How can we
reconfigure the value chain to drive out waste? What
value added operations can we provide at lower cost?
What improved products and components can we engineer
and supply? We are challenging ourselves to enhance
our value propositions to customers, and to extend our
geographic reach to better serve them. We are also look-
ing to introduce complementary products to our current
offerings, and to capitalize on the channel opportunities
we have.

QUANEX CORPORATION | 2004 ANNUAL REPORT
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In a global economy, we believe you must dedicate your-
self to being the best at what you do...and we have done
just that! “Lean thinking” is the cornerstone for contin-
uous improvement throughout Quanex and new ideas
and techniques are shared during our leadership meetings.
Our businesses have embraced all aspects of lean manu-
facturing practices, including value mapping, Kaizen
events, the use of Six Sigma methodology, and optimizing
pull and flow practices. Lean initiatives raise effective
operating capacity by reducing set-up times, improving
first-pass yields, and eliminating manufacturing con-
straints, thereby leading to improved results. We remain
champions of this “creativity before capital” approach.

Cash Generation

Cash generation is a great proxy of operating discipline
and in fiscal 2004 our cash flow provided by operating
activities grew 21%. Free cash flow of $104.7 million* set
a record, and was 192% of net income - a true testament
to the quality of our earnings. Conversion capital days were
reduced by 7% in 2004, following a 13% decline in 2003.

Returns > Cost of Capital
For us to create shareholder value, we must create a
company in which the financial gains exceed the cost of
invested capital. A fast-growing revenue line, even a bold
new “out-of-the-box” business strategy will only create
a mirage if the money coming in does not exceed the
money going out. We use this return formula to evaluate
every move we make, whether it is buying, selling, or
running a business.
OUTPERFORMING & o
Our results in 2004 were again driven by the quality of our
core businesses - MACSTEEL, our engineered steel bar
business, and Engineered Products, our line of door and
window components. To qualify as a core business, we look
for certain attributes.

A core business may have a unique manufacturing
process that gives it the lowest cost position in its industry.
Or it may have superior engineering capabilities that create
a high degree of product differentiation relative to its com-
petitors. Sometimes it is a combination of attributes that
provides the competitive advantage that enables the busi-
ness to consistently outperform rivals, and generate returns
in excess of the cost of capital through a business cycle.

Our target markets are the two economic pillars of this
country’s consumer driven economy. They will always be
cyclical, but with our strong “cores” continuing to improve
their competitive positions, we have the engines to outper-
form the markets we serve.

BUILDING ON OUR STRENGTHS
We have said our strategic screen calls for acquiring compa-
nies that can enhance our existing core businesses. We will
stay close to the markets and customers we know, advance
our product offerings, and leverage the strengths we have.
Consistent with this strategy, on December 9, 2004, we
announced the acquisition of Mikron Industries — a great
adjacency to our core Engineered Products business.

IVIIKTON 18 41l INTCErdatcd manuraciurctr o1 teChinologically
advanced, custom polyvinyl chloride (“PVC”) profiles and
engineered composite alloy products (MikronWood™)} used
in the fabrication of windows, doors, window coverings,
and other building products. The company produces these
components in a broad product line of exclusive design
window and door systems. Mikron’s customer base is com-
prised of the largest, fastest growing and most successful
vinyl window and door companies in North America.
During the last five years, Mikron has made significant
investments in research and development, equipment in
support of its new composite products, new high speed
extruders, and high output tooling.

Acquisitions always entail risks, but we have prepared
ourselves to rapidly and successfully integrate this business
in order to build an outstanding platform serving the vinyl
and composite fenestration market.

PEOPLE MAKE IT HAPPEN

Our leadership team and all Quanex employees helped
deliver the record performance presented in this report.
I am very grateful for their support and contributions to our
collective success.

We are committed to leadership development as it is
absolutely central to the execution of our Game Plan. From
the unimpeachable integrity to the hands-on management
style, leadership standards are emphasized and education
provided to raise our ability to effectively execute.

To the Mikron employees who are joining us: Welcome
to the Quanex team! We know you will enjoy being part of
a strong and growing company.

Mike Sebastian, a director since 1991, will not stand for
reelection in 2005 because of our governance age limit.
As a director and most recently chairman of our Nominating
and:Corporate’Governance Committee, Mike has been a
tremendous asset and a valued resource throughout his
14-year tenure. On behalf of the Board and the Company,
I thank him for his service and will miss his counsel.

OUTLOOK

We enter fiscal 2005 with considerable momentum. We do
not expect our key drivers to improve, but our business plan
does not depend on them to be successful. What we do
depend on is continued execution of the Quanex Game Plan.

With a solid balance sheet and great core businesses
to build on, we know we can continue to grow even in a
slower growth, volatile, global economy.

But make no mistake - a commitment to growth does
not imply a lessening of our commitment to productivity.
Growth and productivity are interdependent: as we grow
we become more productive and productivity creates new
growth opportunities.

It was true last year and even more so today when I say
...I’m excited about the future.

2 A e

Raymond A. Jean
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
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he Vehicular Products group provides engineered steel bars and value added steel and aluminum
components to Tier-one and Tier-two North American vehicular suppliers. These suppliers man-

ufacture engine, chassis and powertrain components and systems for the production of passenger
cars, light trucks and heavy-duty trucks. The Vehicular Products group, accounting for 55% of Quanex’s
sales, reported record financial results in fiscal 2004 as it further established itself as the premier supplier

of engineered steel bars and value added services. Operating income was up 40% from 2003 on a 98%
increase in sales. The group comprises MACSTEEL, NitroSteel, and Temroc Metals.

COO0OR0O0OV0EOCUCOOOVOQOOCOQCO00O00O0OLELODOOLOLOLIOOOVOOUDDOODOOOOCOCOROO00OC0O0CO00O0O00C0C0O00CO0O0OGCO

The Vehicular Products group is primarily driven
by North American light vehicle builds and heavy duty
truck production. The Company expects 2005 North
American light vehicle sales to be in line with 2004
sales of 16.8 million units. Industry data publisher
Wards Automotive, and others, are forecasting North
American sales increasing to 20 million units within
the next five years. Throughout the business cycle,
the Vehicular Products group outperforms its served
markets by offering steel bar products of the highest
quality while providing exceptional service and solu-
tions to their customers. Year over year growth has
been consistently above what their market drivers
would suggest. As evidence, North American light
vehicle build rates were relatively flat between 2000
and 2004, while our volumes shipped to the light vehicle
market (excluding MACSTEEL Monroe shipments) have
increased by a compounded annual growth rate (CAGR)
of some 5%. At the same time, the Vehicular Products
group continues to lower its operating costs through
aggressive lean manufacturing practices.

MACSTEEL® .
MACSTEEL, the segment'’s flagship operation, produces
highly engineered carbon- and alloy-steel bars for
demanding, safety critical vehicular applications, such
as wheel bearings, transmission gears, crankshafts and
camshafts. Shipments for 2004 were more than 1.2 mil-
lion tons, of which 60% were sold to the light vehicle
market and 10% to the heavy-duty truck market. The
majority of its remaining volume is sold to construction
and agricultural equipment, capital goods and service
center markets.

MACSTEEL has three steel bar-making facilities that
produce exceptional quality steel bars using low-cost,
environmentally friendly scrap-based processes. Each
heat lot is tailor made with state-of-the-art steelmaking
equipment, cast and rolled for customer-specific end
applications. Two of its mills possess North America’s
only direct-charge continuous cast process, which pro-

VEHICUL o

duces ready-to-ship, rolled steel bars from scrap in

less than five hours. This unique production capability
dramatically reduces energy costs and in-process inven-
tories, resulting in made-to-order bars that consistently
meet our customers’ toughest metallurgical specifica-
tions. MACSTEEL has carned an excellent reputation
for the cleanliness and overall reliability of its steel

bar products.

MACSTEEL's inherently efficient manufacturing
process has resulted in quality awards from numerous
customers and the opportunity to enter into strategic
alliances with other engineered steel bar manufacturers
around the world. MACSTEEL’s agreement with Sanyo
Special Steel provides for technology sharing related to
Japanese automotive steel applications and supports
MACSTEEL’s efforts to further penetrate and serve the
Japanese automotive companies and their component

2004 ANNUAL REPORT | QUANEX CORPORATION PAGE 7
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manufacturers in North America. One such area involves
the production of Sanyo’s patented “free cutting steels,”
which has improved machining characteristics while
eliminating the undesirable lead content in the steel.
Several trials have been successfully produced and are @
undergoing extensive testing by a major original equip-
ment manufacturer (OEM). Other improvements result-
ing from these alliances will support MACSTEEL's
growth in high-end automotive steels, particularly

for demanding bearing applications.

With a focus on increasing the content in each
vehicle built, MACSTEEL continues to fuel its growth
through incremental, market-targeted capacity additions.
The Quanex strategy emphasizes organic growth and the
Company has a long track record of funding MACSTEEL's
capacity expansions, as well as adding to their value
added capabilities. Specifically, Quanex has invested
$260 million in MACSTEEL during the past decade, which
has allowed it to become a world class producer of value
added engineered steel bars:

vznlcu,,“k
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The December 2003 purchase of the North Star Steel
Monroe facility, renamed MACSTEEL Monroe, gave
MACSTEEL an additional 70%, or 500,000 tons, of steel
bar capacity, bringing its total shipping capacity to
approximately 1.3 million tons annually.

The acquisition of the Monroe facility serves as an
excellent example of how to grow a core business, as
Monroe was fully integrated into MACSTEEL during
2004. Monroe not only increased MACSTEEL’s engi-
neered bar capacity but it also expanded the overall size
range, enabling them to better serve their customers.

Bar production is now being sourced among the three
MACSTEEL plants to keep each operating in its
“sweet spot” in order to maximize overall capacity.
This optimization is essential as robust demand has
kept production near capacity limits.

Both capital projects and an acquisition have allowed
MACSTEEL to grow from approximately 400,000 tons of
annual capacity to 1.3 million tons during the past decade,
while continuing to expand size range and value added
product offerings.

PAGE 8
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Many of MACSTEEL's capital projects have centered
on increasing its ability to provide higher quality bars
and services. Value added production accounted for
approximately 60% of MACSTEEL's total steel bar ship-
ments during 2004. Additional value added opportunities
exist, particularly at the newly acquired Monroe facility,
as MACSTEEL's customers continue to focus on their
core competencies and outsource their non-core opera-
tions. Some of the value added operations MACSTEEL
offers include turned and polished bars (MACPLUS],
cut-to-length bars [MACPRIME®), heat treated bars,
magnetic flux, and ultra-sonic tested bars. Typical
applications for these value added steel bars include
camshalfts, constant velocity joints, transmission gears
and rear axle gears for both domestic and foreign vehicles
manufactured in North America.

Currently, the New American Manufacturers, or
NAMs (Honda, Toyota, Nissan, etc.), command 36%
of the North American light vehicle market and are
increasingly sourcing more engine, chassis and power-
train components domestically. MACSTEEL continues
to increase shipments to this very important customer
base as opportunities continue to develop. Products made
from our steel bars are used in various NAM engine and
drive components. MACSTEEL is methodically working
to increase NAM vehicle content as foreign producers
continue to increase the domestic sourcing of their light
vehicle component needs.

Implementing lean manufacturing practices at
MACSTEEL continues to drive meaningful cost savings
and process improvements. Productivity gains were
made through first-pass yield improvements, energy
conservation, and set-up time reductions, thus helping
to offset rising raw material and energy costs in 2004.
Year-over-year man hours per ton decreased by 9%.
Inventories and total working capital were also substan-
tially reduced as a direct result of lean projects.

VEH'cu
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NITROSTEEL

Quanex’s NitroSteel business treats steel bars utilizing a
patented gas nitriding process that intensifies the surface
hardness of the bars making them more resistant to cor-
rosion and wear, compared to traditional chrome plating.
The Nitrotec process offers an environmentally friendly
alternative to chrome-plated bars. Nitrotec-treated bars
are primarily sold to the fluid power market and are

used in hydraulic applications serving the agricultural,
construction, mining, and marine equipment industries.
Sales and income at NitroSteel during fiscal 2004 doubled
over the same period last year as customers continue to
recognize the distinct advantages of the Nitrotec process.
Robust application of lean tools such as Kaizen and Six
Sigma, further improved productivity and significantly
reduced working capital. Additional growth opportunities
are expected as a result of applications that will benefit
from a new “bendable” product recently developed by
NitroSteel.

TEMROC METALS

Quanex’s Temroc Metals operation engineers, extrudes,
and custom-fabricates aluminum into various profiles
used primarily in the recreational vehicle markets.
Customers are replacing higher-cost aluminum castings
with Temroc’s stronger, more affordable extruded prod-
ucts. Temroc continues to differentiate itself from its
competition with innovative, value added solutions for
its customers. The business is aggressively pursuing
opportunities in the automotive and commercial con-
struction markets, which tend to be less seasonal than
its recreational vehicle business.

2004 ANNUAL REPORT | QUANEX CORPORATION PAGE 9
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erving the new housing and remodeling industries with value added window and door products

and components, Quanex’s Building Products group has earned a reputation as a preferred provider

among leading window and door manufacturers. The Building Products group, which represents
45% of Quanex’s sales, reported record fiscal 2004 results with operating income up 95% over 2003
on a 32% increase in sales. The Building Products group is comprised of Nichols Aluminum, a producer
of aluminum sheet, and Engineered Products, producers of window and door components. A noteworthy
characteristic of the group is the very close working partnerships it has established over time with
customers. These partnerships exist because of our excellent product development, manufacturing
engineering support, and “world class” delivery and logistics capabilities. In this very short cycle industry,
some customers may require deliveries to be made within a two hour time frame, something the

Building Products group provides on a routine basis.

OO0 Q20000 OeLRH00O00Q0 Q0 QO CCEO CCLPRIOOORVRLOPPTOECRILOCROUODODOR2QOROOO0LOQOQO0O0QCQCOQ

Key market drivers for the Building Products group time delivery. Consequently, for the third consecutive
are single and multi-family residential housing and year, the business was awarded “Supplier of the Year”
remodeling activity, while secondary markets include from a very prominent window customer.
light commercial construction and transportation. Responding to growing customer demand, a new
The outlook for the housing market remains very posi- facility, located in Hood River, Oregon, was opened
tive. The North American market is heavily influenced in early 2004. This operation produces spacer, muntin,
by the age and size of the population, family formation, stiffeners, and screen products. By locating within this
immigration and wage growth. Building activity also region, HOMESHIELD can better meet its customers’
increases from home remodeling projects and as aging product and logistic requirements. This business
homes undergo repair. The Building Products group model has been so successful that they expect to
has positioned itself as a premier provider of premium open additional facilities to effectively meet growing
window and door components with its HOMESHIELD, demand in other geographic regions.

TruSeal, Mikron and Nichols Aluminum product lines.
The group’s innovative engineering capabilities create
product differentiation that remains a source of its S \ONS
competitive advantage.

The Building Products group is pursuing a strategy
of profitable growth of its window and door components
business through internal product development and
geographic expansion, along with acquisition of comple-
mentary product lines and businesses. As the window
and door OEMs get bigger and more demanding of their
suppliers, Quanex is growing along with them and
gaining the strength necessary to meet their needs
now and in the future.

HOMESHIELD

HOMESHIELD, a key product line of the group,
provides window and door components as well as
integrated support services as part of its value proposi-
tion. HOMESHIELD utilizes innovative designs and
robust processes to produce window cladding, spacer
bar, stiffener, muntin, grilles, screens, thresholds,
astragals, and sills. They consistently outperform their
served markets by offering their customers design
expertise, innovative and quality products, and just-in-

2004 ANNUAL REPORT | QUANEX CORPORATION PAGE
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A significant portion of HOMESHIELD'’s growth
will continue to be the result of product enhancements
and new product development. By working closely with
customers early in the design phase of a new product
line, HOMESHIELD's engineers offer innovative, cost-
saving solutions. By introducing new products through
our recent acquisitions, and other complementary
products, HOMESHIELD capitalizes on opportunities
within their existing customer base.

HOMESHIELD also continues to make its processes
leaner and more efficient by optimizing production
and eliminating in-process inventory. In fiscal 2004,
HOMESHIELD completed 46 lean projects that resulted
in significant annual savings, mostly through labor and
materials cost savings.

0/~é

* TRUSEAL TECHNOLOGIES
A December 2003 addition to the Building
Products group was TruSeal Technologies
Inc., North America’s largest producer
of flexible, insulating glass spacer
systems. TruSeal produces a highly-
engineered window spacer product
that is used to separate two panes of
glass in a window sash and improve
thermal performance. Product
acceptance with its vinyl and
aluminum window cus-
tomers expands the reach
of the Building Products
group within the building
and construction markets.
TruSeal’s breakthrough
products have earned international
acclaim and, during 2004, the business
gained more than 30 new accounts and increased rev-
enues more than 12% over the prior year. Sales for one
such newly developed product, DuraSeal™, have grown
to approximately $26 million since its introduction in
November 2001. Using composite, laminating technolo-
gy, DuraSeal™ is TruSeal’s next generation flexible spac-
er system and also represents a technology platform for
future product development. In combination with
TruSeal’s other newly developed product, Insuledge®,
they represent an industry-leading product package cur-
rently being offered to international markets. Product
innovation remains closely aligned with the targeting of
future opportunities in Europe and continued growth in
Asian markets.

TruSeal has accelerated its lean manufacturing
activities under Quanex and is committed to defining,
controlling, and improving manufacturing and adminis-
trative processes in order to better serve customers.
The carly 2005 installation of new mixing equipment
will allow TruSeal to further reduce costs and inven-
tories, while increasing product options and
production capacity.

TruSeal received customer and industry awards
and recognition, both here and abroad, for its market-
leading, innovative process technologies. TruSeal’s
strong connections with vinyl and aluminum window
customers in the South, Southwest and West complement
Engineered Products long-held excellent reputation with
wood window customers in the Midwest, East and
Northeast. This offers tremendous opportunities for
leveraging segment relationships. Product and process
innovations, domestic and international expansion,
and lean manufacturing practices will bolster results
in the future and further demonstrate the potential
of this industry-leading supplier to the Building
Products group.

PAGE 12 OQUANEX CORPORATION | 2004 ANNUAL REPORT



NICHOLS ALUMINUM

Nichols Aluminum products within the Building
Products group include cold rolled aluminum sheet
coil and coated coil products sold into the building
and construction markets. Selling primarily to OEMs,
Nichols paints, slits, and packages its finished sheet
for building product customers making windows,
doors, soffit, siding, and other home and remodeling
applications.

Through a highly efficient, scrap based mini-mill
process that uses specialized blending, melting, and
continuous casting, Nichols produces high quality
aluminum sheet coil. Using recycled aluminum
scrap, Nichols casts up to 52” wide sheet which is
then shipped to one of its finishing facilities that
provide coating, paint, and other value added services.
Throughout these processes, lean tools are extensively
utilized to improve production and quality.

In 2004, Nichols completed many lean projects
to increase productivity throughout its processes.
These projects positioned Nichols to take advantage of
improving market conditions during 2004. For example,
Nichols added some 20 million pounds to its 2004
shipments through improved yields, quality, and
throughput. Nichols is dedicated to operational excel-
lence by achieving meaningful improvements in the
key metrics of safety, conversion cost per pound, total
yield improvement, and pounds produced per man-hour.
During 2004, lean efforts resulted in significant annual
savings. Nichols will continue to use lean manufactur-
ing techniques in 2005 and beyond in its quest to build
a sustainable competitive advantage in its market.

MIKRON

The newest addition to the Building Products group is
Mikron Industries, which complements the product lines
at both HOMESHIELD and TruSeal. Mikron operates highly
automated extrusion facilities in Kent, WA, Winnebago, IL,
and Richmond, KY. Mikron is an industry leader in the
production of vinyl profiles used by major window and
door OEMs, and has an excellent reputation for quality,
service and value. Additionally, Mikron is a major producer
of wood composites that are experiencing rapid growth
within the industry. The acquisition of Mikron further
extends Quanex’'s capabilities to serve the increasingly
concentrated window and door OEMs throughout North
America. It also allows the Building Products. group to
take advantage of cross-selling and other synergies now .
available to the growing family of product lines within the:
group. Mikron has a history of continuous improvement
which will be augmented by increasing the focus on lean .
manufacturing practices.

!
|
|
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

FISCAL YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31,

($ MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA) ‘ 2003’ ;L 2002

-Prior to three-for-two stock sp]-z*t

MNet income.{loss) .. ..

~Adjusted for three-for-twa sto

In the third quarter of 2004, the Company committed to a plan to sell its Piper impact business and in the fourth guarter of 2004, sold its Nichols Aluminum - Goiden business.
Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of Piper tmpact ang Nichots Aluminum - Golden are reported as discontinued operations in the Consofidated Balance Sheets for all periods
presented, and their operating resuits are reported as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of income for ail periads presented.
Beglinning in fiscal 20071, freight costs are no longer netted against sales; they are included in cost of sales. Prior year's net sales and sales ratios have been restated to conform to
this presentation.
Fiscal 2003 and 2002 include gains associated with retired executive life insurance proceeds of $2.2 mitlion and $9.0 million, respectively. This represents the excess of life insurance
proceeds over (a) the cash surrender value and (b} liabllities to beneficiaries of deceased executives, on whom the Company held life insurance policies. Also included in income
from continuing operations are gains on sale of land of $0.5 million and $0.4 million in fiscal 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Includes effects in fiscal 2000 of Piper impact's $56.3 million (pretax) asset impairment charge in accordance with SFAS No. 121 and the $14.3 million (pretax) loss on sale of Riper
Impact Europe, net of gain on refated range forward foreign currency agreement,
All periods have been adjusted for the December 2004 three-for-two stock split. Twelve Months Ended
October 31,

*Reconciliation of Free Cash Flow 2004 2003 2002
Cash Provided by Cperating Activities (GAAP) 124.2 102.8 a1

Less: Capital Expenditures (18.5) {25.4) (31.4)
Free Cash Flow (Non-GAAP) 47 774 T49; 316
The Company utilizes this non- GAAP financial measure to gauge its quarterly and annual performance considering its short-term investment in working capital and its long-term
investment in Plant, Property and Equipment (PP&E).
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NX The common stock of Quanex Corporation is listed on the

MACSTEEL® . . New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “NX”.
Mark Marcucci, President Heat Treat NYSE.

25 Commercial Road
Huntington, Indiana 46750
{260} 356-9520

MACSTEEL General Office
One Jackson Square, Suite 500
Jackson, Michigan 49201

(517} 782-0415

CORPORATE OFFICES
Quanex Corporation
1900 West Loop South
Suite 1500

Houston, Texas 77027

NitroSteel

: Lee Petzold
MACSTEEL Michigan General Manager — Operations
3100 Brooklyn Road 9955 80th Avenue

Jackson, Michigan 49203 Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin
{517) 764-0311 53158

(262) 947-0441

(713) 961-4600
Toll-free in the U.S. {800} 231-8176

MACSTEEL Arkansas inquiry@quanex.com

5225 Planters Road
Fort Smith, Arkansas 72916
(479} 646-0223

Temroc Metals, Inc.
Tom Ellis, President
4375 Willow Drive
Hamel, Minnesota 55340
(763) 478-6360

INTERNET ACCESS

Additional information about Quanex is located at the company’s
website at www.quanex.com. The site includes links to corporate
governance, SEC filings, company news releases and conference calls,
and current stock quotes. Visitors can register to automatically receive
news by e-mail as it is released, send e-mail directly to the corporate
offices, or link to the home pages of some of the Quanex operating
units {(www.macsteel.com, www.temroc.com, www.nicholsal.com,
www.amscol.com, www.impprod.com, www.home-shield.com,

MACSTEEL Monroe
3000 E. Front St.
Monroe, MI 48161
(734) 243-2446

www.colonialcraft.com, www.truseal.com and www.mikronvinyl.com).

BUILDING PRODUCTS ~
Michael Bayles, President

HOMESHIELD
Richmond

451 Industrial Parkway
Richmond, Indiana 47375
(765) 966-0322

ANNUAL SHAREHOLDER MEETING

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held at 8:00 a.m.
on Thursday, February 24, 2005, at Quanex corporate offices.
Shareholders are cordially invited to attend.

NICHOLS ALUMINUM -
Tom Brackmann, President

HOMESHIELD

Mounds View

2270 Woodale Drive

Mounds View, Minnesota 55112
{763) 231-4000

Nichols Aluminum
Davenport and General Office
1725 Rockingham Road
Davenport, Iowa 52802

(563) 324-2121

TRANSFER AGENT, SHAREHOLDER RECORDS AND
DIVIDEND DISBURSING AGENT '
Wells Fargo offers online access to holders of Quanex common stock

h i i .sh line. .
Nichols Aluminum Casting HOMESHIELD through its website at www.shareowneronline.com

2101 J.M. Morris Blvd. Luck

Davenport, lowa 52802
(563) 322-0118

Nichols Aluminum
Lincolnshire

200 Schelter Road
Lincolnshire, Ulinois 60069
{847) 634-3150

Nichols Aluminum
Alabama

2001 Highway 20 West
Decatur, Alabama 35601
(256) 353-1550

501 Main Street
Luck, Wisconsin 54853
(715} 472-2223

Mikron Industries, Inc.
Paul Warner, President

Mikron West

1034 Sixth Avenue N
Kent, WA 98032
(859) 623-2643

Mikron East
100 Micron Way

Contact Information:

Wells Fargo Bank N.A.
Shareowner Services

161 North Concord Exchange

South St. Paul, MN 55075-1139

Telephone: (800} 468-9716
Facsimilie: (651) 450-4085

www.wellsfargo.com/shareownerservices

Richmond, KY 40475
{253) 854-8020

DIRECT STOCK PURCHASE AND DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN
Quanex offers individuals the option to purchase stock directly

through a plan sponsored by the company’s transfer agent, Wells Fargo.
The Quanex Shareowner Service Plus Plan (SSPP) initial minimum
purchase requirement is $250. Subsequent purchases can be made at

a minimum of $50 per month. Plan features include online account
access, direct deposit of dividends, certificate safekeeping, and automatic
monthly investments from savings or checking accounts. For further
information contact Wells Fargo.

HOMESHIELD -

Jim Gulliford, President
Mikron Midwest .
501 N. Elide Street
Winnebago, IL 61088
(815} 3352372

HOMESHIELD
Chatsworth

7942 North 3350 East Rod
Chatsworth, Illinois 60921
(815] 535-3171 TruSeal Technologies, Inc.

August J. Coppola, President

HOMESHIELD

West Coast

910 Portway Avenue
Hood River, OR 97031
(541) 386-5618

HOMESHIELD

Rice Lake

311 West Coleman Street
Rice Lake, Wisconsin 54868
{715) 234-9061

TruSeal Technologies
23150 Commerce Park
Beachwood, OH 44122
(216) 910-1500

TruSeal Technologies
403 Treuhaft Blvd
Barbourville, KY 40906
(606} 546-7300

PAGE
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® UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT QF 1934
For the fiscal year ended October 31, 2004
or
D TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
Commission file number 1-5725
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Delaware 38-1872178
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
1900 West Loop South, Suite 1500, Houston, Texas 77027
(Address of principal executive offices) {(Zip code)
(713) 961-4600
. (Registrant's telephone number, including area code)
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, $.50 par value New York Stock Exchange, Inc.
Rights to Purchase Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock New York Stock Exchange, Inc.

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

NONE

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file
such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes X No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and
will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in
Part I1I of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes No O

The aggregate market value of the voting common equity held by non-affiliates as of April 30, 2004, computed by reference
to the closing price for the Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. on that date, was $664,151,147. Such calculation
assumes only the registrant's officers and directors were affiliates of the registrant.

At November 30, 2004, there were outstanding 16,621,222 shares of the registrant's Common Stock, $.50 par value.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Registrant's definitive Proxy Statement, to be filed with the Commission within 120 days of October 31,
004, for its Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on February 24, 2005, are incorporated herein by reference in Items 10, 11,
12, and 13 of Part III of this Annual Report.
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PART I

Item 1. Business
General

Quanex was organized in 1927 as a Michigan corporation under the name Michigan Seamless Tube
Company. The Company reincorporated in Delaware in 1968 under the same name and then changed its narme to
Quanex Corporation in 1977. The Company's executive offices are located at 1900 West Loop South, Suite 1500,
Houston, Texas 77027. References made to the “Company” or “Quanex” include Quanex Corporation and its
subsidiaries unless the context indicates otherwise.

The Company's businesses are managed on a decentralized basis. Each operating division has
administrative, operating and marketing functions. The Company measures each division's return on investment
and seeks to reward superior performance with incentive compensation, which is a significant portion of total
compensation for salaried employees. Intercompany sales are conducted on an arms-length basis. Operational
activities and policies are managed by corporate officers and key division executives. Also, a small corporate staff
provides corporate accounting, financial and treasury management, tax, legal and human resource services to the
operating divisions.

Quanex is a technological leader in the production of engineered carbon and alloy steel bars, aluminum
flat-rolled products, flexible insulating glass spacer systems, and precision-formed metal and wood products
which primarily serve the vehicular products and building products markets. The Company uses state-of-the-art
manufacturing technologies, low-cost production processes, and engineering and metallurgical expertise to
provide customers with specialized products for specific applications. Quanex believes these capabilities also
provide the Company with unique competitive advantages. The Company's growth strategy is focused on the
continued development of its two target markets, vehicular products and building products, and protecting,
nurturing and growing its core businesses that serve those markets.

Business Developments

In the Company’s Vehicular Products segment, rotary centrifugal continuous casters are used at two of
the plants (Fort Smith, Arkansas and Jackson, Michigan) with an in-line manufacturing process to produce
bearing grade quality, seam-free, engineered carbon and alloy steel bars that enable Quanex to participate in the
higher margin portions of the vehicular products market. Since 1990, the Company has invested approximately
$310 million to enhance its steel bar manufacturing and refining processes, to improve rolling and finishing
capability, and to expand shipping capacity to approximately 740,000 tons per year, 285,000 of which is value-
added MACPLUS capacity. Phases I through VII of the MACSTEEL expansions have been completed.

On December 31, 2003, the Company completed the acquisition of a mini-mill steel facility, renamed
MACSTEEL Monroe, that can produce 500,000 tons of special bar quality and engineered steel bars in diameters
from 0.5625 to 3.25 inches. The Monroe facility supports and benefits a core business and expands the range of high
quality engineered steel bar products available to the Company’s customers. MACSTEEL Monroe's production of
smaller diameter bars complements the Company’s existing 1.5 inch to 6 inch size range and expands the customer
base and product offerings.




The Phase VIII capital project was announced in September 2004. Phase VIII will increase the annual
capacity of the Ft. Smith, Arkansas facility by 40,000 tons, thereby increasing total engineered bar shipping
capacity to more than 1.3 million tons. In addition to an increase in capacity, the Phase VIII modernization will
improve production flow and further enhance quality. Specifically included in the project are upgrades to the
rotary continuous caster, direct rolling mill, and metallurgical refining areas.

On December 31, 2003, the Company completed the acquisition of TruSeal Technologies, Inc. (“TruSeal”),
a manufacturer of patented and trademarked flexible insulating glass spacer systems and sealants for vinyl,
aluminum, and wood windows. TruSeal has been integrated into the Engineered Products division within the
Building Products segment. The Company acquired TruSeal to further expand the broad range of high quality
components and products currently supplied to existing customers and to provide customer diversification. TruSeal
has a broad presence in the vinyl and aluminum window markets, whereas prior to the acquisition, the Company's
niche was primarily with the wood window original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”).

In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company announced its plan to restructure and sell the Piper Impact
division. Prior to the announcement, Piper Impact included two impact-extrusion facilities in New Albany,
Mississippi, dedicated to aluminum and steel impact-extruded products. As part of the plan, the production was
consolidated from the two facilities into a single location during the latter half of fiscal 2004. This was necessary
because of the decline in business with its major automotive and ordnance customers. Going forward, Piper will
concentrate on promising, high growth market opportunities; however, their market focus will no longer align with
Quanex’s strategic direction of serving the vehicular products and building products markets and therefore, we plan
to sell the division. The Company received a Letter of Interest from a potential buyer and is currently in the process
of negotiating a definitive agreement,

On September 30, 2004, the Company completed the sale of its Nichols Aluminum Golden operation located
in Fort Lupton, Colorado. Operations at the facility include scrap melting and casting aluminum into sheet, cold
rolling to specific gauge, annealing, leveling, custom coating and slitting to width. Nichols Aluminum Golden
manufactures high quality aluminum sheet from scrap, then finishes the sheet for specialized applications primarily
for food packaging markets. While the business was profitable, it did not fit with the long-term strategic direction of
Quanex. As evidenced by the planned sale of Piper Impact and the completed sale of Nichols Aluminum Golden, the
Company intends to focus on its core businesses.

On December 9, 2004, Quanex Corporation completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding stock,
through a subsidiary merger, of Mikron Industries, Inc. (“Mikron”), a privately-held Washington corporation.
Mikron, an industry-leading manufacturer of engineered vinyl and thermoplastic alloy composite
(MikronWood™) window components, window coverings and door components, serves the residential building
and remodeling markets. Headquartered in the Seattle suburb of Kent, WA, Mikron operates modern and highly
automated extrusion facilities located in the Kent area; Winnebago, IL; and Richmond, KY. Mikron’s 2004
revenues are approximately $215 million. Mikron will be integrated into the Company’s Building Products segment.

Manufacturing Processes, Markets, and Product Sales by Business Segment

Quanex has 20 manufacturing facilities in 11 states in the United States. These facilities feature efficient
plant design and flexible manufacturing processes, enabling the Company to produce a wide variety of custom
engineered products and materials for the vehicular products and building products markets. The Company is able
to maintain minimal levels of finished goods inventories at most locations because it typically manufactures
products upon order to customer specifications.

The majority of the Company’s products are sold into the vehicular products and building products
markets, with minimal sales to the industrial machinery and capital equipment markets.




For financial information regarding each of Quanex's business segments, see “Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ herein and Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. For net sales of the Company by major product lines see Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. For the years ended October 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, no one customer accounted for 10% or more
of the Company’s sales.

Vehicular Products Segment

The Vehicular Products segment includes engineered steel bar manufacturing, impact-extrusion
operations, steel bar and tube heat-treating services, steel bar and tube corrosion and wear resistant finishing
services, and aluminum extrusion and metal products fabricating.

The Company's engineered steel bar operations, which represent the majority of the segment’s sales and
operating income, include three plants, one located in Arkansas and two in Michigan, which in aggregate are
capable of shipping over 1.3 million tons of hot finished, precision engineered, carbon and alloy steel bars
annually. The Company believes that it has the only two plants in North America using continuous rotary
centrifugal casting technology. This casting process produces seam-free bars, without surface defects or
inclusions, thereby reducing the need for subsequent surface conditioning. The continuous casting and automated
in-line manufacturing operations at the plants substantially reduce labor and energy costs by eliminating the
intermittent steps that characterize manufacturing operations at most other steel mills.

The Company produces various grades of customized, engineered steel bars by melting steel scrap and
casting it through a rotary centrifugal continuous caster. Prior to casting, molten steel benefits from secondary
refining processes that include argon stirring, ladle injection, and vacuum arc degassing. These processes enable
the production of higher quality, “cleaner” steel. The Company believes that it is the lowest cost producer of
engineered carbon and alloy steel bars in North America. The Company believes that its energy costs are
significantly lower than those of its competitors because at the two plants that utilize continuous rotary centrifugal
casting technology, bars move directly from the caster to the rolling mill before cooling, reducing the need for

_ costly reheating. This highly automated manufacturing process enables the Company to produce finished steel

bars using less than two man-hours of labor per ton compared with an estimated industry average of four man-
hours per ton for U.S. integrated steel producers.

Products are custom manufactured primarily for customers within the vehicular product markets serving
the passenger car, light truck, sport utility vehicle, heavy truck, anti-friction bearing, off-road and farm equipment
industries. These customers use engineered steel bars in critical applications such as camshafts, crankshafts,
transmission gears, wheel spindles and hubs, bearing components, steering components, hydraulic mechanisms
and seamless tube production.

The Vehicular Products segment also includes three additional facilities. The first is a heat treating plant
in Indiana that uses custom designed, in-line equipment to provide tube and bar heat-treating and related services,
such as quench and temper, stress relieving, normalizing, “cut-to-length,” and metallurgical testing. This plant
primarily serves customers in the vehicular products and energy markets. The second, located in Wiscensin,
treats steel bars and tubes using the patented Nitrotec process to improve the metal’s corrosion and wear
resistance properties while providing a more environmentally friendly, non-toxic alternative to chrome plating.
This plant’s products are made for specific customer applications and are primarily used for fluid power
applications in the vehicular products markets. The third facility is an aluminum extrusion and metal fabrication
plant located in Minnesota, primarily serving the recreational vehicle market.




Building Products Segment

The Building Products segment is comprised of five fabricated metal components operations, two wood
fenestration operations, an aluminum sheet casting operation, three stand-alone aluminum finishing operations
and a flexible insulating glass spacer operation. The segment produces mill finished and coated aluminum sheet
and various engineered products for the building products markets. Products include flexible insulating glass
spacer, window and patio door screens, window outer frames, residential exterior products, custom wood window
grilles and accessories, and a broad line of custom designed, roll-formed aluminum components and stamped
aluminum shapes for manufacturers of windows for the home improvement, residential, and light commercial
construction markets. Additional products include rain carrying systems, soffit, exterior housing trim, roofing
products, exterior door thresholds, astragals, patio door systems, custom hardwood architectural moulding and
flooring and coated and/or painted aluminum sheet in many colors, sizes, and finishes. The operations combine
strong product design and development expertise with reliable just-in-time delivery.

The Company’s aluminum mini-mill uses an in-line casting process that can produce 350 million pounds
of reroll (hot-rolled aluminum sheet) annually. The mini-mill converts aluminum scrap to reroll through melting,
continuous casting, and in-line hot rolling processes. It also has shredding and blending capabilities, including
two rotary barrel furnaces and a dross recovery system that broaden its sources of raw material, allowing it to melt
cheaper grades of scrap, which improves raw material yields. Delacquering equipment improves the quality of the
raw material before it reaches the primary melt furnaces by buming off combustibles in the scrap. In addition,
scrap is blended using computerized processes to most economically achieve the desired molten aluminum alloy
composition.

The Company believes its production capabilities result in a significant manufacturing advantage and
savings from reduced raw material costs, optimized scrap utilization, reduced unit energy cost and lower labor
costs.

Raw Materials and Supplies

The Vehicular Products segment’s operations purchase their principal raw material, steel scrap or
substitutes such as pig iron, beach iron and hot briquetted iron, on the open market. Secondary raw materials,
including aluminum billet, bars and slugs, are also purchased on the open market and amounts vary based upon
market conditions. Collection and transportation of these raw materials to the Company’s plants can be adversely
affected by extreme weather conditions. Prices for the steel scrap also vary in relation to the general business
cycle and global demand.

The Building Products segment purchases a diverse range of raw materials. In terms of value, the
segment’s most significant raw material is aluminum scrap purchased on the open market, where availability and
delivery can be adversely affected by extreme weather conditions. Physical hedges are primarily used to hedge
against fluctuations in the price of aluminum scrap required to manufacture products for fixed-price sales
contracts. To a lesser extent, aluminum ingot futures contracts are bought and sold on the London Metal
Exchange to hedge aluminum scrap requirements.

Other key raw materials include coated and uncoated aluminum sheet, wood (both hardwood and
softwood), viny! and epoxy resin. Except for the aluminum sheet, the raw materials are available in most cases
from several suppliers at market prices. Aluminum sheet is transferred within the segment at prices based upon
arms-length negotiations.




Backlog

At October 31, 2004, Quanex's backlog of orders to be shipped in the next twelve months was
approximately $492 million, comprised of $421 million for the Vehicular Products segment and $71 million for
the Building Products segment. This compares to approximately $164 million at October 31, 2003, comprised of
$125 million for the Vehicular Products segment and $39 million for the Building Products segment. Excluding
MACSTEEL Monroe, the backlog increased $144 million due to an increase in overall volume coupled with
increased average prices realized during fiscal 2004. Because many of the markets in which Quanex operates have
short lead times, the Company does not believe that backlog figures are reliable indicators of annual sales volume
or operating results.

Competition

The Company's products are sold under highly competitive conditions. Quanex competes with a number
of companies, some of which have greater financial resources. Competitive factors include product quality, price,
delivery, and the ability to manufacture to customer specifications. The amounts of engineered steel bars,
aluminum mill sheet products, engineered products and impact extruded products manufactured by the Company
represent a small percentage of annual domestic production.

The Company’s Vehicular Products segment’s operations compete with several large integrated and non-
integrated steel producers. Although these producers may be larger and have greater resources than the Company,
Quanex believes that the technology used at the Company’s facilities permits it to compete effectively in the
markets it serves.

The operations of the Building Products segment compete with a range of small and midsize metal and
wood fabricators and wood moulding facilities in addition to small and large aluminum sheet manufacturers, some
of which are divisions or subsidiaries of major corporations with substantially greater resources than the
Company. The Company competes in coil-coated and mill finished products, primarily on the basis of the breadth
of product lines, the quality and responsiveness of its services, and price. Competition in the other portions of the
segment is primarily based on custom engineering, product development, quality, service and price. The
operations also compete with in-house operations of vertically integrated fenestration (door and window) OEMs.

Sales and Distribution

The Company has sales organizations with sales representatives in many parts of the United States.
Engineered steel bars are primarily sold to tier-one or tier-two suppliers through the Company’s direct sales
organization and a limited number of manufacturers’ representatives. The Building Products segment’s products
are sold primarily to OEMs, except for some residential building products, which are sold through distributors.

Seasonal Nature of Business

Sales for the Building Products segment’s products are seasonal. The primary markets for these products
are in the Northeast and-Midwest regions of the United States, where winter weather typically reduces
homebuilding and home improvement activity. This segment typically experiences its lowest sales during the
Company's first fiscal quarter. Profits tend to be lower in quarters with lower sales because a high percentage of
their manufacturing overhead and operating expense is due to labor and other costs that are generally semi-
variable throughout the year.

Sales for the other businesses are generally not seasonal. However, due to the number of holidays in the
Company's first fiscal quarter, sales have historically been lower in this period as some customers reduce
production schedules. As a result of reduced production days combined with the effects of seasonality, the
Company generally expects that, absent unusual activity, its lowest sales will occur in the first fiscal quarter.
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Service Marks, Trademarks, Trade Names, and Patents

The Company's Quanex, Quanex design, Seam-Free design, NitroSteel, MACGOLD, MACSTEEL,
MACSTEEL design, MACPLUS, Ultra-Bar, TruSeal Technologies, Swiggle, Duraseal, GridLoc, Insuledge,
Homeshield, Homeshield design, and “The Best Alloy & Specialty Bars” marks are registered trademarks or
service marks. The Company's Piper Impact name is used as a service mark, but is not yet registered in the United
States. The trade name Nichols-Homeshield and the Homeshield design trademarks are used in connection with
the sale of the Company's aluminum mill sheet products and residential building products. The Homeshield, Piper
Impact, Colonial Craft, MACSTEEL, TruSeal Technologies and Quanex word and design marks and associated
trade names are considered valuable in the conduct of the Company's business. The business conducted by the
Company generally does not depend upon patent protection. Although the Company holds numerous patents, in
some cases, the proprietary technology that the Company has developed for using the patents is more important
than the patents themselves.

Research and Development

Expenditures for research and development of new products or services during the last three years were
not significant. Although not technically defined as research and development, a significant amount of time, effort
and expense is devoted to (a) custom engineering which qualifies the Company's products for specific customer
applications and (b) developing superior, proprietary process technology.

Environmental Matters

Quanex is subject to extensive laws and regulations concerning the discharge of materials into the
environment and the remediation of chemical contamination. To satisfy such requirements, Quanex must make
capital and other expenditures on an ongoing basis. The cost of environmental matters has not had a material
adverse effect on Quanex’s operations or financial condition in the past, and management is not aware of any
existing conditions that it currently believes are likely to have a material adverse effect on Quanex’s operations,
financial condition, or cash flow.

Remediation

Under applicable state and federal laws, the Company may be responsible for, among other things, all or
part of the costs required to remove or remediate wastes or hazardous substances at locations Quanex has owned
or operated at any time. The Company is currently participating in environmental investigations or remediation at
several such locations.

From time to time, Quanex also has been alleged to be liable for all or part of the costs incurred to clean
up third-party sites where it is alleged to have arranged for disposal of hazardous substances. The Company
currently is involved at several such locations.

Total remediation reserves, at October 31, 2004, for Quanex’s current plants, former operating locations,
and disposal facilities were approximately $8.5 million. Of that, approximately $2.0 million represents
administrative costs; the balance represents estimated costs for investigation, studies, cleanup, and treatment. On
the balance sheet, $8.2 million of the remediation reserve is included in non-current liabilities with the remainder
in accrued liabilities (current). The Company currently expects to pay the accrued remediation reserve through at
least fiscal 2024.

The total remediation reserve at October 31, 2004 is approximately $8.3 million less than the balance as
at October 31, 2003. The difference is primarily attributable to the reduction during the third quarter of fiscal
2004 in the remediation reserve for the Piper Impact division from approximately $13.3 million to approximatety
$5.0 million. This reduction was based on the Company’s experience to date at the Piper Impact locations, the
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. Company’s decision to stop manufacturing at the Highway 15 location, and an updated technical assessment of
environmental conditions at the Piper Impact locations.

Approximately 60% of the total remediation reserve remains allocated to cleanup and other corrective
measures at the Piper Impact division. At present, the largest component is for remediation of groundwater
contamination from prior operators at the Highway 15 location. The Company voluntarily implemented a state-
approved remediation action plan there and continues to monitor its performance.

The final remediation costs and the timing of the expenditures at Piper Impact and other sites will depend
upon such factors as the nature and extent of contamination, the cleanup technologies employed, and regulatory
concurrences. While actual remediation costs therefore may be more or less than amounts accrued, and the timing
may be accelerated or delayed, management believes it has established adequate reserves for all probable and
reasonably estimable remediation liabilities.

Compliance

Quanex incurred expenses of approximately $3.4 million and capitalized an additional $2.4 million during
fiscal 2004 in order to comply with existing environmental regulations. This compares to $3.5 million of expense
and $1.7 million of capital incurred during fiscal 2003. For 2005, the Company estimates expenses at its facilities
will be approximately $2.9 million for continuing environmental compliance. In addition, the Company estimates
that capital expenditures for environmental compliance in fiscal 2005 will be approximately $2.7 million, which
includes amounts for upgrades related to the coating systems emission compliance standards at two of its Nichols
Aluminum facilities. Further expenditures relating to environmental matters will necessarily depend upon the
application to Quanex and its facilities of future regulations and government decisions. Quanex will continue to

. have expenditures in connection with environmental matters beyond 2005, but it is not possible at this time to
reasonably estimate the amount of those expenditures, except as discussed above.

Employees

The Company employed 3,421 persons at October 31, 2004 and approximately 3,430 persons at
December 15, 2004. Of the total employed, approximately 45% are covered by collective bargaining agreements.
None of such collective bargaining agreements expire in fiscal 2005. Following is a table of collective
bargaining agreements currently in place.

Covered
Employees
Facility Expires Union at 10/31/04
Nichols Aluminum — Alabama Nov. 2006  United Steelworkers of America 86
TruSeal Technologies Dec. 2006  United Steelworkers of America 224
United Automobile Workers
Temroc Metals Jan. 2007 International Union of America 87
International Brotherhood of
Nichols Aluminum-Davenport/Casting Nov. 2007  Teamsters 262
United Automobile Workers
MACSTEEL Monroe Dec. 2007  International Union of America 263
MACSTEEL Arkansas Jan. 2008 United Steelworkers of America 279
MACSTEEL Michigan Feb. 2008  United Steelworkers of America 225
‘ International Association of
Nichols Aluminum-Lincolnshire Jan. 2009  Machinists and Aerospace Workers 100




Financial Information about Foreign and Domestic Operations

For financial information on the Company’s foreign and domestic operations, see Note 12 of the
Financial Statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Website

The Company’s website is www.quanex.com. The Company’s required Securities Exchange Act filings
such as Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and
amendments to those reports are available free of charge through our website, as soon as reasonably practicable
after they have been filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) pursuant to
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (the “1934 Act”). Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed with
respect to equity securities under Section 16(a) of the 1934 Act are also available on the website. All of these
materials are located at the “Financial Information” link.

The Company’s website also includes the following corporate governance materials, at the link “Corporate
Governance:” the Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code of Business Conduct & Ethics, and charters of each
Board committee, including the Audit Committee, the Compensation and Management Committee, and the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. You may also obtain a printed copy of any of the materials
referenced above by contacting the Company through the website or at the following address: Quanex Corporation,
1900 West Loop South, Suite 1500, Houston, TX 77027.




: ’ Item 2. Properties

The following table lists Quanex’s principal properties together with their locations, general character and
the industry segment which uses the facility. Listed facilities are owned by the Company, unless indicated
otherwise. (See Item 1, “Business,” for discussion of the capacity of various facilities.)

Location o Principal Products

Vehicular Products Segment

Fort Smith, Arkansas ..., Engineered bar

Jackson, Michigan ...........cccooenenicrnnncnciniiencnee Engineered bar

Monroe, Michigan ...........cccoovirinieveiineeiicreene Engineered bar

Huntington, Indiana..........ccccoooeonieinnccicncieee. Engineered bar processing
Pleasant Prairie, WiSCONSIN.......cccocverveveruiiriiennrnnnns Engineered bar processing
Hamel, MInnesota...........cccoccvveveenieiricieeeiesee e Metal extrusions & fabrication

Building Products Segment

Lincolnshire, IIHNO0IS ...co.ooivveeeeeeeiii et Aluminum sheet

Davenport, Iowa.........cocoovieinnininiiiiieecncen e Aluminum sheet (two plants)

Rice Lake, WiSCONSIN ...cccoevvivnrcrenenienniinsieeeens Fenestration products

Chatsworth, IHnois.......ccoovveviierne i Fenestration products (two plants)

Hood River, Oregon........cccocvvvvievvvcrinneieeiiceenns Fenestration products

Richmond, Indiana............ccevvivivnvvecnne e, Fenestration products

Beachwood, Ohio......coovviviiiiiric i, Insulated flexible spacer research & sales
. Barbourville, Kentucky......c.oooovivviiiiininiinic, Insulated flexible spacer

Luck, WiSCONSIN ....oovveiriiiiinieciinree e Fenestration products

Mounds View, Minnesota..........occovcmevnreernienennn,s Fenestration products

Leased (expires 2008)
Decatur, Alabama .........cccoooeviiiieiiececre Aluminum sheet

Leased (leases expiring 2005 and 2018)

Discontinued Operations
New Albany, MisSiSSIPPI-...ccveererireererirerriinierereenns Impact extrusions (two facilities)

Executive Offices
Houston, TeXas .....c.ccvevevrrrirriniriireene oo eenseeeeens Corporate Office
Leased (expires 2010)

The Company considers that its properties are generally in good condition, are well maintained, and are
generally suitable and adequate to carry on the Company’s business. In 2004, the Company’s manufacturing
plants, taken as a whole, operated moderately below capacity.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The Company believes there are no new material legal proceedings to which Quanex, its subsidiaries, or
their property is subject. For a discussion of environmental issues, see Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

. Item 4. Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

None.




PART II .

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
Quanex’s common stock, $.50 par value, is traded on the New York Stock Exchange, under the ticker
symbol NX. The following tables present the quarterly common stock dividends and the high and low bids for the

Company’s common stock during each fiscal quarter within the two most recent fiscal years.

Quarterly Common Stock Dividends”

Quarter Ended 2004 2003
January.....cecovceevirennenne. $0.17 $0.17
APTile.cciiiee 0.17 0.17
JULY v 0.19 0.17
October......ccceeeeerrceeenne, 0.2025 0.17
Total.v oo $0.7325 $0.68

Quarterly Common Stock Sales Price (High & Low) ®

Quarter Ended 2004 2003
January ......cccoceveeericennnnn, $48.08 $37.55
38.82 29.12
April . 49.33 33.49
40.10 27.93 ‘
July oo, 49.79 33.49
39.66 28.59
October.....ccovvnieneeecr e, 54.38 40.60
40.30 29.94
* On December 2, 2004 the Board of Directors declared a three-for-two stock split in the form of a 50% stock dividend, payable on

December 31 to holders of record on December 17. The amounts above are presented without giving effect to such stock split.

The terms of Quanex’s revolving credit agreement do not specifically limit the total amount of dividends
or other distributions to its shareholders. However, the covenant to maintain a certain fixed charge coverage ratio
and the tangible net worth covenant indirectly impact the Company’s ability to pay dividends." As of October 31,
2004, the aggregate amount available for dividends under the credit facility was approximately $53.5 million.

There were 7,446 holders of Quanex common stock (excluding individual participants in securities
positions listings) on record as of November 30, 2004,

! Increasing the dividend impacts the fixed charge coverage ratio and tangible net worth and thus indirectly limits the amount of
dividends that could be declared and paid while still satisfying the covenants.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On December 5, 2002, the Board of Directors approved a program to purchase up to a total of 1 million
shares of its common stock in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions. During the year ended
October 31, 2003, the Company repurchased 438,600 shares, or 43.9% of the shares authorized to be purchased,
at a cost of approximately $13.5 million. On August 26, 2004, the Board of Directors authorized the Company to
reload its stock buyback program, increasing the existing authorization up to 1 million shares. The Company
purchased no shares in fiscal 2004.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes as of October 31, 2004, certain information regarding equity
compensation to our employees, officers, directors and other persons under our equity compensation plans.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities to Weighted-average future issuance under
be issued upon exercise exercise price of equity compensation plans
of outstanding options,  outstanding options, (excluding securities
Plan Categ)ry warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))
(a) (b) ©
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders ...........coooevennn, 636,419 $31 1,092,943
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders™......... 168,495 31 21,311
Total. .o 804,914 $31 1,114,254

(1) The Quanex Corporation 1997 Key Employee Stock Plan was approved by the Company’s Board of Directors in October 1997.
This plan provides for the granting of stock options to eligible persons employed by the Company who are not executive officers
of the Company. Under the plan, the total number of stock options which may be granted is 400,000 shares. Stock options may be
granted at not less than the fair market value (as defined in the plan) on the date the options are granted and generally become
exercisable over three years in one-third annual increments. The options expire ten years after the date of grant. The Board of
Directors may amend, terminate or suspend the plan at any time.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data
Glossary of Terms

The exact definitions of commonly used financial terms and ratios vary somewhat among different
companies and investment analysts. The following list gives the definition of certain financial terms that are used
in this report:

Asset turnover: Net sales divided by average total assets.

Current ratio; Current assets divided by current liabilities.

Return on common stockholders’ equity: Net income attributable to common stockholders divided by
average common stockholders’ equity.

Return on investment: The sum of net income and the after-tax effect of interest expense less capitalized
interest divided by the sum of the averages for short and long-term debt and stockholders’ equity.

Working Capital. Current assets less current liabilities.

11




Selected Financial Data 2000-2004

Fiscal Years Ended October 31,

2004 2003 2002 20019 20007
(thousands, except per share data)

Operating Results:
Net 5a1Es? . ovvnrrieee s $1,460,268 § 898,197 § 853,430 § 777,080 $§ 806,331
Operating income™............cccoovvimmverircenecirrnnees 99,411 65,635 80,450 53,523 75,474
Income from continuing operations“) ................. 57,599 44,003 53,744 26,880 39,020
Income (loss) from discontinued operations,

net 0F tax® ..ooooeeeee e, (3,132) (1,116) 1,738 2,314 (48,685)
Net income (10ss) P e $ 54467 $ 42887 § 55482 $ 29,194 $§  (9,665)

Percent of net sales......cc.ocoevvvrvivveennne. 3.7% 4.8% 6.5% 3.8% 1.2)%

Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share Data:
Income from continuing operations.................... $ 345 $ 2.69 $ 341 $ 192 $ 284
Net Income (0S8 c.ovierncnrircceireee e $ 326 $ 2.62 $ 3.52 $ 2.07 $ (0.70)
Financial Position—Year End:
Total 8SSetS...eccirircriecr e $ 929,522 § 683,114 $ 712,820 $ 730,979 $ 658,511
ASSEL tUITIOVET ..ot - 1.8 1.3 1.2 1.1 1.2
Working capital ......coeceevervecionionvnceinecrnnns 140,131 92,783 100,997 102,288 104,944
CUITENE TALIO v e et ce et et e e 1.8t0 1 1.7t0 1 1.7t01 1701 1.8t01
Total debt.....oocoiiiieiecie e e $ 130,952 § 19,770 $ 75,565 $220,028 $§ 191,913
Stockholders' equity....ocvveivveiviiiirece e 500,707 445,159 421,395 279,977 266,497
Total capitalization ...........ccoueeeviecvieimeinrcnniennns 631,659 464,929 496,960 500,005 458,410
Total debt as a percent of capitalization ............... 20.7% 4.3% 15.2% 44.0% 41.9%
Return on investment—percent .......co.oceevreveneenen. 10.6% 9.3% 12.8% 8.0% (0.2)%
Return on common stockholders’ equity—percent 11.5% 9.9% 15.8% 10.7% (3.4%
Cash provided by operating activities................... $ 124237 § 102,840 $ 81,111 $ 84950 § 77,870
Depreciation and amortization............c.cccecerreveen. 50,603 41,334 39,371 39,481 38,168
Capital expenditures ..........ccvveereerviierveeneeninnens 19,542 25,371 31,378 53,449 38,028
Other Data:
Average number of employees ...........cccoceeeirnn, 3,228 2,543 2,568 2,332 2,367
Net sales per emplOYee ........oovvveeieerieeerieenneinen. 8 452§ 353 $ 332 $ 333 % 341
Backlog for shipment in next 12 months............... $ 492,000 $ 164,000 $172,000 $123,000 $ 136,000

(1) 1In the third quarter of 2004, the Company committed to a plan to sell its Piper Impact business and in the fourth quarter of 2004,
sold its Nichols Aluminum — Golden business. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of Piper Impact and Nichols Aluminum —
Golden are reported as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for all periods presented, and their operating
results are reported as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Income for all periods presented (see Note 19)

(2) Beginning in fiscal 2001, freight costs are no longer netted against sales; they are included in cost of sales. Prior year's net sales

and sales ratios have been restated to conform to this presentation.

(3) Included in operating income are gains on sale of land of $0.5 million and $0.4 million in fiscal 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(4) Fiscal 2003 and 2002 include gains associated with retired executive life insurance proceeds of $2.1 million and $9.0 mitlion,
respectively. This represents the excess of life insurance proceeds over (a) the cash surrender value and (b) liabilities to
beneficiaries of deceased executives, on whom the Company held life insurance policies.

(5) Includes effects in fiscal 2000 of Piper Impact's $56.3 million (pretax) asset impairment charge in accordance with SFAS No. 121
and the $14.3 million (pretax) loss on sale of Piper Impact Europe, net of gain on related range forward foreign currency

agreement.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

General

The discussion and analysis of the Company's financial condition and results of operations should be read
in conjunction with the Selected Financial Data and the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and
the accompanying notes.

Private Securities Litigation Reform Act

Certain of the statements contained in this document and in documents incorporated by reference herein,
including those made under the caption “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and
Financial Condition” are “forward-looking” statements as defined under the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995. Generally, the words “expect,” “believe,” “intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “project,” “will” and
similar expressions identify forward-looking statements, which generally are not historical in nature. All
statements which address future operating performance, events or developments that we expect or anticipate will
occur in the future, including statements relating to volume, sales, operating income and earnings per share, and
statements expressing general optimism about future operating results, are forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ
materially from our Company's historical experience and our present projections or expectations. As and when
made, management believes that these forward-looking statements are reasonable. However, caution should be
taken not to place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements since such statements speak only as of
the date when made and there can be no assurance that such forward-looking statements will occur. The Company
undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.

EEIN13 % <&

Factors exist that could cause the Company's actual results to differ materially from the expected results
described in or underlying our Company's forward-looking statements. Such factors include domestic and
international economic activity, prevailing prices of steel and aluminum scrap and other raw material costs, the
rate of change in prices for steel and aluminum scrap, energy costs, interest rates, construction delays, market
conditions, particularly in the vehicular, home building and remodeling markets, any material changes in
purchases by the Company's principal customers, labor supply and relations, environmental regulations, changes
in estimates of costs for known environmental remediation projects and situations, world-wide political stability
and economic growth, the Company's successful implementation of its internal operating plans, acquisition
strategies and integration, performance issues with key customers, suppliers and subcontractors, and regulatory
changes and legal proceedings. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking statements
contained herein will occur or that objectives will be achieved. All written and verbal forward-looking statements
attributable to the Company or persons acting on its behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by such factors.
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Results of Operations

Summary Information as % of Sales

Fiscal Year Ended October 31,"”

2004 2003 2002
Dollar % of Dollar % of Dollar % of
Amount Sales Amount Sales Amount Sales
(Dollars in millions)
NEL SAIES o.vivivreieeece et $1,460.2 100% $ 8982 100%  $8534 100%
Cost 0f SaleS...iioveiiiciieiciie e 1,245.6 85 744.0 83 685.7 80
Selling, general and administrative. ............ 65.6 5 48.0 5 48.1 6
Depreciation and amortization..................... 50.1 3 41.0 5 39.1 5
Gain on sale of land..........ccocevviininnee 0.5 — 04 — — —
Operating iNCOME ......ccevvrrrierenieienecieneas 99.4 7 65.6 7% 80.5 9%
Interest eXpense ......cceevveeveeiveireveeneecee e (6.1) 0 (2.8) 0 (14.5) (D
Capitalized interest........ccocvvervienecne e, — 0 — 0 1.8 0
Retired executive life insurance benefit ...... — 0 2.2 0 9.0 1
Other, Net......coooieiiiiceceeeee e 0.3 0 2.7 0 1.9 0
Income tax eXpense .........ccceeeeeieeeenciieveeennne 36.0) (3 (23.7) 2) (25.0)  (3)
Income from continuing operations............. $ 576 4% § 440 5% § 537 6%
* All periods presented exclude Nichols Aluminum — Golden and Piper Impact which are included in discontinued
operations.

Overview

Net sales for the year ended October 31, 2004 were up 63% over a year ago. Included in the year over
year increases were $355.0 million for the year of net sales from the Company’s recent acquisitions of
MACSTEEL Monroe and TruSeal. Demand at the Vehicular Products and Building Products segments remained
strong throughout the year, and backlogs remained healthy at the end of the fiscal year.

Income from continuing operations for the year ended October 31, 2004 was up 31% over last year.
MACSTEEL Monroe’s and TruSeal’s combined earnings contributed $1.02 (after interest expense) to earnings per
share for the year (10 months results). Also included in the results were LIFO charges of $20.4 million or $0.75 per
diluted share for the year. This compares to a LIFO charge of $6.1 million, or $0.24 per diluted share, for last year.

Business Segments

Business segments are reported in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 131. SFAS No. 131 requires that the Company disclose certain information about its operating
segments where operating segments are defined as “components of an enterprise about which separate financial
information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to
allocate resources and in assessing performance.” Generally, financial information is required to be reported on
the basis that it is used internally for evaluating segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources to
segments.
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Quanex has two market-focused segments: Vehicular Products and Building Products. The Vehicular
Products segment produces engineered steel products and extruded products for the light vehicle, heavy duty
truck, agricultural, military, recreational and energy markets. The Vehicular Products segment’s main market
drivers are North American light vehicle builds and, to a lesser extent, heavy duty truck builds. The Building
Products segment produces engineered products and aluminum sheet for window and door components used by
the residential building and remodeling markets. The main market drivers of this segment are residential housing
starts and remodeling expenditures.

Vehicular Products — Three Years Ended October 31, 2004
The following table sets forth selected operating data for the Vehicular Products segment:

Years Ended October 31,% % Change
(Dollars in millions)

2004 vs. 2003 vs.

2004 2003 2002 2003 2002
Net SAlES c..ovveiiiiieieer e, $821.0 $4186 $3945 96.1% 6.1%
Cost 0 SAlES .uvvveiiiiciie e, 697.0 327.6 301.1 112.8 8.8
Selling, general and administrative ..... 18.0 11.8 12.6 52.5 (6.4)
Depreciation and amortization ............ 31.6 25.9 24.0 22.0 7.9
Operating inCOmMe .........oovvverieeviecerernnen. $ 744 § 533 § 56.8 39.6%  (6.2)%
Operating income margin...........cocoveveens 9.1% 12.7% 14.4%

(D Fiscal 2004 includes MACSTEEL Monroe’s operations as of January 1, 2004.

2) All periods presented exclude Piper Impact which is included in discontinued operations.

North American light vehicle builds were down about 2% during the fiscal fourth quarter compared to the
same period last year. Demand from the Company’s heavy duty truck customers was very strong again this quarter,
with overall builds up approximately 38% over the fiscal fourth quarter last year, For the quarter ended October 31,
2004, the Company’s engineered steel bar operations ran at utilization rates near capacity. Fourth quarter and fiscal
year operating income for the segment benefited from new customer programs, conversion cost improvements and
the December 31, 2003 acquisition of MACSTEEL Monroe.

Excluding the impact of MACSTEEL Monroe, net sales for fiscal 2004 were higher than fiscal 2003 by
30.5% due to an 8.2% increase in volume, combined with increased average prices of approximately 20.6% in the
form of scrap surcharges. Net sales for the segment increased from fiscal 2002 to fiscal 2003 due to a 2.2% increase
in volume and a 3.8% increase in average prices. Strong demand in the segment has persisted over the past several
years. The strong demand, coupled with the Company’s ability to consistently improve productivity, have been the
largest factors in the steady volume growth. The average price increases realized over the last three years are

_ primarily the result of two items. First, the Company is focused on increasing sales of the segment’s value-added

MACPLUS products. This contributed to the increases from fiscal 2002 to 2003 and part of the increase from fiscal
2003 to 2004. The largest contributing factor for the increase from fiscal 2003 to 2004 is the overall price increases
from higher steel scrap surcharges. Steel scrap prices increased dramatically over the latter half of calendar 2003 and
all of fiscal 2004. As a result of the increases, surcharges came into effect beginning on January 1, 2004 and have
been adjusted quarterly (see further discussion of surcharge lag in “Commodity Price Risk” of Item 7A).

15




Excluding the impact of MACSTEEL Monroe, operating income for fiscal 2004 increased 7.0% above fiscal
2003. The sales volume and average sales price increases experienced during fiscal 2004 were able to more than
offset the increased costs. Cost of sales increased 37.5% coupled with a 3.8% and 2.5% increase in selling, general
and administrative expenses and depreciation and amortization, respectively, all exclusive of the acquisition. The
increase in the cost of sales was due primarily to the continued run-up of raw material costs experienced within the
segment. Raw material increases are also the principal factor for the reduced operating income in fiscal 2003
compared to 2002. The Company was able to absorb more of the increase in fiscal 2004 than in 2003 because during
fiscal 2003 raw materials increased, but did not exceed the minimum threshold that triggers the surcharges. The

surcharges did not become significant until January 1, 2004, and thus there was no real offset to higher raw material
prices in the early stages of the mun-up.

The reduction of the operating income margin over the past three years is directly attributable to the raw
material increases experienced over the past several years. As raw material prices rise, the Company experiences
short term compression of the operating margin since the surcharges are adjusted on a quarterly basis based upon raw
material indexes from the previous three months. As raw material prices level off, the Company would expect the
Vehicular Products segment’s operating income margin to improve initially. Declines in raw material costs will
increase the margin in the short term as the surcharges lag behind.

Building Products — Three Years Ended October 31, 2004

The following table sets forth selected operating data for the Building Products segment:

Years Ended October 31,? % Change
(Dollars in millions)

2004 vs. 2003 vs.

2004" 2003 2002 20030 2002
Net SalES ovvieeiviiireciericteecnee e eve e $642.5 $4853 $466.6 32.4% 4.0%
Cost 0f sales ...coovveeiiieieiiieeiee 530.6 416.0 393.8 27.6 5.6
Selling, general and administrative ..... 30.5 222 223 37.4 —
Depreciation and amortization ............ 18.2 14.7 14.5 23.8 1.4
Operating income ..........coeeevvvrerrerererinnnns $ 63.2 $ 324 § 36.0 95.1%  (10.0)%
Operating income margifl............ccoce.ve... 9.8% 6.7% 7.7%

1) Fiscal 2004 includes TruSeal’s operations as of January 1, 2004.

2) All periods presented exclude Nichols Aluminum - Golden which is included in discontinued operations.

Housing starts and remodeling activity during the Company’s fourth quarter were strong as demand at the
window and door components businesses remained brisk. The Company’s aluminum sheet business had an
exceptionally robust fourth quarter. While sales to the Company’s traditional building and construction customers
remained excellent, sales to capital equipment, service center, and transportation customers were improved over last
year. A more favorable industry supply/demand equation bolstered the Company’s spread.

Excluding the impact of TruSeal, net sales for fiscal 2004 were higher than 2003 by 15.9%. The increase in
net sales was a result of the increased volumes across the entire segment combined with an 11.7% increase in
aluminum sheet prices. The increase in net sales from fiscal 2002 to 2003 is related to the February 2002 acquisition
of COLONIAL CRAFT. Excluding the three additional months of net sales from COLONIAL CRAFT in fiscal
2003, net sales actually declined slightly from fiscal 2002 due to the decision to exit low margin product lines. The
volume increase in fiscal 2004 was driven by strong demand in the building products market and new programs with

fenestration customers. The increase in aluminum sheet prices is a result of reduced industry capacity that put
upward pressure on pricing.
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Excluding the impact of TruSeal, operating income for fiscal 2004 increased 47.2% above fiscal 2003. The
increase is a result of expenses growing to a lesser extent than net sales. Net sales for fiscal 2004 increased 15.9%
over fiscal 2003, while cost of sales increased by only 15.3%. This, coupled with increased volumes, led to strong
growth in operating income for the year. The reduction of operating income from fiscal 2002 to fiscal 2003 is a
direct reflection of the higher prices paid for aluminum scrap, energy and outside processing combined with some
production and quality problems encountered at one of the facilities in the Building Products segment.

The operating income margin declined from fiscal 2002 to fiscal 2003 as a result of the higher prices of raw
materials discussed previously as well as the production and quality issues. By the start of fiscal 2004, the
production and quality problems had been corrected and demand increased such that the upward price pressure
realized in the market was able to stay ahead of the increasing raw material costs. The associated margin expansion
realized during fiscal 2004 coupled with the volume increases resulted in further expansion of the operating income
margin, The acquisition of TruSeal during fiscal 2004 contributed slightly to the increased margin realized in 2004.

Corporate and Other — Three Years Ended October 31, 2004

Years Ended October 31, $ Change
(Dollars in millions)

2004 vs. 2003 vs.

2004 2003 2002 2003 2002
Cost 0f SalES ...vvvevrieriirer e, $212 § 60 § (14 $ 152 § 74
Selling, general and administrative ..... 17.1 i4.1 13.2 3.0 0.9
Depreciation and amortization ............ 0.3 04 0.5 (0.1) (0.1)
Gain on sale of land.......coooeceevereveennnn, (0.5 (0.4) — (0.1) (0.4)
Operating income (exXpense) ................... $(38.1) $(20.1) $(123) $18.0) § (7.8

Corporate and other operating expenses, not included in the two operating segments mentioned above,
include the consolidated LIFO inventory adjustments (calculated on a combined pool basis), corporate office
expenses and inter-segment eliminations. The increase in raw material costs experienced during fiscal 2003 and
2004 resulted in increased expense each year associated with increasing the LIFO inventory reserve. For the years
ended October 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the amount of LIFO inventory adjustment expensed was $20.4 million, $6.1
million and $2.4 million, respectively. Changes associated with the LIFO inventory adjustment tend to comprise a
majority of the change from year to year in corporate and other expenses. During fiscal 2004, corporate and other
expenses increased as a result of increased professional services related to the implementation of various procedures
arising from the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 beginning in fiscal 2003.

Interest expense for fiscal 2004 was $6.1 million compared to $2.8 million from fiscal 2003 and
$14.5 million in fiscal 2002. The increase from 2003 to 2004 is a result of an increase in the average debt
outstanding for the comparative period that is primarily attributable to the acquisitions that were completed in the
first quarter of fiscal 2004.

Other, net (on the income statement) for fiscal 2004 was income of $0.3 million compared to
income of $2.7 million in fiscal 2003 and $1.9 million in fiscal 2002. The change from 2003 to 2004 is related to
$1.7 million less of income associated with the cash surrender value of life insurance, net of the change in the
liability for supplemental retirement, combined with $0.5 million of additional expenses recognized in fiscal 2004 for
deferred compensation as a direct result of the increase in the Company’s stock price.
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Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes for fiscal 2004 was a loss of $3.1 million compared
to a loss of $1.1 million for fiscal 2003 and income of $1.7 million for fiscal 2002. The increased loss from fiscal
2003 to fiscal 2004 is related to the $0.6 million loss on sale of Nichols Aluminum - Golden combined with the net
$3.5 million write down of Piper Impact. The decrease from 2002 to 2003 is primarily related to the erosion of
demand for Piper Impact’s airbag components. See Note 19 for further information regarding the composition of
discontinued operations.

Outlook

Overall, customer demand in the Company’s two target markets, vehicular products and building products, is
expected to remain strong in 2003,

Vehicular Products segment — 2005 North American light vehicle builds are expected to be approximately
16 million builds, essentially flat to 2004. Heavy-duty truck builds for 2005 are expected to be up significantly over
2004 levels while secondary markets are also expected to remain at high levels.

Building Products segment — Key market drivers are expected to remain healthy in 2005. Housing starts are
expected to be off approximately 5% from 2004’s record levels, while remodeling activity is expected to remain very
strong.

Quanex expects to post improved results in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. This expectation is based
on an improving economy, market share gains at both operating segments and the earnings benefit from the
acquisitions of MACSTEEL Monroe and TruSeal. The earnings outlook for the first quarter remains favorable. The
Company expects first quarter diluted earnings per share from continuing operations to be in the range of $1.00 to
$1.15, up from the $0.40 reported in the first quarter of 2004. Quanex cautions that the combination of short cycle
businesses and volatile raw material input costs makes forecasting problematic.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Funds

The Company's principal sources of funds are cash on hand, cash flow from operations, and borrowings
under its secured $310.0 million Revolving Credit Agreement (“Bank Agreement”). At October 31, 2004, the
Company had no borrowings under the Bank Agreement. This represents a $10.0 million decrease from October
31, 2003 borrowing levels. During the first quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company’s borrowings under the Bank
Agreement increased $210.0 million in order to fund the acquisitions of MACSTEEL Monroe and TruSeal.
During the third quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company issued $125.0 million of 2.50% Convertible Senior
Debentures due May 15, 2034 (the “Debentures™). The Company used approximately $122.0 million of proceeds
from the issuance of the Debentures to repay a portion of what was then outstanding under the Bank Agreement.
The Company repaid the remainder of the outstanding balance throughout fiscal 2004 using cash flow from
operations.

The Company believes that it has sufficient funds and adequate financial sources available to meet its
anticipated liquidity needs. The Company also believes that cash flow from operations, cash balances and
available borrowings will be sufficient for the foreseeable future to finance anticipated working capital
requirements, capital expenditures, debt service requirements, environmental expenditures, dividends and the
stock purchase program.
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The Company’s working capital was $140.1 million at October 31, 2004 compared to $92.8 million at
October 31, 2003. $28.2 million of the $47.3 million total increase in working capital is associated with the non-
recurring transactions that occurred during fiscal 2004 (a $42.0 million increase related to the MACSTEEL
Monroe and TruSeal acquisitions offset by a $13.8 million decrease from the Nichols Aluminum — Golden
divestiture). Excluding the impact of the above referenced transactions, working capital increased $19.1 million,
primarily a result of the $19.5 million increase in cash and equivalents.

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities during the year ended October 31, 2004 was $124.2 million
compared to $102.8 million and $81.1 million for 2003 and 2002, respectively. The increase from fiscal 2002 to
fiscal 2003 was the result of lower working capital requirements, whereas the increase from fiscal 2003 to fiscal
2004 is primarily attributable to the $13.6 million increase in income from continuing operations. Accounts
receivable, inventory and accounts payable were impacted significantly by the increase in raw material prices
experienced throughout fiscal 2003 and 2004. While the run-up in raw material costs increased inventory prices,
the Company was successful in reducing overall inventory volumes, which helped to keep total working capital in
line with the previous year.

Investment Activities

Net cash used for investment activities during the year ended October 31, 2004 was $213.1 million
compared to $22.5 million and $29.8 million for fiscal 2003 and 2002, respectively. Investment activities for the
year ended October 31, 2004 included the acquisition of MACSTEEL Monroe for $102.1 million and TruSeal for
$112.5 million. The cost of the acquisitions was partially offset by the $22.3 million received from the sale of
Nichols Aluminum — Golden. The Company expects to receive proceeds from the sale of Piper Impact in fiscal
2005 (see Note 19 for further explanation).

Capital expenditures have decreased steadily over the last three years from $31.4 million in fiscal 2002 to
$25.4 million in fiscal 2003 to $19.5 million in fiscal 2004. In light of the announcement in September 2004 of
the $20.0 million Phase VIII expansion at the MACSTEEL Arkansas facility, the Company expects 2005 capital
expenditures to increase to approximately $55.0 million. At October 31, 2004, the Company had commitments of
approximately $5.2 million for the purchase or construction of capital assets. The Company plans to fund these
capital expenditures through cash flow from operations.

The final contributing factor to the increased use of cash from investing activities is the proceeds received
from Company owned life insurance policies and property sales. In 2003, proceeds from such items totaled $9.3
million, which is $8.6 million more than was received during fiscal 2004.

Financing Activities

Cash from financing activities for the year ended October 31, 2004 was a source of cash of $108.5 million
compared to uses of cash in both 2003 and 2002 of $76.5 million and $62.6 million, respectively. The most
significant contributing factor to the increase is the $210.0 million of borrowings that occurred in the first guarter
of 2004 that were used to fund the MACSTEEL Monroe and TruSeal acquisitions. During the third quarter of
fiscal 2004, the Company used approximately $122.0 million of proceeds from the issuance of the Debentures to
repay a portion of what was then outstanding under the Bank Agreement. It is important to note that apart from
the reduction through the Debenture offering, the Company repaid approximately $98.0 million of the Bank
Agreement during 2004 compared to $55.0 million and $82.0 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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On August 26, 2004, the board of directors of the Company increased the quarterly dividend from $0.17 ‘
to $0.19 per common share outstanding. This increase was effective with the Company’s third quarter dividend
paid on September 30, 2004. While the impact of the dividend change resulted in an increase of roughly $0.6
million in dividends paid, this increase was more than offset by the $6.5 million increase in proceeds received
from stock issuances related to the exercise of stock options. Total amounts paid for dividends will increase in
fiscal 2005 since there was only a single dividend distribution in fiscal 2004 following the increase in the
quarterly dividend.

Debt Structure and Activity

Refer to Note 10 “Long-Term Debt and Financing Arrangements” for a discussion of the Company’s debt
structure.

Stock Purchase Program

Refer to Note 14 “Stock Repurchase Program and Treasury Stock” for a discussion of the Company’s
stock purchase program.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
The following tables set forth certain information concerning the Company's unconditional obligations

and commitments to make future payments under contracts with remaining terms in excess of one year, such as
debt and lease agreements, and under contingent commitments.

Payments Due by Period ’
Less than 1-3 4-5 More Than
Contractual Cash Obligations Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
(In thousands)
Long-Term Debt.......cccovvvrevrierenrirereiereeenn, $130,952 $§ 456 § %4 $ 934 $128,598
Operating Leases .........cocevvevieeineniciicenenn 8,360 3,061 3,431 1,593 275
Unconditional Purchase Obligations................ 50,206 35,482 13,950 774 —
Total Contractual Cash Obligations ................ $189,518 $ 38,999 § 18,345 § 3,301 $128,873

The long-term debt is primarily comprised of the $125.0 million of Debentures due in 2034. Operating
leases cover a range of items from facilities, fork trucks and cars to fax machines and other miscellaneous
equipment. The unconditional purchase obligations are made up of $14.8 million of natural gas contracts and
$35.2 million of aluminum scrap contracts. d

Amount of Commitment Expiration per Period

Total
Amounts Less than 1-3 4-5 More Than
Other Commercial Commitments Committed 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
(In thousands)
Standby Letters of Credit..............cccooeevvrnrnnnn. § 6444 § 6444 $ — 3 — $ —
GUATANLIEES ..ot eaee e e e earae e 1,000 — — — 1,000
Total Commercial Commitments .................... § 7444 § 6444 § — — § 1,000 ‘
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, as such term is defined in the rules
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission, that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or
future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of
operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that are material to investors

Effects of Inflation
Inflation has not had a significant effect on earnings and other financial statement items.
Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying footnotes. Estimates and
assumptions about future events and their effects cannot be perceived with certainty. Estimates may change as
new events occur, as more experience is acquired, as additional information becomes available and as the
Company's operating environment changes. Actual results could differ from estimates.

The Company believes the following are the most critical accounting policies used in the preparation of
the Company's consolidated financial statements as well as the significant judgments and uncertainties affecting
the application of these policies.

Revenue Recognition and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company recognizes revenue when the products are shipped and the title and risk of ownership pass
to the customer. Selling prices are fixed based on purchase orders or contractual agreements. Inherent in the
Company's revenue recognition policy is the determination of collectibility. This requires management to make
frequent judgments and estimates in order to determine the appropriate amount of allowance needed for doubtful
accounts. The Company's allowance for doubtful accounts is estimated to cover the risk of loss related to accounts
receivable. This allowance is maintained at a level the Company considers appropriate based on historical and
other factors that affect collectibility. These factors include historical trends of write-offs, recoveries and credit
losses, the careful monitoring of portfolio credit quality, and projected economic and market conditions. Different
assumptions or changes in economic circumstances could result in changes to the allowance.

Inventory

The Company records inventory valued at the lower of cost or market value. Inventory quantities are
regularly reviewed and provisions for excess or obsolete inventory are recorded primarily based on the
Company's forecast of future demand and market conditions. Significant unanticipated changes to the Company's
forecasts could require a change in the provision for excess or obsolete inventory.
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Environmental Contingencies

Quanex is subject to extensive laws and regulations concerning the discharge of materials into the
environment and the remediation of chemical contamination. To satisfy such requirements, Quanex must make
capital and other expenditures on an ongoing basis. The Company accrues its best estimates of its remediation
obligations and adjusts such accruals as further information and circumstances develop. Those estimates may change
substantially depending on information about the nature and extent of contamination, appropriate remediation
technologies, and regulatory approvals. Costs of future expenditures for environmental remediation are not
discounted to their present value, unless the amount and timing of the expenditures are fixed or reliably
determinable. When environmental laws might be deemed to impose joint and several liability for the costs of
responding to contamination, the Company accrues its allocable share of liability taking into account the number of
parties participating, their ability to pay their shares, the volumes and nature of the wastes involved, the nature of
anticipated response actions, and the nature of the Company’s alleged connections. Unanticipated changes of future
assessments and/or regulatory laws could result in expenses being incurred in future periods in addition to an
increase in actual cash required to remediate the contamination.

Long-Lived Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment

The Company makes judgments and estimates in conjunction with the carrying value of property, plant
and equipment, other intangibles, and other assets, including amounts to be capitalized, depreciation and
amortization methods and useful lives. Additionally, carrying values of these assets are periodically reviewed for
impairment and further reviewed whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that carrying value may
be impaired. The carrying values are compared with the fair value of such assets calculated based on the
anticipated future cash flows related to those assets. If the carrying value of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair
value, an impairment charge is recorded in the period in which such review is performed. This requires the
Company to make long-term forecasts of its future revenues and costs related to the assets subject to review.
Forecasts require assumptions about demand for the Company's products and future market conditions. Future
events and unanticipated changes to assumptions could require a provision for impairment in a future period.

Goodwill

The purchase method of accounting for business combinations requires the Company to make use of
estimates and judgments to allocate the purchase price paid for acquisitions to the fair value of the net tangible
and identifiable intangible assets. The Company performs a goodwill impairment test annually as of August 31.
In addition, goodwill would be tested more frequently if changes in circumstances or the occurrence of events
indicates that a potential impairment exists. The impairment test requires the Company to compare the fair value
of business reporting units to carrying value including assigned goodwill. The Company primarily uses the
present value of future cash flows to determine fair value and validates the result against the cost and market
approaches. Future cash flows are typically based upon a five-year future period for the businesses and an
estimated residual value. Management judgment is required in the estimation of future operating results and to
determine the appropriate residual values. The residual values are determined from comparable industry
transactions. Future operating results and residual values could reasonably differ from the estimates and could
require a provision for impairment in a future period.
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Income Taxes

The Company records the estimated future tax effects of temporary differences between the tax basis of
assets and liabilities and the amounts reported in the Company's consolidated balance sheet, as well as operating
loss and tax credit carry forwards. The carrying value of the net deferred tax liability reflects the Company's
assumption that the Company will be able to generate sufficient future taxable income in certain jurisdictions to
realize its deferred tax assets. If the estimates and assumptions change in the future, the Company may be required
to record a valuation allowance against a portion of its deferred tax assets. This could result in additional income
tax expense in a future period in the consolidated statement of income.

Insurance

The Company manages its costs for portions of workers' compensation, group medical, general liability
and vehicle liability exposure through a combination of retentions and insurance coverage. The amounts in excess
of the retention levels are fully insured by third party insurers. Liabilities associated with the Company’s portion
of these exposures are estimated in part by considering historical claims experience, severity factors and other
assumptions. Projections of future loss expenses are inherently uncertain because of the random nature of
insurance claims occurrences and could be significantly affected if future occurrences and claims differ from these
assumptions and historical trends.

Retirement and Pension Plans

The Company sponsors a number of defined benefit pension plans and an unfunded postretirement plan
that provides health care and life insurance benefits for eligible retirees and dependents. The measurement of
liabilities related to these plans is based on management's assumptions related to future events, including expected
return on plan assets, rate of compensation increases and health care cost trend rates. The discount rate, which is
determined using a model that matches corporate bond securities, is applied against the projected pension and
postretirement disbursements. Actual pension plan asset investment performance will either reduce or increase
unamortized pension losses at the end of any fiscal year, which ultimately affects future pension costs.

Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,”
the Company presents the results of operations, financial position and cash flows of operations that have either
been sold or that meet the criteria for “held for sale accounting” as discontinued operations. At the time an
operation qualifies for held for sale accounting, the operation is evaluated to determine whether or not the
carrying value exceeds its fair value less cost to sell. Any loss as a result of carrying value in excess of fair value
less cost to sell is recorded in the period the operation meets held for sale accounting. Management judgment is
required to (1) assess the criteria required to meet held for sale accounting, and (2) estimate fair value. Changes
to the operation could cause it to no longer qualify for held for sale accounting and changes to fair value could
result in an increase or decrease to previously recognized losses.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2003, the FASB issued the revised SFAS No. 132, “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions
and Other Postretirement Benefits.” The revised SFAS No. 132 retains the disclosures required by the original
issuance of SFAS No. 132 and requires additional annual disclosures describing the types of plan assets,
investment strategy, measurement date, plan obligations, and cash flows. The Company included the revised
SFAS No. 132 annual disclosures in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending October 31,
2004. The revised SFAS No. 132 also requires additional interim period disclosures, including the components of
net periodic benefit cost and changes in planned contributions. The Company included the required disclosures in
the notes to the interim financial statements beginning with the second quarter of fiscal 2004.

In September 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on EITF Issue 04-08,
“Accounting Issues Related to Certain Features of Contingently Convertible Debt and the Effects on Diluted
Earnings Per Share,” which was ratified by the FASB in October 2004. Issue 04-08 becomes effective for periods
after December 15, 2004, which will be the Company’s first fiscal quarter of 2005. Under the consensus, companies
will be required to retroactively restate diluted earnings per share numbers applying the “if converted” method of
accounting from the issuance date of the contingently convertible bond. On May 5, 2004, the Company issued
$125.0 million of 2.50% Convertible Senior Debentures due May 15, 2034, As it relates to Quanex, EITF Issue 04-
08 would mean an additional 2.2 million shares of earnings dilution and have an annualized eamings per share
impact of approximately $0.30 - $0.35 per common share. However, the Company could elect to settle its convertible
obligation with either common stock, cash or a combination of the two. If the Company elects to settle its entire
convertible obligation with cash and can demonstrate its ability to do so, it would not be required to show the dilutive
impact of the higher share count in the calculation of its earnings per share for periods after such election.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The following discussion of the Company and its subsidiaries' exposure to various market risks contains
“forward looking statements™ that involve risks and uncertainties. These projected results have been prepared
utilizing certain assumptions considered reasonable in light of information currently available to the Company.
Nevertheless, because of the inherent unpredictability of interest rates, foreign currency rates and metal
commodity prices as well as other factors, actual results could differ materially from those projected in such
forward looking information. The Company does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative or
trading purposes. For a description of the Company's significant accounting policies associated with these
activities, see Notes 1 and 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company and its subsidiaries have a Bank Agreement and other long-term debt which subject the
Company to the risk of loss associated with movements in market interest rates. At October 31, 2004 and 2003,
the Company had fixed-rate debt totaling $128.9 million and $4.1 million, respectively. This debt is fixed-rate
and, therefore, does not expose the Company to the risk of earnings loss due to changes in market interest rates.

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries’ floating-rate obligations totaled $2.0 million and
$15.7 million at October 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Based on the floating-rate obligations outstanding at
October 31, 2004, a one percent increase or decrease in the average interest rate would result in a change to pre-
tax interest expense of approximately $20,000.

For 2002, the Company had $100.0 million of swap agreements in place to limit the exposure of this
obligation to increases in short-term interest rates. These swap agreements effectively fixed the interest rate, thus
limiting the potential impact that increasing interest rates would have on earnings. Under these swap agreements,
payments were made based on a fixed rate ($50.0 million at 7.025%, and $50.0 million at 6.755%) and received
on a LIBOR based variable rate (1.82% at October 31, 2002). At October 31, 2002, the fair market value related
to the interest rate swap agreements was a loss of $4.0 million.
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To the extent that floating rate obligations are in excess of or less than $100.0 million, the Company was
subject to changes in the underlying interest rates. For the year ended October 31, 2002, the Company's floating
rate obligations were $28.8 million less than the $100.0 million swap agreement. Increases or decreases in the
underlying interest rate of the swap agreement would have had a direct impact on interest expense for this
differential in balances.

These swap agreements expired on July 29, 2003 and the final settlement payment was made. The
Company has not entered into any other interest swap agreements and as such is subject to the variability of
interest rates on its variable rate debt.

Commodity Price Risk

The Vehicular Products segment has a scrap surcharge program in place, which is a practice that is well
established within the engineered steel bar industry. The scrap surcharge is based on a three month trailing average
of #1 bundle scrap prices. The Company’s long-term exposure to changes in scrap prices is significantly reduced
because of the surcharge program. Over time, the Company recovers the majority of its scrap cost increases, though
there is a level of exposure to short-term volatility because of the three month lag.

Within the Building Products segment, the Company uses various grades of aluminum scrap as well as
minimal amounts of prime aluminum ingot as raw materials for its manufacturing process. The price of this
aluminum raw material is subject to fluctuations due to many factors in the aluminum market. In the normal
course of business, Nichols Aluminum enters into firm price sales commitments with its customers. In an effort
to reduce the risk of fluctuating raw material prices, the Company enters into firm price raw material purchase
commitments (which are designated as “normal purchases” under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities”) as well as option contracts on the London Metal Exchange (“LME”). The
Company’s risk management policy as it relates to these LME contracts is to enter into contracts to cover the raw
material needs of the Company’s committed sales orders, net of fixed price purchase commitments.

Through the use of firm price raw material purchase commitments and LME contracts, the Company
intends to protect cost of sales from the effects of changing prices of aluminum. To the extent that the raw
material costs factored into the firm price sales commitments are matched with firm price raw material purchase
commitments, changes in aluminum prices should have no effect. During fiscal 2004, the Company primarily
relied upon firm price raw material purchase commitments to protect cost of sales tied to firm price sales
commitments. There were no outstanding LME hedges as of October 31, 2004.
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Ttem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Quanex Corporation and subsidiaries were
prepared by management, which is responsible for their integrity and objectivity. The statements were prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and include amounts
that are based on management's best judgments and estimates.

Quanex's system of internal controls is designed to provide reasonable assurance, at justifiable cost, as to
the reliability of financial records and reporting and the protection of assets. The system of controls provides for
appropriate division of responsibility and the application of policies and procedures that are consistent with high
standards of accounting and administration. Internal controls are monitored through recurring internal audit
programs and are updated as our businesses and business conditions change.

The Audit Committee, composed solely of outside, independent directors, determines that management is
fulfilling its financial responsibilities by meeting periodically with management, the independent auditors, and
Quanex's internal auditors, to review internal accounting controls and assess the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures. The Audit Committee is responsible for appointing the independent auditors and
reviewing the scope of all audits and the accounting principles applied in our financial reporting. Deloitte &
Touche LLP has been engaged by the Audit Committee as independent auditors to audit the accompanying
consolidated financial statements and issue the report thereon, which appears on the following page. Our internal
auditors and Deloitte & Touche LLP have full and free access to meet with the Audit Committee, without
management present, to discuss the results of their audits, the quality of our financial reporting and the adequacy
of our internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures.

We believe that Quanex's system of internal controls, combined with the activities of the internal auditors
and the Audit Committee, provides reasonable assurance of the integrity of our financial reporting.

/s’ RAYMOND A. JEAN /s/ TERRY M. MURPHY
Raymond A. Jean Terry M. Murphy
Chairman of the Board, President and Vice President—Finance and
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Quanex Corporation
Houston, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Quanex Corporation and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of October 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2004. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of October 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2004, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Deloitte & Touche LLP

Houston, Texas
December 21, 2004
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QUANEX CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

October 31,
2004 2003
(In thousands)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and eqQUIVAIENLS .......ccoiiiiiieiee ettt ettt st ese e sae st b et bere s seeeen $ 41,743 § 22,108
Accounts and notes receivable, net of allowance of $6,882 and $6,829 .........cc.cuoe... 176,358 104,009
IVEIIEOTIES .ovvierieeceeeciie e et et eestts et et e e ere e eate e tbeeseesreessbaesabesessreaaes e esneesaaeseseresaennseessnes 115,367 68,626
Deferred IMCOIMIE tAXES .iviii ittt creieies et ieaeeersstresats s saessaeeeasesseessseeesrnaerssssassaraessneennns 10,744 5,320
ORET CUTTEIIE BSSEES . .ueviiiieii it et e et ee sttt et cs e et e s et e e serre s et aeesireaeesstnteserrseeerntesenais 2,363 1,499
Current assets of discontinued OpPerations..........cceivvveuevriniereicn it 9,759 31,886
TOtal CUITENT @SSELS ..o.nvvviiiiie it e ettt e et ee st s e et e s s ne s snessnreasennee 356,334 233,448
Property, plant and eqUIPIMENE, NEL .........ccocevreiiiinrierie ettt etesree st ee s b nens 350,982 298,733
GOOAWIIL TIEE.....vvei ettt e r e e e et e et b e e et s etbretane s eataeebeseabesanbeenbessreean 134,670 66,436
Cash surrender value insurance poliCies, NEL .......c.covvvivreirerieiene e s 24,439 24,536
INtangible ASSELS, IO ..oviiiiei ittt et er bt et et bt e 27,556 2,755
OTRET ASSELS 1. vvveiiieieetee e ce e ettt e e e s e st reses et baeeeeesntaeeseesantb et e s e stbaeabesesaesbaaeesesannaaeenas 9,391 3,517
Assets 0f diSCONTINUEA OPETALIONS .. co.vevververierieretrierie e e sre e eberteearete et aateeneesaeeeseesaesraesne 26,150 53,689
TOUAL @SSEES .t eee ettt ettt s et eae e st et e ese e et e s s o e reeaneaneaesreeaeriteassereneaeronas $929,522 $683,114
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
ACCOUNES PAYADIE ......oviviiiiiiir ettt $161,674 § 80,791
ACCTUEA HADIHTIES ..ottt ettt s svt et e e sbesereereens 45,844 33,764
INCOME tAXES PAYADIE .....eovciieeieer ettt ettt bt 4,127 7,641
Current maturities of long-term debt .......c..ocviiririiiiiiic e 456 3,877
Current liabilities of discontinued OPErations..........cc.ecevrereiererecrie e 4,102 14,592
Total current HaBIlItIES . ... .ccveiiiiiiiiic et ettt st enreeean e erneanneas 216,203 140,665
LONG1EIMN AEDE...cviieieiiiiieis ettt e e e r e s 130,496 15,893
Deferred pension Credits .....coiviiiiireeiesieerirr ettt ese e serre vt et esteeeesbs e sbessne e 8,804 7,781
Deferred postretirement welfare Benefits..........ooocvivveeieeiiiiiii e e 7,745 7,845
DeferTed TCOIMIE LAXES. . .iviiiieiieeeie it eee e eeee et e e s aesssiaeeeaes s s e bt eeeserreseasreseenaaesennees 53,983 49,938
Non-current enviroNmMENTal TESEIVES ....cc..icuieiiiieitiiiieicercteeiiessieesreesae s seareesseesteaeseeansaesens 8,188 13,517
Other HADIIIEIES ... ...ecviive ettt et er e te s e e ase e sbe s sbr et s esbete e e sreere e e 2,973 283
Liabilities of discontinuied OPErations .....c.ocueiveveiceiiiirnrieiet ettt sre s resraera st ese s 423 2,033
TOtal HHADIEIES ...c.vecviee ittt ettt st ete et e s e 428,815 237,955
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, no par value, shares authorized 1,000,000; issued and
OULSTANAINZNI0MIC. ... vttt ettt ettt r et snesanes — —
Common stock, $0.50 par value, shares authorized 50,000,000; issued 16,650,862
ANA 16,519,271 oot ettt r s b ettt anraern 8,324 8,260
Additional paid-In-Capital...........cccciviriiriinicni i et e e 191,675 187,114
REtaINEd SAIMIINES ... evvoeieiiierierieiieieeee et ere st e saebae b e b erees e et e ss e saa bt s s besreene s aobseasateesneses 307,754 264,067
Unearned COmMPENSAtION.......ovieiriiiereeerieseriit st etr ettt sttt ete et re e e sresbennese (824) (164)
Accumulated other compreNensive IMCOME .........ccourrvireereeirie et (4,463) (3,641)
502,466 455,636
Less common stock held by Rabbi Trust - 58,139 and 47,507 shares........ccocevenrrnnne (1,759) (1,317
Less cost of shares of common stock in treasury 0 and 294,803 ... — (9,160)
Total StOCKNOIABTS™ EQUILY ....vvvrerierieieirieieee ettt et etr ettt ettt et re e sttt sresae e eneneoes 500,707 445,159
Total liabilities & Stockholders’ €QUILY ........ovverveeieirrirenirecceecee e $929,522 $683,114 .

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

28



)

QUANEX CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years Ended October 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

NEE SALES .ottt $1,460,268 $ 898,197 $ 853,430
Cost and expenses:

COSt OF SALES ...oviiiiiiii et 1,245,639 743,953 685,762

Selling, general and administrative........o..ooeeveeerevverennnn. 65,618 48,029 48,104

Depreciation and amortization..........c..cceeevevererecrnenenns 50,054 40,985 39,114
Gain on sale of 1and .......ccoeciviicinniniieen (454) (405) —
Operating MCOME .......ccovrereeireeereeresreseesieeeesesreteeeesseeereeeneas 99,411 65,635 80,450

INtErest EXPENSE ..oooverivveerieeirc et (6,049) (2,829) (14,547)

Capitalized Interest .......cvevveeeeereiireeeeeeecieeieeeereereene — — 1,879

Retired executive life insurance benefit...........c..c.ocve.e... — 2,152 9,020

Other, NEL ..oiiviiiiie ittt e st cee st sabr e 282 2,695 1,962
Income from continuing operations before income taxes.... 93,644 67,653 78,764
[NCOME tAX EXPEIISE ...cveverivereiirreeieereeerteeetr e sbereeae s (36,045) (23,650) (25,020)
Income from continuing Operations .........ccocceceveveeernrcreeerns 57,599 44,003 53,744
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes.... (3,132) (1,116) 1,738
NEEINCOIMIC 1.vveviivecviceetieeecereter et e e ebe e sre b s etaassessesaesaeses S 54467 $ 42,887 $ 55482
Basic earnings per common share("”:

Earnings from continuing operations..........c..ccceeverreenens $ 3.50 $ 2.72 $ 3.62

Income (loss) from discontinued operations................... (0.19) (0.07) 0.12

Basic earnings per Share ........cccoveeeveeiriecnisceennnnnes $ 3.31 § 265 $ 3.74
Diluted earning per common share'”:

Earnings from continuing operations.............ccocoevvveenes $ 3.45 3 2.69 $ 341

Income (loss) from discontinued operations................... {0.19) (0.07) 0.11

Diluted earnings per share ..........ccoovveeevierecerecine e $ 3.26 $ 2.62 $ 3.52
Weighted average common shares outstanding:

BaSIC oot 16,436 16,154 14,823

Diluted ..o 16,698 16,384 16,237
™ On December 2, 2004 the Board of Directors declared a three-for-two stock split in the form of a 50% stock dividend,

payable on December 31 to holders of record on December 17. The amounts above are presented without giving effect to
such stock split. See Note 5, Earnings Per Share, for a proforma presentation of the impact of this stock split.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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QUANEX CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income

Additional Minimum Derivative Treasury Total
Comprehensive | Common Paid-in Retained Pension Gain Stock & Stockholders’
Years Ended October 31, 2604, 2003 and 2002 Income Stock Capital Earnings Liability {Loss) Other Equity
(In thousands)
Balance at-October 31,2001 ..........ccoeevrnnnnn. $7,043  $108,314 $186,274 $(1,809) $(5,403) $(14,442)  $279,977
Comprehensive income:
Net IICOME .oovrrieeriiieeeereeneiirerr et eennin $55,482 55,482 55,482
Adjustment for minimum pension
liability (net of taxes of $798)........... (1,247) (1,247) (1,247)
Derivative transactions:
Current period hedging transactions
(net of taxes of $511).coivrieceean. (798) (798) (798)
Reclassifications into earnings
(net of taxes of $3,694)............... 5,778 5,778 5,778
Total comprehensive income...........c.oceeee.. $59,215
Common dividends ($0.64 per share)............ (9,637) (9,637)
(108) (108)
12,672 12,672
1,184 77,658 (45) 479 79,276
Balance at October 31, 2002............cccoeeen. $8,227  $185,972 §232,074 $(3,056) § (423) $ (1,399) $ 421,395
Comprehensive income:
Net INCOME oot $42.887 42,887 42,887
Adjustment for minimum pension
liability (net of taxes of $372)........... (583) (583) (583
Derivative transactions: '
Current period hedging transactions
(net of taxes of $1)...cvevrrirnnnee ) 2) )
Reclassifications into earnings
(net of taxes of $270).................. 423 423 423
Total comprehensive income...........cc...o.oee.. $42,725
Common dividends ($0.68 per share)............ (10,865) (10,865)
Common stock held by Rabbi Trust .............. (336) (336)
Cost of common stock in treasury ................. (9,160) (9,160)
Other ..o 33 1,142 (29) 254 1,400
Balance at October 31,2003 ... $8,260  $187,114  $264,067 $(3,639) § (2) $(10,641) 445,159
Comprehensive income:
NEt INCOME ... $54,467 54,467 54,467
Adjustment for minimum pension
liability (net of taxes of $563)........... (880) (880) (880)
Derivative transactions:
Foreign currency translation
AGJUSIMENL . .vee i 56 56 56
Reclassifications into earnings
(net of taxes of $1) ..o, 2 2 2
Total comprehensive inCome...........oeevvennnn.. $53,645
Common dividends ($0.70 per share)............ (11,530) (11,530)
Common stock held by Rabbi Trust .............. (442) (442)
Cost of common stock in treasury ................. 9,160 9,160
OUhOT v 64 4,561 750 (660) 4,715
Balance at October 31, 2004............cccccoece... $8,324  $191,675  $307.754 $(4,519) —  $(2,527) $500,707

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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QUANEX CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Years Ended October 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
Common Shares

Preferred

Shares Rabbi Net

Issued Issued Treasury Trust Outstanding
Balance at October 31, 2001........c.cccocvevveniivieieiciieen — 14,085,642 (633,935) (42,484} 13,409,223
Stock issued—options exercised (net of trade-ins)........... 562,926 597,284 — 1,160,210
Stock issued—compensation plans...........cccceeinivinnenn. (1,902) 22,797 — 20,895
Stock issued--conversion of subordinated debentures .... 1,822,594 173 — 1,822,767
RabDBi TIUSE ...eviieiiiviiiee et (13,627) 13,681 (54) —
Balance at October 31, 2002......cocvioeiieeii e — 16,455,633 — (42,538) 16,413,095
Treasury shares purchased.............cccooeoiivciiiieiinn, — (438,600) — (438,600)
Stock 1ssued-options exercised (net of trade-ins)........... 42,333 161,677 — 204,010
Stock i1ssued—compensation plans........cccocevercrnrencene 1,000 (2,544) — (1,544)
RaAbDE TIUSL ..oveivieece et 20,303 (15,336) (4,969) —
Balance at October 31,2003 ..., — 16,519,271 (294,803)  (47,507) 16,176,961
Stock issued-options exercised (net of trade-ins)........... 113,782 268,680 — 382,462
Stock issued-compensation plans........c.occovevercrencrncnn 9,500 23,800 — 33,300
Rabbi Trust .ot 8,309 2,323 (10,632) —
Balance at October 31,2004 ..........cccoovieiivciieee, — 16,650,862 — (58,139) 16,592,723

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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QUANEX CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW

Years Ended October 31,

2004

2003

2002

Operating Activities:

(In thousands)

INEE ATICOIIIE o teiiiier ettt ettt e e e e bt e et e s reeeetb e s et e et e st e st e s staesrbeesebesranesennnsnrnas $54,467 $42,887 $55,482
Loss (income) from discontinued Operations ...........ccocevverirereeeee s 3,132 1,116 (1,738)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:
Gain on sale of 1and...........ooiviiiiiiiei e (454) (405) —
Loss on early extinguishment of debt ..........ccocooceiiiiiini e, — — 922
Retired executive life insurance benefit ..........ccoceciiniivinc e — (2,152  (9,020)
Depreciation and amOrtIZATION .........eeviveeveiiereeriaieeeereteereeresesseeresseessssnssssssesssesans 50,603 41,334 39,371
Deferred IMCOME tAXES . .viveveeieicreirie v iere e et sere et ere et reete e e erearessbeeseesbensneaes 551 3,477 (4,302)
Deferred pension and postretirement benefits..........ccoovvvrinivieniinienn (499) 1,522 (4,766)
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and dispositions:
Increase in accounts and notes 1eceivable..........coveiivreieeiie e (46,776) (6,514)  (5,057)
Decrease (increase) in iNVENLOTY ......cevverveeirrerieririenreeies e seersreseesesaans et (6,993) 9,058 (8,661)
Increase in acCOUNtS PAYADIE ..ottt 57,623 10,733 2,517
Increase (decrease) in accrued Habilities........cccevvriieeniiee e 8,764 (7,869)  (1,431)
Increase (decrease) in income taxes payable.........ccovvvvnirineieinincenn oo, (6,242) 1,081 (213)
L@ 11 4T 0« L OO OSSO U O TS UPTRPTN 1,965 (5,441) 201
Operating cash flow from discontinued OpPerations...........cccveeevvrvrevereecrnvrecenrveneens 8,096 14,013 17,806
Cash provided by Operating actiVities .........ceoveviveeriierieiieeienieieee ettt seeeee e eee e 124,237 102,840 81,111
Investing Activities:
Acquisitions, net of cash acqUIred............ceovvvie i (214,618) —  (17,283)
Proceeds from sale of discontinued Operations ...........coevccrercnerrcniereinernnnenen. 23310 — —
Proceeds from sale of 1and ...........ccooooiiiiiiioii e 637 2,832 —
Capital expenditures, net of retiremMEntS.........ccoveerivieeieiie et (19,542)  (25,371) (31.378)
Retired executive 1ife insurance proceeds......ocovvveiriciiieeiiiiie e — 6,442 26,111
ONET, T ... i ittt ettt e ettt e e ae e eresstb e erae s enrasetnneenaeesnes 172 (2,952)  (4,466)
Cash used for investing activities from discontinued operations............ccccccvecrnnvee (3,049) (3,451)  (2,792)
Cash used for INVEStING ACTIVITIES ... .ovivveeiiieciie ettt st esr e ee e (213,090)  (22,500) (29,808)
Financing Activities:
Bank borrowings (repayments), NEt.......ccoovieieiriienierienisereireriesseeveesesevesresenenes {10,000)  (55,000) (75,000)
Prepayment of note payable ........cooveeciiiiiiciciene et — — (7,029)
Issuance (purchase) of debentures...........ccoovievviieeiieeireieec e 125,000 — (1,314)
Purchase of Quanex common STOCK ........ocoveveiiiiririiniec et —  (13,51%) —
Common stock dividends Paid .......c..ccciiciiiiiniaa et eeseseesesees (11,530) (10,865)  (9,637)
Issuance of COMMON StOCK, NEL.....c.oceiiriviierieeie et e e 11,665 5,163 33,948
ORET, DEL ...ttt ae ettt ae e e b e eee vt et e e st eae e e e seen s (6,657) (2,298)  (3,561)
Cash provided by (used for) financing activities........cooccvieieieinecsr e 108,478  (76,515) (62,593)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash equivalents..........cccocoeveeerenenernrcrnnn. 10 — —
Increase (decrease) in cash and eqUIVAIENTS ............coceeiiiivicnieieei e 19,635 3,825 (11,290)
Cash and equivalents at beginning of period..........ccccvvcernieninieerneienneen e 22,108 18,283 29,573
Cash and equivalents at end of period..........ocoeoiiviniiiieii e $41,743

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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QUANEX CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying footnotes. Estimates and
assumptions about future events and their effects cannot be perceived with certainty. Estimates may change as
new evenis occur, as more experience is acquired, as additional information becomes available and as the
Company's operating environment changes. Actual results could differ from estimates.

The Company believes the following are the most critical accounting policies used in the preparation of
the Company's consolidated financial statements as well as the significant judgments and uncertainties affecting
the application of these policies.

Nature of Operations

The Company manufactures engineered carbon and alloy steel bars, aluminum flat-rolled products,
flexible insulating glass spacer systems, and precision-formed metal and wood products which primarily serve the
North American vehicular products and building products markets. See Note 12, Industry Segment Information.

Revenue Recognition and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company recognizes revenue when the products are shipped and the title and risk of ownership pass
to the customer. Selling prices are fixed based on purchase orders or contractual agreements. Inherent in the
Company's revenue recognition policy is the determination of collectibility. This requires management to make
frequent judgments and estimates in order to determine the appropriate amount of allowance needed for doubtful
accounts. The Company's allowance for doubtful accounts is estimated to cover the risk of loss related to accounts
receivable. This allowance is maintained at a level the Company considers appropriate based on historical and
other factors that affect collectibility. These factors include historical trends of write-offs, recoveries and credit
losses, the careful monitoring of portfolio credit quality, and projected economic and market conditions. Different
assumptions or changes in economic circumstances could result in changes to the allowance.

Inventory

The Company records inventory valued at the lower of cost or market value. Inventory quantities are
regularly reviewed and provisions for excess or obsolete inventory are recorded primarily based on the
Company's forecast of future demand and market conditions. Significant unanticipated changes to the Company's
forecasts could require a change in the provision for excess or obsolete inventory.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Environmental Contingencies

Quanex is subject to extensive laws and regulations concerning the discharge of materials into the
environment and the remediation of chemical contamination. To satisfy such requirements, Quanex must make
capital and other expenditures on an ongoing basis. The Company accrues its best estimates of its remediation
obligations and adjusts such accruals as further information and circumstances develop. Those estimates may.
change substantially depending on information about the nature and extent of contamination, appropriate
remediation technologies, and regulatory approvals. Costs of future expenditures for environmental remediation
are not discounted to their present value, unless the amount and timing of the expenditures are fixed or reliably
determinable. When environmental laws might be deemed to impose joint and several liability for the costs of
responding to contamination, the Company accrues its allocable share of liability taking into account the number
of parties participating, their ability to pay their shares, the volumes and nature of the wastes involved, the nature
of anticipated response actions, and the nature of the Company’s alleged connections. Unanticipated changes of
future assessments and/or regulatory laws could result in expenses being incurred in future periods in addition to
an increase in actual cash required to remediate the contamination.

Long-Lived Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment

The Company makes judgments and estimates in conjunction with the carrying value of property, plant
and equipment, other intangibles, and other assets, including amounts to be capitalized, depreciation and
amortization methods and useful lives. Additionally, carrying values of these assets are periodically reviewed for
impairment and further reviewed whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that carrying value may
be impaired. The carrying values are compared with the fair value of such assets calculated based on the
anticipated future cash flows related to those assets. If the carrying value of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair
value, an impairment charge is recorded in the period in which such review is performed. This requires the
Company to make long-term forecasts of its future revenues and costs related to the assets subject to review.
Forecasts require assumptions about demand for the Company's products and future market conditions. Future
events and unanticipated changes to assumptions could require a provision for impairment in a future period.

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost and is depreciated using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives of certain categories are as follows:

Years
Land improvements........ccooeccovvveveivieneonnns 10 to 25
Buildings ...coovveeiiiiiecec e 10 to 40
Machinery and equipment..............c.cc.ooveneen. 31020
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QUANEX CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Goodwill

The purchase method of accounting for business combinations requires the Company to make use of
estimates and judgments to allocate the purchase price paid for acquisitions to the fair value of the net tangible
and identifiable intangible assets. The Company performs a goodwill impairment test annually as of August 31.
In addition, goodwill would be tested more frequently if changes in circumstances or the occurrence of events
indicates that a potential impairment exists. The impairment test requires the Company to compare the fair value
of business reporting units to carrying value including assigned goodwill. The Company primarily uses the
present value of future cash flows to determine fair value and validates the result against the cost and market
approaches. Future cash flows are typically based upon a five-year future period for the businesses and an
estimated residual value. Management judgment is required in the estimation of future operating results and to
determine the appropriate residual values. The residual values are determined from comparable industry
transactions. Future operating results and residual values could reasonably differ from the estimates and could
require a provision for impairment in a future period.

Income Taxes

The Company records the estimated future tax effects of temporary differences between the tax basis of
assets and liabilities and the amounts reported in the Company's consolidated balance sheet, as well as operating
loss and tax credit carry forwards. The carrying value of the net deferred tax liability reflects the Company's
assumption that the Company will be able to generate sufficient future taxable income in certain jurisdictions to
realize its deferred tax assets. If the estimates and assumptions change in the future, the Company may be required
to record a valuation allowance against a portion of its deferred tax assets. This could result in additional income
tax expense in a future period in the consolidated statement of income.

Insurance

The Company manages its costs for portions of workers' compensation, group medical, general liability
and vehicle liability exposure through a combination of retentions and insurance coverage. The amounts in excess
of the retention levels are fully insured by third party insurers. Liabilities associated with the Company’s portion
of these exposures are estimated in part by considering historical claims experience, severity factors and other
assumptions. Projections of future loss expenses are inherently uncertain because of the random nature of
insurance claims occurrences and could be significantly affected if future occurrences and claims differ from these
assumptions and historical trends.

Retirement and Pension Plans

The Company sponsors a number of defined benefit pension plans and an unfunded postretirement plan
that provides health care and life insurance benefits for eligible retirees and dependents. The measurement of
liabilities related to these plans is based on management's assumptions related to future events, including expected
return on plan assets, rate of compensation increases and health care cost trend rates. The discount rate, which is
determined using a model that matches corporate bond securities, is applied against the projected pension and
postretirement disbursements. Actual pension plan asset investment performance will either reduce or increase
unamortized pension losses at the end of any fiscal year, which ultimately affects future pension costs.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Discontinued Operations q

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, "Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets," the Company presents the results of operations, financial position
and cash flows of operations that have either been sold or that meet the criteria for “held for sale accounting” as
discontinued operations. At the time an operation qualifies for held for sale accounting, the operation is evaluated
to determine whether or not the carrying value exceeds its fair value less cost to sell. Any loss as a result of
carrying value in excess of fair value less cost to sell is recorded in the period the operation meets held for sale
accounting. Management judgment is required to (1) assess the criteria required to meet held for sale accounting,
and (2) estimate fair value. Changes to the operation could cause it to no longer qualify for held for sale
accounting and changes to fair value could result in an increase or decrease to previously recognized losses.

Stock Based Employee Compensation

In accordance with SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” the Company continues
to apply the rules for stock-based compensation contained in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” using the intrinsic value method. The pro forma effect on net
income and earnings per share of the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based compensation as
required by SFAS No. 123 and SFAS No. 148 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and
Disclosure” is disclosed below.

Years Ended October 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)

Net income, as FePOIted.....cocviiiiirerieiiniiesaaecearesaeressesessessssessaseeses $54,467 $42,887 $55,482
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense .

determined under fair value based method for all awards,

net of related tax effectS......eoverrine (1,997) (1,673) (1,407)
Pro forma Net INCOME ......cvvvvieieeireceeeeece s eve s $52,470 $41,214 $54,075
Earnings per common share:

Basic as reported.........coooevrerineierieierec s $ 3.31 $ 2.65 $ 374

BaSiC Pro fOrma .........ccouvriruerrireiieeese et $ 3.19 $§ 2.55 $ 3.65

Diluted as reported..........coevvreveerireriiieieieeeeiere e $ 3.26 $ 262 $ 3.52

Diluted pro forma ........ccoceereirrereeniincienree e $ 3.14 $ 252 $ 3.43

Fair value of the options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model A
with the following weighted average assumptions.

Years Ended October 31,
2004 2003 2002
Risk-free NSt TAtE .....oveeriereirie et 3.41% 4.49% 3.58%
Dividend yield ......c.cccooreiniieiiriieiieccnne e 2.06% 1.98% 2.01%
Volatility faCtor ...c.oceviiiriciiecirec e 42.07% 50.21% 44.14%
Weighted average expected life.........ccoovevieneieicnnccinccas 5 years 9.5 years 5 years

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Quanex and its subsidiaries, all of which are
wholly owned. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
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QUANEX CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Earnings per Share Data

Basic earnings per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income available to common
stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per
share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were
exercised or converted into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in the
earnings of the entity.

Scope of Operations

The Company operates primarily in two industry segments: vehicular products and building products. The
Company’s products include engineered steel bars, coiled aluminum sheet (mill finish and coated), aluminum and
steel fabricated products, impact extrusions and hardwood architectural moulding and window and door
accessories. The Company’s manufacturing operations are conducted primarily in the United States.

Statements of Cash Flows

The Company generally considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three
months or less to be cash equivalents. Similar investments with original maturities beyond three months are
considered short-term investments. For fiscal years 2004, 2003, and 2002, cash paid for income taxes was $35.7
million, $10.9 million and $17.7 million, respectively. These amounts are before refunds of $0.4 million, $0.5
million and $0.1 million, respectively. Cash paid for interest for fiscal 2004, 2003, and 2002 was $4.0 million,
$2.6 million and $13.1 million, respectively.

Reclassification

Certain reclassifications, none of which effected net income, have been made to prior period amounts to
conform to the presentation of fiscal year 2004. Specifically, the Company reclassified amortization of debt
issuance costs from other, net to interest expense.

In the third quarter of 2004, the Company committed to a plan to sell its Piper Impact business and in the
fourth quarter of 2004, sold its Nichols Aluminum — Golden business. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of
Piper Impact and Nichols Aluminum ~ Golden are reported as discontinued operations in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets presented, and their operating results are reported as discontinued operations in the Consolidated
Statements of Income (see Note 19).

New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued the revised SFAS
No. 132, “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits.” The revised SFAS No. 132
retains the disclosures required by the original issuance of SFAS No. 132 and requires additional annual
disclosures describing the types of plan assets, investment strategy, measurement date, plan obligations, and cash
flows. The Company included the revised SFAS No. 132 annual disclosures in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ending October 31, 2004. The revised SFAS No. 132 also requires additional interim period
disclosures, including the components of net periodic benefit cost and changes in planned contributions. The
Company included the required disclosures in the notes to the interim financial statements beginning with the
second quarter of fiscal 2004,
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In September 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on EITF Issue 04-08,
“Accounting Issues Related to Certain Features of Contingently Convertible Debt and the Effects on Diluted
Earnings Per Share,” which was ratified by the FASB in October 2004, EITF Issue 04-08 becomes effective for
periods after December 15, 2004, which will be the Company’s first fiscal quarter of 2005. Under the consensus,
companies will be required to retroactively restate diluted earnings per share numbers applying the “if converted”
method of accounting from the issuance date of the contingently convertible bond. On May 5, 2004, the Company
issued $125.0 million of 2.50% Convertible Senior Debentures due May 15, 2034 (the “Debentures™). As it relates
to Quanex, EITF Issue 04-08 would mean an additional 2.2 million shares of earnings dilution and have an
annualized eamnings per share impact of approximately $0.30 - $0.35 per common share. However, the Company
could elect to settle its convertible obligation with either common stock, cash or a combination of the two. If the
Company elects to settle its entire convertible obligation with cash and can demonstrate its ability to do so, it would
not be required to show the dilutive impact of the higher share count in the calculation of its earnings per share for
periods after such election.

2. Acquisitions
Fiscal 2004 Acquisitions

During the first quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company acquired the stock of TruSeal Technologies, Inc.
(“TruSeal”) and assets of North Star Steel Monroe (“MACSTEEL Monroe”). The acquisitions were accounted for
under the purchase method of accounting in accordance with SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations.”
Accordingly, the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisitions and the results of
operations were included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of the respective effective dates of
the acquisitions. There were no material differences between the Company’s accounting policies and those of
TruSeal and North Star Steel Monroe.

On December 31, 2003, the Company completed the acquisition of TruSeal, a manufacturer of patented and
trademarked flexible insulating glass spacer systems and sealants for vinyl, aluminum, and wood windows. TruSeal
has been integrated into the Building Products segment. The Company acquired TruSeal to further expand the broad
range of high quality components and products currently supplied to existing customers and to provide a level of
customer diversification. TruSeal has a broad presence in the vinyl and aluminum window markets, whereas the
Company's niche had been primarily with the wood window OEM's. As consideration for the acquisition of all of
the outstanding capital stock of TruSeal, the Company paid $111.2 million in cash, net of a $§1.8 million working
capital adjustment, and assumed $14.8 million of liabilities. The Company also incurred $1.4 million in transaction
fees, including legal, valuation and accounting fees.

On December 31, 2003, the Company completed the asset purchase of MACSTEEL Monroe, a mini-mill
steel facihity that can produce over 500,000 tons of special bar quality and engineered steel bars in diameters from
0.5625 to 3.25 inches, which primarily serves the light vehicle and heavy-duty truck markets. MACSTEEL Monroe
has been integrated into MACSTEEL within the Vehicular Products segment. The Company acquired MACSTEEL
Monroe to support and benefit a core business, MACSTEEL, and to expand the range of high quality bar products
avatlable to the Company’s customers. MACSTEEL Monroe's production of smaller diameter bars complements the
Company’s existing one to six inch size range and expands the customer base and product offerings. As
consideration for the MACSTEEL Monroe acquisition, the Company paid $99.8 million in cash, net of a $15.7
million working capital adjustment, and assumed $18.3 million of liabilities. The working capital adjustment
resulted in a reduction of property, plant and equipment in the second quarter of fiscal 2004. The Company also
incurred $2.3 million in transaction fees, including legal, valuation and accounting fees.
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The final allocations of the combined assets and liabilities of TruSeal and MACSTEEL Monroe acquired
and assumed are summarized below. The final allocations were based on independent appraisals and management’s
estimates of fair values. The final determination of deferred taxes resulted in a reduction from the preliminary
allocation to the final allocations of both goodwill and deferred “income tax liabilities” of approximately $4.4
million.

As of Date of
Opening

Balance Sheets

(In thousands)

Cash and eqUIVAIENES............ccccociiuiiiirecc et erts s $ 148
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts................. 23,049
INVEITOTIES ..ottt ettt ettt vt sr e b nnsnnons 39,711
Deferred INCOME TAXES . .vivviiirceeeir ettt s s, 4,387
Oher CUITENE ASSELS 11vvviverieriie it seseses e ere oo bsestsbesesbesrebresns 2,824
TOta] CUITEII ASSEES...cvveevvresrrerreererressiesieeevssssssseresessssssessssessresasssesassson, 70,119
Property, plant and equipment, Net .............cccoevvvereriinrrinnireeeneneeenenn, 80,791
GOOAWILL N ..oiveiiiiree ettt bbb e earannns 68,224

Intangible assets:

Trade names and trademarks.........ocovoevviieeiiveiiieec e, 8,230
PatenlS....oceeiiiiceie ettt e e n e e e e saae e 14,834
Other Intangibles ..., 3,692
Total Intangible aSSELS ........cccvviririereereeer et 26,756
ORET ASSEIS.....ooviiirectieieeeet ettt st st srsers e sre et aarenae 1,959
TOAL @SSELS ..ottt ettt sttt et st ee st ensstessons $ 247,849
Accounts PaYabIe ........ccceveuiiii e § 21,923
Accrued Habilities......ooveveverieeiiecicicereee ettt 6,203
Total current Habilities ..........ccovevviciriviiisieecir e 28,126
Deferred iNCOME tAXES.......cveiveeeeeeeererereseeseereiereete s ereseereebereste s eeseesnens 2,668
Other HabIIHES ...ovviviririieereee vttt r e, 2,279
TOtal HabilltieS . ..oveveveviiececi et 33,073
INVESHTIEIE ..ottt et e e e e sae e s e s enessnesreennns 214,776
Total liabilities and qUItY .......cccovveveieriieiececiecer e, $ 247,849

The aliocations resulted in goodwill of $68.2 million, of which $46.7 million is expected to be deductible for
tax purposes. All $68.2 million of goodwill has been assigned to the Building Products segment. The intangible
assets are being amortized over periods which reflect the pattern in which the economic benefits of the assets are
expected to be realized. Specifically, the trade names and trademarks are being amortized over an average estimated
useful life of 16 years, the patents are being amortized over an average of 17 years and the other intangibles are being
amortized over an average of 5 years. The weighted average useful life of intangible assets, excluding goodwill,
created as a result of the acquisitions is 15 years. No residual value is estimated for the intangible assets.

The $68.2 million of goodwill associated with the TruSeal acquisition can be attributed to the value the
Company expects to realize from expanding the product offerings to its current customers. The Company previously
marketed and sold a wide range of products to similar customers as those of TruSeal. With the acquisition of
TruSeal, the Company has expanded the product offerings it can market and sell to its entire base of customers in the
Building Products segment. The reliability, service levels and synergies established with the Company’s base of
customers within this segment allow for the potential of increased performance from TruSeal. The ability to provide
customers a suite of complimentary products is of considerable value to the Company.
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The following table provides unaudited proforma results of operations for the twelve months ended October
31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, as if TruSeal and MACSTEEL Monroe had been acquired as of the beginning of each
fiscal year presented. The proforma results include certain adjustments including estimated interest impact from the
funding of the acquisitions and estimated depreciation and amortization of fixed and identifiable intangible assets.
However, the proforma results presented do not include any anticipated cost savings or other synergies related to
either of the acquisitions. Accordingly, such amounts are not necessarily indicative of the results that would have
occurred if the acquisition had occurred on the dates indicated or that may result in the future.

Proforma
Twelve Months Ended October 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)
NEESALES ..ottt $1,505,008 $1,188,442 $1,105,474
Net income attributable to common stockholders............ 53,850 52,134 63,985
Diluted earnings per common share.........c.ccocoevevnrncnns $ 3.22 $ 3.18 $ 4.04

Fiscal 2002 Acquisitions

On February 12, 2002, Quanex completed the purchase of certain assets and assumption of certain liabilities
of Ekamar, Inc., formerly known as Colonial Craft, Inc., a Minnesota corporation, through its wholly owned
subsidiary, Quanex Windows, Inc., for approximately $17.3 million in cash. The acquired business operates as a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and has been renamed Colonial Craft, Inc. (“COLONIAL CRAFT”). The
acquisition was accounted for as a purchase transaction under SFAS No. 141, and accordingly the tangible assets
acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their fair value at the date of the acquisition. The results of
operations of COLONIAL CRAFT have been included in the consolidated financial statements of Quanex
subsequent to the date of acquisition. Pro forma results of operations have not been presented because the effect of
the acquisition was not material.

COLONIAL CRAFT is a manufacturer of value-added fenestration related wood products based in Mounds
View, Minnesota and Luck, Wisconsin. COLONIAL CRAFT manufactures custom wood window accessories with
two primary product lines: wood window grilles and hardwood architectural mouldings. COLONIAL CRAFT was
integrated into the Building Products segment. COLONIAL CRAFT provides direct synergy with one of the
Company’s two core businesses.

3. Executive Life Insurance Benefit

During the fiscal year ended October 31, 2003, a former executive of the Company, on whose life the
Company held life insurance policies, died. As a result, the Company received life insurance proceeds totaling
$6.4 million. Estimates of the cash surrender value of these life insurance policies amounting to $4.3 million
were previously recognized in “Other assets” on the financial statements. The excess of the proceeds over the
previously recorded cash surrender value amounting to $2.2 million was recognized as a non-taxable benefit on
the income statement during fiscal 2003. The impact to the fiscal year ended October 31, 2003 basic and diluted
earnings per share of this benefit was $0.13.

During the fiscal year ended October 31, 2002, another of the Company's former executives, on whose
life it held life insurance policies, died. As a result, the Company received life insurance proceeds totaling
$26.1 million. Estimates of the cash surrender value of these life insurance policies amounting to $15.9 million
were previously recognized in “Other assets” on the financial statements. The excess of the proceeds over the
previously recorded cash surrender value and the liability to the beneficiaries of the executive amounting to
$9.0 million was recognized as a non-taxable benefit on the income statement during fiscal 2002. The impact on
October 31, 2002 earnings per share of this benefit was $0.61 basic and $0.56 diluted.
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. 4, Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets

As of November 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”
Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill is no longer amortized, but is reviewed for impairment annually or more
frequently if certain indicators arise. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Company completed the transitional
impairment test of goodwill during the second quarter ended April 30, 2002, which indicated that goodwill was
not impaired. The Company again reviewed goodwill for impairment as of August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
which indicated that goodwill was not impaired. The Company performs this annual impairment test as of
August 31 each year or more frequently if certain indicators arise.

The carrying amounts of goodwill as of October 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows (in thousands):

| 2004 2003
Vehicular Segment.........ccocveveieirnrinicrienieinccaicn, $ 13,496 $13,496
Building Products Segment .........c.ccoovoveveirineniiinennn, 121,174 52,940
TOta6 ..o $134,670 $66,436
Intangible assets consist of the following (in thousands):
As of October 31, 2004 As of October 31, 2003
Gross Weighted Gross Weighted
Carrying Accumulated  Average Carrying Accumulated Average
Amount _ Amortization Remaining Life Amount  Amortizatien Remaining Life

‘ Amortized intangible assets:
Non-compete Agreements........ $ 3138 187 2 years $ 3138 119 3years

Patents .......coecvvvieeenineicnn 15,277 883 16 443 82 10
Trademarks.......ccooovvviiniennn, 8,230 420 14 — — —
Customer Relationships............ 2,491 416 5 — — —
Other intangibles ..................... 1,201 250 3 — — —
Total.oeveicceiecceeese $ 27,5128 2,156 13 years $ 756 $ 201 8 years

Unamortized intangible assets:
Trade Name ........coocvevvevecvennnn. $ 2,200 $ 2,200

The aggregate amortization expense for intangibles for the years ended October 31, 2004 and 2003 is §2.0
million and $0.1 million, respectively. Estimated amortization expense for the next five years follows (in

thousands):
Fiscal Years Ending Estimated
October 31, Amortization
2005, e $2,303
2006.......cociereeieereete s 2,294
2007 ... i s 2,252
2008, ..ot 1,988
2009t 1,521

)
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5. Earnings per Share .

The computational components of basic and diluted earnings per share are as follows (shares and
dollars in thousands except per share amounts):
For the Year Ended October 31, 2004

Numerator Denominator Per Share
(Income) (Shares) Amount

Basic earnings per share computation ...........cccoeeveveevercreinnns, § 54,467 16,436 $§ 331
Effect of dilutive securities:

Effect of common stock equivalents

arising from stock OptionS......coeveereirvinnnenneen e, — 207

Effect of common stock held by rabbi trust..............c........ — 55

Diluted earnings per share COMPULALION .c.veireearierrereneerersrenna. § 54467 16,698 $ 3.26

For the Year Ended October 31, 2003

Numerator Denominator Per Share
(Income) {Shares) Amount

Basic earnings per share computation ........c.ccococeereicerninenens, $ 42,887 16,154 § 2.65
Effect of dilutive securities:

Effect of common stock equivalents

arising from stock Options........cccocvvvciniiiceeeee e, — 166

Effect of common stock held by rabbi trust ....................... — 64

Diluted earnings per share computation..........cececeerrerinnene, § 42,887 16,384 § 2.62

For the Year Ended October 31, 2002

Numerator Denominator Per Share
(Income) (Shares) Amount

Basic earnings per share computation .........coeeeevvereevrveecnnns, $ 55,482 14,823 § 3.74
Effect of dilutive securities:

Effect of common stock equivalents

arising from stock options........cc.cecvirrereicnicnricee, — 284

Effect of common stock held by rabbi trust ............c.oee... — 40

Effect of conversion of subordinated debentures............... 1,610 1,090
Diluted earnings per share computation.........c.ccoeeeveervrerenane, $ 57,092 16,237 $ 3.52

In May 2004, the Company issued $125.0 million of the Debentures that, if converted in the future, would
have a potentially dilutive effect on the Company’s stock. Shares issuable upon conversion of the Debentures are
excluded from the computation of earnings per share because the contingent conditions for their conversion have
not been met (see Note 10).
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In September 2004, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF Issue 04-08, “Accounting Issues Related to
Certain Features of Contingently Convertible Debt and the Effects on Diluted Earnings Per Share,” which was
ratified by the FASB in October 2004. Issue 04-08 becomes eftective for periods after December 15, 2004, which
will be the Company’s first fiscal quarter of 2005. Under the consensus, companies will be required to
retroactively restate diluted earnings per share numbers applying the “if converted” method of accounting from
the issuance date of the contingently convertible bond. On May 3, 2004, the Company issued $125.0 million of
2.50% Convertible Senior Debentures due May 15, 2034. As it relates to Quanex, EITF Issue 04-08 would mean
an additional 2.2 million shares of earnings dilution and have an annualized earnings per share impact of
approximately $0.30 - $0.35 per common share. However, the Company could elect to settle its convertible
obligation with either common stock, cash or a combination of the two. If the Company elects to settle its entire
convertible obligation with cash and can demonstrate its ability to do so, it would not be required to show the
dilutive impact of the higher share count in the calculation of its earnings per share for periods after such election.

On December 2, 2004 the Board of Directors declared a three-for-two stock split in the form of a 50%
stock dividend, payable on December 31, 2004 to holders of record on December 17, 2004. The following table

... presents the proforma effect of such stock split on earnings per share.

Proforma ]
Years Ended October 31,

2004 2003 2002
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Basic earnings per common share - Proforma:

Proforma earnings from continuing operations .............c....... $ 2.34 $ 1.82 $ 242
Proforma income (loss) from discontinued operations ........... (0.13) (0.05) 0.08
Proforma basic earnings per Share .........cccocoovvevcrnncinrc e $ 2.21 $ 1.77 $ 2.50
Diluted earning per common share - Proforma:
Proforma earnings from continuing operations ..........c........... $ 2.30 b 1.79 $ 2.27
Proforma income (loss) from discontinued operations ........... (0.13) (0.04) 0.07
Proforma diluted earnings per share ..o vrivcereieennien, $ 2.17 8 1.75 $ 2.34
Weighted average common shares outstanding — Proforma:
 BASIC e 24,654 24,231 22,235
DiIluted ..o s 25,047 24,576 24,356
6. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

October 31,
2004 2003

(In thousands)
RAW TALEIIALS ..ovveeiiie ettt ettt et et e eaee e e aneaa $ 24,562 $15,521
Finished goods and work it ProCeSS.........uverivieiencieiieecnie e 78,088 43,530
102,650 59,051
OBRNET et e 12,717 9,575
TOtAL. ettt $115,367 $68,626
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The values of inventories are based on the following accounting methods:

October 31,
2004 2003
(In thousands)
LIFO Lottt bs et $ 50,382  §$54,332
FIFO .o ettt s, 64,985 14,294
TOtaL..eoiree e $115,367 $68,626

With respect to inventories valued using the LIFO method, replacement cost exceeded the LIFO value by
approximately $34.4 million and $13.9 million at October 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. During fiscal 2004
and fiscal 2003, there were LIFO liquidations that resulted in a reduction of the LIFO reserve of approximately
$3.2 million (credit to cost of sales) and $1.4 million, respectively. The LIFO liquidations, which are included in
the $34.4 million and $13.9 million LIFO reserve amounts discussed above, reduced the amount of expense
recognized in the respective years compared to what would have been recognized had there been no liquidations.

LIFO reserve adjustments are treated as corporate expenses as this matches how management reviews the
businesses. The LIFO reserve adjustments are calculated on a consolidated basis in a single pool using the link
chain method. Upon completion of the consolidated calculation, the resulting reserve that is recorded to properly
state inventories at their LIFO values are not allocated to the segments. Management believes LIFO reserves to
be a corporate item and thus performs all reviews of segment operations on a FIFO basis.

Since the adoption of LIFO inventory valuation in 1973, the Company has completed multipie
acquisitions. The acquisitions were integrated into the Company’s operations with some valuing inventory on a
LIFO basis and others on a FIFO basis. The selection of the inventory valuation treatment of each acquisition
depends on the facts and circumstances and is applied on each transaction individually. As a result of this
variability, management reviews all of the businesses on a FIFO basis for comparability, with the LIFO reserve
treated as a corporate item.

7. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consist of the following:

October 31,
2004 2003

(In thousands)
Land and land improvements.............ccooevevrveerrrerienenenenn. $ 24,073 $ 19,808
Buildings......coeiiviieiircer s 136,769 116,585
Machinery and equUIPmMent .........c..coiveereveirieesiecene e, 671,882 589,817
Construction in ProgresS........ocevererervereeeruerererseeerseeens 0,423 16,392
842,147 742,602

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization .......... (491,165) (443,869)

Property, plant and equipment, net..........cccoovveenne $350,982 $298,733

The Company had commitments for the purchase or construction of capital assets amounting to
approximately $5.2 million at October 31, 2004.
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. 8. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following:

QOctober 31,
2004 2003

(In thousands)
Payroll, payroll taxes and employee benefits..............ccce..... $31,193 $22,795
Accrued contribution to pension funds .........cocceeriirinnnnn 324 2,035
IEEIESE.....eciieecte ettt et ettt ettt et eenas 1,825 175
State and 10cal tAXES ......ovviovieciiccceee e 1,179 1,564
OFNET ..ot s 11,323 7,195
Accrued HabilIties ....c.oovvieeiie i $ 45,844 $33,764

9. Income Taxes

Income taxes are provided on taxable income at the statutory rates applicable to such income.
Income tax expense (benefit) consists of the following:

Years Ended October 31,

2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)
Current:
Federal.....c..coooovieei $26,379 §$18,908 §19,145
. State. . 3,039 1,412 1,238
FOreign ..o e 474 — —
29,892 20,320 20,383
Deferred .....cc.oooovveiviiiiiien. e 6,153 3,330 4,637
Income tax exXpense.........ccoevevvivercninninneae. 36,045 23,650 25,020

Income taxes from discontinued operations.. (L,737) (714 1,112
$34308 $22936 $26,132

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
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Significant components of the Company's net deferred tax liability are as follows:

October 31,
2004 2003

(In thousands)

Deferred tax liability:

Property, plant and equipment............ce.coeerrenrircenennees $50,678  $45481
INtan@IbIES ..vvviiveei it 3,649 1,448
INVENLOTY oot 1,649 1,703
OthET .o 7,456 12,163

63,432 60,795

Deferred tax assets:

Postretirement benefit obligation..........c..ccevveviveinicnnnenns, (3,257) (3,328)
Other employee benefit obligations..........coccveviveerivevanne (9,037) (6,382)
Environmental accruals ..o (1,476) (1,277)
ORET oottt sas s aane (6,423) (5,190)
(20,193) (16,177)

Net deferred tax Hability.......ccooovercinieccccec e $43239 $44618

Deferred income tax non-current liability ............ccocevnennnn $ 53,983 $ 49,938
Deferred tax current assets .......cccocoveveecrienrciriennnineeicneeees (10,744) (5,320)

Net deferred tax lability........c..coovvvecireicireeeiieecieene $43239 $44,618

Income tax expense differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate
to income from continuing operations before income taxes for the following reasons:

Years Ended October 31,

2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)
Income tax expense at statutory tax 1ate .......ccovvereicerrninereeiannens $32,775 $23,677 $27,572
Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:
State income taxes, net of federal effect.........c...ocooeeiiiiiennnnn 2,883 1,955 2,300
Amortization of intangibles...........coovveeiiiineiiieeiie i 560 — —
Life insurance benefit..........c.coooeveiiieeveiicieiceeeeeeeeeee e — (753) (3,157)
Other IemMS, N .o..eoiiieieireere ettt e 173 (1,229) (1,695)

$36,045  $23,650  $25,020

The Company's tax returns are not currently under audit. The Company has a case in Tax Court regarding
the disallowance of a capital loss realized in 1997 and 1998. During 2004, the Company made a tax payment of
$10.0 million related to the case. The payment was made to curtail the running of the interest outstanding.

Adequate provision had been made in prior years and the Company believes the outcome of the case will not have
a material impact on its financial position or results of operations.
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. 10, Long-Term Debt and Financing Arrangements

Long-term debt consists of the following:

October 31,
2004 2003

(In thousands)
“Bank Agreement’” REVOIVET.......ccooiviiiiiiicieieee ettt $ —  $10,000
2.50% Convertible Senior Debentures due 2034 .....ooovvveeevveeieiiieeeeeecveeeeee s, 125,000 —
Industrial Revenue and Economic Development Bonds, unsecured, principle due 1,665 1,665

in the years 2005 and 2010, bearing interest ranging from 6.50% to 8.375% ..........

State of Alabama Industrial Development Bonds ...........cccooceviiieiiiiceienee e, — 3,450
Scott County, Towa Industrial Waste Recycling Revenue Bonds ........coccoveeieiniinnnnn, 2,000 2,200
Temroc Industrial Development Revenue Bonds.......c..ococioeiinieriienevnnecncniesesinees 2,027 2,228
OTNET oottt et e et et e rt e bttt et e et e ettt bttt e e aaee e aneas 260 227
$130,952 $19,770
Less maturities due within one year included in current liabilities ........ccccuvvvirrvveiennn, 456 3,877

$130,496  § 15,893

Bank Agreement

In November 2002, the Company entered into a secured $200.0 million Revolving Credit Agreement

("Bank Agreement”). The Bank Agreement is secured by all Company assets, excluding land and buildings. The

current Bank Agreement expires November 2005 and provides for up to $25.0 million for standby letters of credit,

limited to the undrawn amount available under the current Bank Agreement. All borrowings under the current

‘ bank agreement bear interest, at the option of the Company, at either (a) the prime rate or federal funds rate plus
one percent, whichever is higher, or (b) a Eurodollar based rate.

On December 19, 2003, the Company executed an agreement with the banks to increase the Bank
Agreement revolver from $200.0 million to $310.0 million to provide funds necessary for the TruSeal and
MACSTEEL Monroe acquisitions, as detailed in Note 2. On April 9, 2004, the Company requested and received
consent from its credit facility bank group to extend the maturity date of its Revolving Credit Agreement from
November 15, 2005 to February 28, 2007. '

The Bank Agreement requires maintenance of certain financial ratios and maintenance of a minimum
consolidated tangible net worth. As of October 31, 2004, the Company was in compliance with all current Bank
Agreement covenants. As of October 31, 2004, nothing was outstanding under the Bank Agreement and all
$310.0 million of the revolver was available.

Convertible Senior Debentures

On May 5, 2004, the Company issued $125.0 million of the Debentures in a private placement to Credit
Suisse First Boston, Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., Robert W. Baird & Co., and KeyBanc Capital Markets as initial
purchasers. The Debentures were offered only to “qualified institutional buyers,” in accordance with Rule 144A
under the Securities Act of 1933. The Debentures are convertible into shares of Quanex common stock, upon the
occurrence of certain events, at an initial conversion rate of 17.3919 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal
amount of notes. This conversion rate is equivalent to an initial conversion price of $57.50 per share of common
stock, subject to adjustment in some events such as a common stock dividend or an increase in the cash dividend.
Adjustments to the conversion rate are made when the cumulative adjustments exceed 1% of the conversion rate.

47




QUANEX CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

On August 26, 2004, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized an annual dividend increase of
$0.08 per common share outstanding. On December 2, 2004, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized
an annual dividend increase of $0.05 per common share outstanding and declared in a separate action a three-for-
two stock dividend, in the form of a 50% stock dividend. As a result of the dividend increases and stock split, it is
estimated that the conversion rate will be adjusted to approximately 26.1113 shares of common stock per $1,000
principal amount of notes after taking into account the December 31, 2004 stock split. The estimated adjusted
conversion rate is equivalent to an adjusted conversion price of $38.2976 per share of common stock, also after
taking into account the December 31, 2004 stock split.

The Debentures are only convertible under certain circumstances, including: (1) during any fiscal quarter
if the closing price of the Company’s common stock for at least 20 trading days in the 30 trading-day period
ending on the last trading day of the previous fiscal quarter is more than 120% of the conversion price per share of
the Company’s common stock on such last trading day; (ii) if the Company calls the Debentures for redemption;
or (iii) upon the occurrence of certain corporate transactions, as defined. Upon conversion, the Company has the
right to deliver common stock, cash or a combination of cash and common stock. The Company may redeem
some or all of the Debentures for cash any time on or after May 15, 2011 at the Debentures’ full principal amount
plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. Holders of the Debentures may require the Company to purchase, in cash,
all or a portion of the Debentures on May 15, 2011, 2014, 2019, 2024 and 2029, or upon a fundamental change, as
defined, at the Debentures’ full principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any.

The net proceeds from the offering, totaling approximately $122.0 million were used to repay a portion of
the amounts outstanding under the revolving credit agreement.

Convertible Subordinated Debentures

On June 30, 1995, the Company exercised its right under the terms of its Cumulative Convertible
Exchangeable Preferred Stock to exchange such stock for the 6.88% Convertible Subordinated Debentures due
June 30, 2007 ("Convertible Subordinated Debentures"). Interest was payable semi-annually on June 30 and
December 31 of each year. The Convertible Subordinated Debentures were subordinate to all senior indebtedness
of the Company and were convertible, at the option of the holder, into shares of the Company's common stock at a
conversion price of $31.50 per share.

During fiscal 2001 and 2000, respectively, the Company accepted unsolicited block offers to buy back
$4.6 million and $10.4 million, respectively, principal amount of its Convertible Subordinated Debentures.

On May 9, 2002, the Company announced that it would redeem the remaining $58.7 million principal
amount of its 6.88% Convertible Subordinated Debentures. The Company set a redemption date of June 12, 2002
for all debentures outstanding. The redemption price was 100.688% of the principal amount plus accrued interest
to the redemption date. Holders of the Convertible Subordinated Debentures had the right, as an alternative to
redemption, to convert the Convertible Subordinated Debentures into shares of common stock of Quanex
Corporation at a conversion price of $31.50 per share of common stock. The right to convert the Convertible
Subordinated Debentures expired at the close of business on June 5, 2002. As of June 5, 2002, $57.4 million
aggregate principal amount of the Convertible Subordinated Debentures were converted to 1.8 million shares of
Company stock and $1.3 million of the Convertible Subordinated Debentures were redeemed on June 12, 2002.

As a result of the redemption of the Convertible Subordinated Debentures, a loss of $930,000 was
recognized in fiscal 2002 due to the early extinguishment of debt. This loss resulted from the write-off of the
remaining debt issuance costs associated with the subordinated debentures, as well as the .688% premium paid on
the $1.3 million of debentures, which were redeemed. In accordance with SFAS No. 145, this loss was classified
as ordinary instead of an extraordinary item, net of tax.
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. Other Debt Instruments

The State of Alabama Industrial Development Bonds were assumed as part of the Nichols Aluminum
Alabama acquisition. These bonds matured August 1, 2004,

On June 1, 1999, the Company borrowed $3 million through Scott County, lowa Variable Rate Demand
Industrial Waste Recycling Revenue Bonds Series 1999. The bonds require 15 annual principal payments of
$200,000 beginning on July 1, 2000. The variable interest rate is established by the remarketing agent based on
the lowest weekly rate of interest that would permit the sale of the bonds at par, on the basis of prevailing
financial market conditions. Interest is payable on the first business day of each calendar month. Interest rates on
these bonds during fiscal 2004 have ranged from 1.15% to 1.85%. These bonds are secured by a Letter of Credit.

The Temroc Industrial Development Revenue Bonds were obtained as part of the acquisition of Temroc.
These bonds are due in annual installments through October 2012. Interest is payable semi-annually at fixed rates
from 4.5% to 5.6% depending on maturity (average rate of 5.1% over the term of the bonds). These bonds are
secured by a mortgage on Temroc's land and building.

Aggregate maturities of long-term debt at October 31, 2004, are as follows (in thousands):

2005 e e $ 456

2000 .t b b eans 509

2007 oot 455

2008 ..ot 460

2000 ..o e 474

. Thereafler......cooviiirciee et 128,598
TO AL et $130,952

11. Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits

The Company has a number of retirement plans covering substantially all employees. The Company
provides both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. In general, the plant or location of his/her
employment determines an employee's coverage for retirement benefits.

Defined Benefit Plans

The single employer defined benefit pension plans pay benefits to employees at retirement using formulas
based upon years of service and either compensation rates near retirement or a flat dollar multiplier, as applicable.
The Company's funding policy is generally to make the minimum annual contributions required by applicable
regulations. In fiscal 2004, the Company made voluntary contributions in excess of the minimum contribution
totaling $4.9 million towards the 2003 plan year. As a result of the voluntary contributions made to the 2003 plan
year, there is no minimum contribution required to be made for the 2004 plan year.

The Company also provides certain healthcare and life insurance benefits for eligible retired employees
employed prior to January 1, 1993. Certain employees may become eligible for those benefits if they reach
normal retirement age while working for the Company. The Company continues to fund benefit costs on a pay-as-
you-go basis. For fiscal year 2004, the Company made benefit payments totaling $0.6 million, compared to $0.4
million and $0.5 million in fiscal 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 was signed into law on
December 8, 2003. This Act introduces a Medicare prescription-drug benefit beginning in 2006 as well as a
federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care plans that provide a benefit at least "actuarially equivalent" to the
Medicare benefit. Management has concluded that the Company's plans are at least "actuarially equivalent" to the
Medicare benefit and for less than 50% of covered retirees. The Company has included the federal subsidy from
the Act for those eligible prospectively as of August 1, 2004. The resulting reduction to the benefit obligation was
$0.3 million for the year ended October 31, 2004, and the impact to net periodic pension cost and to benefits paid
in future years is not expected to be material.

The Company uses an October 31 measurement date for its defined benefit plans. The following provides
a reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan assets and funded status of these plans:

Pension Postretirement
Benefits Benefits
October 31,
2004 2003 2004 2003

(In thousands)

Change in Benefit Obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year'........ $52,516  $43,583 $6,893  $8,434
SEIVICE COSt .oviviereiieerie et 3,900 2,915 99 100
Interest Cost ..ovviiiiiiiiicne v 3,292 2,922 443 417
Amendments..........occoeeeiveerinnninie e 190 487 — —
Actuarial 1088 (gain) .....ccooevvrvrierieie e 5,727 4,112 997 (1,613)
Benefits paid......ccooovviieeniiiee (1,487) (1,021) (590) (445)
AdMInISIrative eXpenses. ..........ooovrrroooo. (650) (482) _ — ()

Benefit obligation at end of year'™ ................. $63,488  $52,516 $7.842  $6,893

Change in Plan Assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year.  $32,871  $28,427
Actual return on plan assets...........ocoeveernnn. 4,942 4,429
Employer contributions.......c....cccocevvreviecnnn. 7,172 1,518
Benefits paid........cccoovviericeeciiiiiieeee e (1,487) (1,021)

Administrative eXpenses...........coevecerieeernnnn, (650) (482)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year ........... $42,848 §32,871
Funded Status........cccooeiivireiiinieene, $(20,640) $(19,645) $(7,842) $(6,893)

(1) For the pension benefit plans, the benefit obligation is the projected benefit obligation. For other retiree benefit plans, the
benefit obligation is the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation.
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Pension Postretirement
Benefits Benefits
October 31,
2004 2003 2004 2003

(In thousands)

Calculation of Net Amount Recognized

Funded status at end of year ..........cccocevreins $(20,640)  $(19,645) $(7,842) $(6,893)
Unrecognized transition asset..........ccoeovecrvennns (49) (158) — —
Unrecognized prior S€rvice Cost .....covevvervennnne 1,579 1,599 (479) (537)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss (gain)............ 18,536 15,405 611 (385)
OthET (ot — 5 (35) (30)
Net amount recognized ..........cccervrerveeenenns § (574  § (2,794 $(7,745) §(7,845)
Classification of Net Amount Recognized
Deferred pension credit..........ccoveveiveriecnnnnn § (9,561) $(10,358) $(7,745) $(7,845)
Intangible aSSet.......c.coveevviiieieieeccee e 1,579 1,599 — —
Accumulated other comprehensive income.... 7,408 5,965 —_ —
Net amount recognized .........covevrvevrerierannnee § (374) §$ (2,794 $(7,745) $(7,845)

Below is data related to pension plans in which the accumulated benefit obligation exceeds plan assets.

Pension Postretirement
Benefits Benefits
. Qctober 31,
2004 2003 2004 2003
(In thousands)
Accumulated benefit obligation.............ccee..e. $ 52,397 £43,234 $ 7.842 $6,893
Fair value of plan assets........ccccoierneriiinccne, 42,848 32,871 — —
Components of the net periodic benefit cost were as follows:
Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
Qctober 31,
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)
SEIVICE COStuuuiiiieiiieicieee sttt e, $ 3900 § 2915 §$ 2,170 $ 99 $100 $102
INEEIEST COSL.riiiiiniiiiiiies e et ree e eiaee i 3,292 2,922 2,617 443 417 560
Expected return on plan assets .........c.ccceveeveene, (3,133) (2,444) (2,044) — — —
Amortization of unrecognized transition asset....  (108) (111 (111) 58y (155) (34)
Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost 210 193 163 — — —
Amortization of unrecognized net loss................ 786 677 263 — — —
00110 ST — — 2) — — —
Net periodic Pension COSt ....uovvrierirerrrerenes $ 4947 $ 4,152 §$ 3,056 $484 §362 § 608
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The Company determines its actuarial assumptions on an annual basis. The assumptions for the pension
benefit and postretirement benefits calculations, as well as assumed health care cost trend rates, for the years
ended October 31, are as follows:

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
October 31,
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
DISCOUNE TALE.......ovveeeieiii ettt 5.75% 6.25% 6.75% 575% 6.25% 6.75%
Expected return on plan assets..........ccocevevercerenenens 8.50% 8.50% 8.50% — — —
Rate of compensation inCrease ...........ovvrrerrernennn, 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% — — —
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year... — — — 9.00% 9.00% 6.92%
Ultimate trend 1ate ......ooveiveeeceree e, — — — 4.50% 4.50% 4.75%
Year rate reaches ultimate trend rate ..............ccco...., — — — 2009 2009 2008

Several factors are considered in developing the estimate for the long-term expected rate of return on plan
assets, including historical rates of retum on broad equity and bond indices and projected long-term rates of return
from pension investment consultants.

Assumed health care cost trend rates could have an effect on the amounts reported for post retirement
benefit plans. A one-percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following
effects:

One One
Percent Percent
Increase  Decrease

(In thousands)

Effect on total service and interest cost components........ $ 0 $ 9
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation..................... 195 (176)

The Company’s target allocation for the year ending October 31, 2004 and actual asset allocation by asset
category as of October 31, 2004 and 2003, are as follows:

Actual Allocation at

October 31,
Target
Allocation 2004 2003
Equity SECUTIHIES. .....iievveeireceeiieeeeeie et 70% 70% 72%
Debt SECUTTHIES. .cvvoviiiievieiric et 30% 30% 28%

The Company's investment objective for defined benefit plan assets is to meet the plans’' benefit
obligations, while minimizing the potential for future required Company plan contributions. The investment
strategies focus on asset class diversification, liquidity to meet benefit payments and an appropriate balance of
long-term investment return and risk. Target ranges for asset allocations are determined by matching the actuarial
projections of the plans' future liabilities and benefit payments with expected long-term rates of return on the
assets, taking into account investment return volatility and correlations across asset classes. Plan assets are
diversified across several investment managers and are generally invested in liquid funds that are selected to track
broad market equity and bond indices. Investment risk is carefully controlled with plan assets rebalanced to target
allocations on a periodic basis and continual monitoring of investment managers performance relative to the
investment guidelines established with each investment manager.
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Management's best estimate of its cash requirements for the pension benefit plans and postretirement
benefit plans for the year ending October 31, 2005 is $0.3 million and $0.6 million, respectively. For the pension
benefit plans, this is comprised of expected contributions to the plan, whereas for postretirement benefit plans,
this is comprised of expected contributions that will be used directly for benefit payments. Expected contributions
are dependent on many variables, including the variability of the market value of the assets as compared to the
obligation and other market or regulatory conditions. In addition, the Company takes into consideration its
business investment opportunities and resulting cash requirements. Accordingly, actual funding may differ greatly
from current estimates.

Total benefit payments expected to be paid to participants, which include payments funded from the
Company's assets, as discussed above, as well as payments paid from the plans are as follows:

Pension Postretirement
Years Ended October 31, Benefits Benefits

(In thousands)

Expected Benefit Payments

2005 . $ 1,254 $ 577
2006 ..o 1,409 595
2007 oo 1,611 606
2008 ..o 1,837 608
2009 .. 2,197 613
2010 -2014 ..t $ 17,833 $ 3,029

Defined Contribution Plans

The Company also has defined contribution plans to which both employees and the Company make
contributions. The Company contributed approximately $6.3 million, $5.5 million and $5.5 million to these plans
in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. At October 31, 2004, assets of the defined contribution plans
included shares of the Company’s common stock with a market value of approximately $8.2 million, which
represented approximately 5.1% of the total fair market value of the assets in the Company’s defined contribution
plans.

Other
Quanex has a Supplemental Benefit Plan covering certain key officers of the Company. Earned vested
benefits under the Supplemental Benefit Plan were approximately $1.2 million, $0.7 million and $2.2 million at

October 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. These benefits are funded with life insurance policies purchased
by the Company.
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12. Industry Segment Information

The Company reports segment information in accordance with SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.” SFAS No. 131 requires that the Company disclose certain
information about its operating segments where operating segments are defined as “components of an enterprise
about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision
maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.” Generally, financial information is
required to be reported on the basis that it is used internally for evaluating segment performance and deciding
how to allocate resources to segments.

Beginning in 2002, Quanex began reporting under two market focused segments, the Vehicular Products
segment and the Building Products segment. Corporate and other includes corporate office charges, intersegment
eliminations and LIFO inventory adjustments.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies, with the exception of the inventory valuation method. Quanex measures its inventory at the
segment level on a FIFO basis, however at the consolidated Quanex level, the majority of the inventory is
measured on a LIFO basis. See Note 6 to the financial statements for more information. The Company accounts
for intersegment sales and transfers as though the sales or transfers were to third parties, that is, at current market
prices.
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For the years ended October 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, no one customer represented 10% or more of the .

Net Sales:
)

Vehicular Products'’ ....oovvevevieenen,

@03

Building Products™ ...
Consolidated..........coovvenccinncnns

Operating Income (Loss):
(1)

Vehicular Products'™” .........oooveeeenen.

23

Building Products™ ...
Corporate & Other........cccoveeeevvveennnens
Consolidated ........cccoeveerreinrennnnn.

Depreciation and Amortization:

(0]

Vehicular Products' ™ .oovvveeeveveeeeen

@3

Building Products™ ..o
Corporate & Other.........ccoevvveenennn.
Consolidated.........cccooeveeeniiennnnee.

Capital Expenditures:®
M

Vehicular Products'” .......oocovevvvevee,

23

Building Products'™ ...
Corporate & Other.........ccocove e
Consolidated...........ccccomiiivnrcncne.

Identifiable Assets:
1)

Vehicular Products'™” ......ccoevververenn.

23)

Building Products™ ...
Corporate & Other.........cccconvvnnenne
Discontinued Operations®™ ...............

Consolidated ........ccocoveernivnninnnee

Goodwill, Net:
(1)

Vehicular Products'” .....cccooovevvernen.

(2)(3)

Building Products™*.......ccccovrinnee
Consolidated.........coocecvevvecreriennne,

M
@
3)
)
()

For the Years Ended October 31,

2004° 2003® 2002°
(In thousands)

.................................... $ 817,740 $ 413,293 $ 387,254
.................................... 642,528 484,904 466,176
.................................... $1,460,268 $ 898,197 $ 853,430
.................................... $ 74,377 $ 53,302 $ 56,787
.................................... 63,175 32,394 35,954
.................................... (38,141) (20,061) (12,291)
.................................... $ 99,411 $ 65,635 $ 80,450
.................................... $ 31,589 $ 25876 $ 24,021
.................................... 18,194 14,732 14,568
.................................... 271 377 525
.................................... $ 50,054 $ 40,985 $ 39,114
.................................... $ 8430 $ 13,729 $ 21,199
.................................... 11,000 11,509 10,061
.................................... 112 133 118
.................................... $ 19,542 $ 25371 $ 31,378
.................................... $ 475,491 $ 315,757 $ 321,132
.................................... 378,688 245312 253,167
.................................... 39,432 36,467 42,106
.................................... 35911 85,578 96,415
.................................... $ 929,522 $ 683,114 $ 712,820
.................................... $ 13,496 $ 13,496 $ 13,496
.................................... 121,174 52,940 52,940
........................................ $ 134,670 $ 66436 $ 66,436

Fiscal 2004 includes MACSTEEL Monroe as of January 1, 2004.
Fiscal 2004 includes TruSeal as of January 1, 2004.

Includes COLONIAL CRAFT aoperations since the acquisition date of February 12, 2002. See Note 2 to the financial statements.

Includes capitalized interest.

Piper Impact and Nichols Aluminum — Golden are included in discontinued operations for all periods.
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Net Sales by Product Information Years Ended October 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)

Net Sales
Engineered Steel Bars .........cccooovioveiiieieieieesecennei $ 795,370 $ 393,505 $ 365,393
Aluminum Mill Sheet Products........cc.oovvvvvvveiieecrirre e, 402,345 328,481 315,182
Window and Door Components...........cccecveevreeeeiveeinnnenenn 240,183 156,423 150,994
Extruded and Fabricated Products.......ccccovveiieicniccininnr e 22,370 19,788 21,861

TOAL oo e e $1,460,268 $ 898,197 $ 853,430
Geographic Information Years Ended October 31,

2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)

Net Sales
Unifed States ....ooovviieicie e $1,360,467 $ 845,057 $ 806,683
IMEXICO. .ottt ciieietee et ettt e sre et et s ettt sar e tbe s aee b e aenaas 43,935 22,036 19,242
CanAA. ...t 47,254 26,354 23,759
ASIAN COUNITIES ..o ireeeees et s e eeeee et eer e e s et e e st 4,485 46 14
EUropean COUNTICS ....cccveveriiireeerienis e sieseareieennenreseesresiessnennas 3,554 4,168 3,533
Other foreign COUNLIIES.......covvveeeriireicicrrrc e 573 536 199

TOLAL ottt ettt a et eaes $1,460,268 $ 898,197 $ 853,430

Net sales by geographic region is attributed to countries based on the location of the customer. Operations
of the Company and all identifiable assets are located in the United States.

13. Stockholders’ Equity

The Company’s authorized capital stock consists of 50,000,000 shares of Common Stock, par value $0.50
per share, and 1,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, no par value. As of October 31, 2004 and 2003, there were no
shares of Preferred Stock issued or outstanding.

The Company declared a dividend in 1986 of one Preferred Stock Purchase Right (a “Right”) on each
outstanding share of its common stock. This action was intended to assure that all shareholders would receive fair
treatment in the event of a proposed takeover of the Company. On April 26, 1989, the Company amended the
Rights to provide for additional protection to sharcholders and to provide the Board of Directors of the Company
with needed flexibility in responding to abusive takeover tactics. On April 15, 1999, the Second Amended and
Restated Rights Agreement went into effect. Each Right, when exercisable, entitles the holder to purchase
1/1,000th of a share of the Company's Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $90.
Each 1/1,000th of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock will be entitled to a dividend equal to
the greater of $.01 or the dividend declared on each share of common stock, and will be entitled to 1/1,000th of a
vote, voting together with the shares of common stock. The Rights will be exercisable only if, without the
Company's prior consent, a person or group of persons acquires or announces the intention to acquire 20% or
more of the Company's common stock. If the Company is acquired through a merger or other business
combination transaction, each Right will entitle the holder to purchase $120 worth of the surviving company's
common stock for $90. Additionally, if someone acquires 20% or more of the Company's common stock, each
Right not owned by the 20% or greater shareholder would permit the holder to purchase $120 worth of the
Company's common stock for $90. The Rights are redeemable, at the option of the Company, at $.02 per Right at
any time until ten days after someone acquires 20% or more of the common stock. The Rights expire April 15,
2009.
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As a result of the Rights distribution, 150,000 of the 1,000,000 shares of authorized Preferred Stock were
reserved for issuance as Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock.

On December 2, 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a three-for-two stock split in the
form of a stock dividend. The stock split is to be distributed on December 31, 2004 to all holders of record on
December 17, 2004. All references in the accompanying consolidated financial statements to weighted average
numbers of shares outstanding, per share amounts, Stock Repurchase Program and Treasury Stock, and Restricted
Stock and Stock Option Plans share data are presented without taking into account the impact of such stock split.
See Note 5, Earnings Per Share, for a proforma presentation of the impact of such stock split.

14. Stock Repurchase Program and Treasury Stock

On December 5, 2002, the Board of Directors approved a program to purchase up to a total of 1 million
shares of its common stock in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions. During the year ended
October 31, 2003, the Company repurchased 438,600 shares at a cost of approximately $13.5 million. These
shares were placed in treasury. During the year ended October 31, 2003, 161,677 of these shares were used for the
exercise of options and other compensation plans, leaving 294,803 shares in treasury stock with a remaining
carrying value of approximately $9.2 million.

On August 26, 2004, The Board of Directors authorized the Company to reload its stock buyback
program, increasing the existing authorization up to 1 million shares. During the year ended October 31, 2004, all
of the shares in treasury stock at the beginning of the year were used through stock option exercises and other
compensation plans. There were no repurchases during fiscal 2004 and at October 31, 2004, there were no shares
in treasury stock.

15. Restricted Stock and Stock Option Plans
Key Employee and Non-Employee Director Plans

The Company has restricted stock and stock option plans which provide for the granting of common
shares or stock options to key employees and non-employee directors.

Restricted Stock Plans

Under the Company's restricted stock plans, common stock may be awarded to key employees, officers
and non-employee directors. The recipient is entitled to all of the rights of a shareholder, except that during the
forfeiture period the shares are nontransferable. The awards vest over a specified time period. Upon issuance of
stock under the plan, unearned compensation equal to the market value at the date of grant is charged to
stockholders' equity and subsequently amortized to expense over the restricted period. There were 33,300, 3,000
and 0 restricted shares granted in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The amount charged to compensation
expense in 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $0.3 million, $0.3 million and $0.5 million, respectively, relating to
amortization of restricted stock granted in 2004 and prior years. In December 2004, subsequent to the fiscal year
ended October 31, 2004, the Company granted 27,400 restricted shares to certain officers and directors.
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Stock Option Plans

Under the Company's option plans, options are granted at prices determined by the Board of Directors
which may not be less than the fair market value of the shares at the time the options are granted. Unless
otherwise provided by the Board of Directors at the time of grant, options become exercisable in one-third
increments maturing cumulatively on each of the first through third anniversaries of the date of grant and must be
exercised no later than ten years from the date of grant. Effective December 5, 2002, the 1996 Employee Plan (the
“1996 Plan”) was amended to add non-employee Directors as eligible participants. This amendment also
increased the number of shares available for options and restricted stock awards under the 1996 Plan by 1,200,000
shares. There were 1,114,254, 1,348,633 and 391,597 shares available for granting of options at October 31,
2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. The exercise price for the outstanding options as of October 31, 2004 ranged
from $18.19 to $50.70 per share. '

Stock option transactions for the three years ended October 31, 2004, were as follows:

Shares Shares Under Average Price
Exercisable Option Per Share
Balance at October 31, 2001 .........ccoveiernenn 1,291,129 1,910,304 $23
Granted.......ccoeeveiieiicieee e 15,000 36
EXercised .....ocovvviveiriiiicie e (1,085,250) 23
Cancelled/Lapsed ......c..ccooovvveevirvenvercviennene (18,452) 22
Balance at October 31,2002 ........ccccceovvevneene. 489,366 821,602 $23
Granted.......ooeceeierieniece e 285,500 32
Exercised ..c...coocvviiiiiicie e (180,936) 22
Cancelled/Lapsed ....cccooevvevvencecniiircnne (45,536) 27
Balance at October 31,2003 .........ccoooevvenennn. 504,535 880,630 $25
Granted.......coooveeveeciiieeeeeeee e 219,600 $41
EXercised .....cooveevveieciieeeie e (354,845) 23
Cancelled/Lapsed ........ccccovecvnniieniinnicneens (13,471) 35
Balance at October 31,2004 .............cooeenene 371,262 731,914 $31

The weighted average contractual life of the 731,914 shares under option was 7.8 years at October 31,
2004. In December 2004, subsequent to the fiscal year ended October 31, 2004, the Company granted 208,550
options to certain officers and employees at an average exercise price of $59.20 per share.
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Non-Employee Director Plans
The Company has various non-employee Director Plans, which are described below:
1989 Non-Employee Directors Plan

The Company's 1989 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan provides for the granting of stock
options to non-employee Directors to purchase up to an aggregate of 210,000 shares of common stock. Each non-
employee Director as of December 6, 1989 was granted an option to purchase 3,000 shares of common stock at a
price per share of common stock equal to the fair market value of the common stock as of the date of grant. Also,
each non-employee Director who was a director of the Company on any subsequent October 31, while the plan
was in effect and shares were available for the granting of options, was granted an option to purchase 3,000 shares
of common stock at a price equal to the fair market value of the common stock at the time of the grant. During
1998, the Board of Directors passed a resolution, which decreased the number of options to be granted annually as
prescribed above from 3,000 to 2,000. Options become exercisable at any time commencing six months after the
grant and must be exercised no later than 10 years from the date of grant. No option may be granted under the
plan after December 5, 1999. There were no shares available for granting of options at October 31, 2004, 2003 or
2002. The exercise price of the options outstanding as of October 31, 2004 ranged from $16.88 to $28.50.

Stock option transactions for the three years ended October 31, 2004, were as follows:

Shares Shares Under Average Price
Exercisable Option Per Share
Balance at October 31, 2001 .....c..cocovvvivrienns 115,000 115,000 $24
Granted ........coooevveeiiie e — —
Exercised .....ocoovveveiinmeerenneneerene e (51,000) 23
Cancelled ......coooovvviiviiiicri e (3.,000) 19
Balance at October 31,2002 .....c..cccoeerenennann. 61,000 61,000 $25
Granted........cooovvvveviieeieie e — —
EXEICiSed ...ovveverevieerieieiieneeieese e v, (11,000) 22
Cancelled.......c.ocoveerecieieiiiie e, — —
Balance at October 31,2003 .......co.oeovveivrninne 50,000 50,000 $25
Granted........cccovveevieiieeeeeie e — —
EXercised .....cc.ooevevienininieiceienncreiecniene (18,000) 25
Cancelled.......ccooveeeveieeeieiiece e, — —
Balance at October 31,2004 .........c..ccoeoennne. 32,000 32,000 $25

The weighted average contractual life of the 32,000 shares under option was 3.1 years at October 31, 2004.
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1997 Non-Employee Directors Plan

The Company's 1997 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan provided for the granting of stock
options to non-employee Directors to purchase up to an aggregate of 400,000 shares of common stock. On
December 5, 2002, the Company elected to terminate future grants of options under this plan. There were two
types of grants under this plan which are described as follows:

Automatic Annual Grants

While this plan was in effect and shares were still available for the granting of options, each non-
employee Director who was a director of the Company on October 31 and who had not received options under the
1989 Non-Employee Director Plan, was granted on October 31 an option to purchase shares of common stock as
determined by the Board of Directors at a price equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date of
grant. These options were exercisable in full immediately upon the date of grant.

New Director Grants

While this plan was in effect and shares were still available for the granting of options to each non-
employee Director who was not granted an option under the 1987 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan was
granted an option to purchase shares of common stock as determined by the Board of Directors upon serving as a
director of the Company for a period of one year. These options become exercisable in one-third increments
maturing cumulatively on each of the first through third anniversaries of the date of the grant and must be
exercised no later than 10 years from the date of grant.

There were 0, 0 and 332,000 shares available for granting of options at October 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The exercise price of the options outstanding as of October 31, 2004 ranged from $18.25 to $35.85.
Stock option transactions for the three years ended October 31, 2004, were as follows:

Shares Shares Under Average Price

Exercisable Option Per Share
Balance at October 31, 2001 .....ccoovvivririnenns 44,666 50,000 $22
Granted.......ccocvvvvevrvieeieeeeeeeee e 18,000 36
EXEercised .......ccoveveniirieiie e (15,000) 2]
Cancelled........cccocoeeeviiieiieeecee e — —
Balance at October 31, 2002 .......ccevvenvreennnee. 47,000 53,000 $27
Granted ......coevvvvie e — —
Exercised ......ccoooiviiiiniiiiiec e (6,000) 18
Cancelled ..., — —
Balance at October 31,2003 ........cccoooveeveennnane. 43,000 47,000 $28
Granted ....o..oooeveevvenreeeeieeeecee et e — —
Exercised ......oocovevveciinieiniceee e (6,000) 26
Cancelled.......cc.ooveiiiiiii e, — —
Balance at October 31,2004 .........ccovvveeenene. 39,000 41,000 $28

The weighted average contractual life of the 41,000 shares under option was 6.9 years at October 31,
2004.
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The following table summarizes the range of exercise prices and the weighted average remaining
contractual life of the options outstanding and exercisable for all plans at October 31, 2004.

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Weighted Average Weighted
Average Remaining Average
Options Exercise Contractual Options Exercise
QOutstanding Price Life (Yrs) Exercisable Price
Ranges of Exercise Prices:
$16.88-525.00....cciciniiiieciene 149,869 § 18.89 4.5 149,869 $ 18.89
§25.01 - 835.00.cccciciiii e, 405,745 29.34 6.4 242,393 27.71
$35.01 - $50.70.....ociiiiiicen 249,300 40.78 9.0 50,000 42.34
Total .o 804,914 $ 3094 6.5 442,262 . § 2637
16. Financial Instruments and Risk Management

Effective November 1, 2000, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS No. 138, which requires the Company to measure all
derivatives at fair value and to recognize them in the balance sheet as an asset or liability, depending on the
Company's rights or obligations under the applicable derivative contract. If certain conditions are met, a derivative
may be specifically designated as (a) a hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or
liability or an unrecognized firm commitment, (b) a hedge of the exposure to variable cash flows of a forecasted
transaction, or (c)a hedge of the foreign currency exposure of a net investment in a foreign operation, an
unrecognized firm commitment, an available-for-sale security, or a foreign-currency-denominated forecasted
transaction. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative depends on the intended use of the
derivative and the resulting designation.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities.” SFAS No. 149 amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative
instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts (collectively referred to as
“derivatives”) and for hedging activities under SFAS No. 133. The provisions of this statement are effective for
contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003, with certain exceptions. Adoption did not result in a
material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

In fiscal 1996, the Company entered into interest rate swap agreements, which effectively converted
$100.0 million of its variable rate debt under the $250 million Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement dated
July 1996 (the “Bank Agreement Revolver”) to fixed rate. The Company's risk management policy related to
these swap agreements is to hedge the exposure to interest rate movements on a portion of its long-term debt.
Under the swap agreements, payments are made based on a fixed rate ($50.0 million at 7.025% and $50.0 million
at 6.755%) and received on a LIBOR based variable rate (1.82% at October 31, 2002). Differentials to be paid or
received under the agreements are recognized as interest expense. The agreements matured in 2003. The
Company has designated the interest rate swap agreements as cash flow hedges of future interest payments on its
variable rate debt under the Bank Agreement Revolver.
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The fair value of the swaps as of October 31, 2002 was a loss of $4.0 million, which is recorded in other
current liabilities. Gains and losses related to the swap agreements were reclassified into earnings in the periods in
which the related hedged interest payments were made. Gains and losses on these agreements, including amounts
recorded related to hedge ineffectiveness, are reflected in “Interest expense” in the income statement. Net losses
of $157,000 and $386,000 were recorded as interest expense in the years ended October 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, representing the amount of the hedge's ineffectiveness. No loss was recognized in fiscal 2004. No
components of the swap instruments' losses were excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness.

Discontinuance of cash flow hedge: Based on future cash flow projections that were prepared during the
second fiscal quarter period ended April 30, 2002, it was determined that it was probable that the Company would
pay down its variable rate debt under the Bank Agreement Revolver to approximately $65.0 million by the end of
fiscal 2003. Based on these projections, a portion of the future projected cash flow being hedged (interest
payments) would not occur. Therefore, during the period ended April 30, 2002, the Company discontinued hedge
accounting under SFAS No. 133 for $35.0 million of the interest swap agreement and reclassified the related
portion of other comprehensive income, a loss of $1.3 million to interest expense. Additionally, during the fourth
guarter ended October 31, 2002, the timing of the finalization of the new bank agreement was determined.

With the execution of the Bank Agreement in November 2002, the interest rate swaps no longer qualified
as a hedge. As a result, the Company discontinued hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133 on the swaps after the
effective date of the Bank Agreement and reclassified the related portion of other comprehensive income ($2.1
million) to interest expense in the fiscal quarter and year ended October 31, 2002.

The interest rate swap agreements were effective until July 29, 2003 and the final interest settlernent
payment was made at that time. As of October 31, 2003, there were no open swap agreement contracts and
therefore no asset or lability reflected on the balance sheet. A net loss of $2,000 was recorded in interest expense
in the year ended October 31, 2003, representing the change in the fair market value of the swap agreements since
October 31, 2002. '

Other Financial Assets and Liabilities

The fair values of the Company's financial assets approximate the carrying values reported on the
consolidated balance sheet. The fair value and carrying value of long-term debt was $130.9 million and
$19.8 million, as of October 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The fair value of long-term debt was based on the
quoted market price, recent transactions, or based on rates available to the Company for instruments with similar
terms and maturities.
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17. Leases

Quanex has operating leases for certain real estate and equipment. Rental expense for the years ended
October 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $3.6 million, $2.2 million and $2.2 million, respectively.

Future minimum payments as of October 31, 2004, by year and in the aggregate under operating leases
having non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year were as follows (in thousands):

Operating

Leases

2005 e $ 3,061
2006 ... 1,938
2007 e 1,493
2008 . 935
2009 .., 658
Thereafter ....c..oovvvvvviiiee, 275
Total oo $ 8,360

18. Contingencies
Environmental

Quanex is subject to loss contingencies arising from federal, state, and local environmental laws.
Environmental expenditures are expensed or capitalized depending on their future economic benefit. The
Company accrues its best estimates of its remediation obligations and adjusts such accruals as further information
and circumstances develop. Those estimates may change substantially depending on information about the nature
and extent of contamination, appropriate remediation technologies, the effectiveness of cleanups, and regulatory
approvals. Costs of future expenditures for environmental remediation are not discounted to their present value
unless the amount and timing of the expenditures are fixed or reliably determinable. When environmental laws
might be deemed to impose joint and several liability for the costs of responding to contamination, or when
multiple parties otherwise may have responsibility for environmental matters, the Company accrues its allocable
share of liability taking into account the number of parties participating, their ability to pay their shares, the
volumes and nature of the wastes involved, the nature of anticipated response actions, and the nature of the
parties’ alleged connections. It is management’s opinion that the Company has established appropriate reserves
for environmental remediation obligations at its plant sites and disposal facilities. Those amounts are not
expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition.

Total remediation reserves at October 31, 2004 were approximately $8.5 million. These reserves include,
without limitation, the Company’s best estimate of liabilities related to costs for further investigations,
environmental remediation, and corrective actions related to the acquisition of Piper Impact, the acquisition of
Nichols Aluminum-Alabama, and the Company’s former Tubing Operations. Of the total, approximately $2.0
million represents administrative costs; the balance represents estimated costs for investigation, studies, cleanup
and treatment. On the balance sheet, $8.2 million of the remediation reserve is included in non-current liabilities
with the remainder in accrued liabilities (current).
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The total remediation reserve at October 31, 2004 is approximately $8.3 million less than the balance as
at October 31, 2003. The difference is primarily attributable to the reduction during the third quarter of fiscal
2003 in the remediation reserve for the Piper Impact division from approximately $13.3 million to approximately
$5.0 million. This reduction was based on the Company’s experience to date at the Piper Impact locations, the
Company’s decision to stop manufacturing at the Highway 15 location, and an updated technical assessment of
environmental conditions at the Piper Impact locations. The reduction of the environmental reserve for the Piper
Impact locations resulted in an after tax gain of $5.2 million, which was included in discontinued operations as it
is related to the operations of Piper Impact (see Note 19).

Approximately 60% of the total remediation reserve remains allocated to cleanup and other corrective
measures at the Piper Impact division. At present, the largest component is for remediation of groundwater
contamination from prior operators at the Highway 15 location. The Company voluntarily implemented a state-
approved remediation action plan there and continues to monitor its performance. Included in the current reserve
is the estimated cost of operating the existing groundwater remediation system at the Highway 15 location over
the next 20 years, which was discounted to a net present value using an interest rate of 3.0%. The Company has
estimated the annual cost of operating the existing system to be approximately $0.4 million and has assumed that
the existing system will continue to be effective.

The final remediation costs and the timing of the Company’s expenditures will depend upon such factors
as the nature and extent of contamination, the cleanup technologies employed, and regulatory concurrences.
While actual remediation costs therefore may be more or less than amounts accrued, management believes it has
established adequate reserves for all probable and reasonably estimable remediation liabilities. It is not possible
at this point to reasonably estimate the amount of any obligation for remediation in excess of current accruals that
would be material to Quanex's financial statements because of uncertainties as to the extent of environmental
impact, cleanup technologies, and concurrence of governmental authorities. The Company currently expects to
pay the accrued remediation reserve through at least fiscal 2024, although some of the same factors discussed
earlier could accelerate or extend the timing.

Tax Liability

The Company has a case in Tax Court regarding the disallowance of a capital loss realized in 1997 and
1998. During 2004, the Company made a tax payment of $10.0 million related to the case. The payment was
made to curtail the running of the interest outstanding. Adequate provision had been made in prior years and the
Company believes the outcome of the case will not have a material impact on its financial position or results of
operations.
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Other

From time to time, the Company and its subsidiaries are involved in various litigation matters arising in
the ordinary course of their business. Although the ultimate resolution and impact of such litigation on the
Company is not presently determinable, the Company’s management believes that the eventual outcome of such
litigation will not have a material adverse effect on the overall financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows of the Company.

19. Discontinued Operations

The Company classified Piper Impact and Nichols Aluminum — Golden as held for sale in the third
quarter and fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004, respectively. Piper Impact was historically included in the
Company's Vehicular Products segment, while Nichols Aluminum — Golden was included in the Building
Products segment. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets," the results of operations, financial position and cash flows of both Piper Impact and Nichols Aluminum -
Golden have been reflected in the consolidated financial statements and notes as a discontinued operation for ail
periods presented. The Company received a Letter of Intent for Piper Impact from a potential buyer and is
currently in the process of negotiating terms. The Company believes Piper Impact will be sold within one year.
Nichols Aluminum — Golden was sold on September 30, 2004,

The $3.1 million loss from discontinued operations for the year ended October 31, 2004 includes a $0.6
million loss on the sale of Nichols Aluminum — Golden and net charges of $3.5 million related to Piper Impact.
The net non-cash charges consist of an $8.8 million after-tax asset write down to fair market value and a $5.2
million after-tax reduction of the environmental remediation reserve (see Note 18) as a result of the reduced
operating status of Piper Impact’s Highway 15 operating facility.

Comparative balance sheets of the discontinued operations were as follows:

October 31, October 31,

2004 2003
(In thousands)

Accounts and notes receivable, NEL .........ccccveeviviveieiiriciicre e $ 2,658 $ 19,176
TVEINLOTIES .. ittt et e ettt sere e s e e s e tb e e s st r e s enaressstereesentasesonaneas 2,695 10,696
Deferred INCOME tAXES ... .cciiiiieiriieeieteciieetie et eeee e erescteeeeraeeeresenveesesensnreannnas 492 1,046
OThEr CUITENE BSSELS ...veivvieiviiiireietieie et eereeetreeeres e e ebrestessabeebreebeseressenssesssseersrens 3,914 968
TOtal CUITENE ASSELS ....ovviveeieeieictiee e eeee e e see et e e et e e seeereeeaseesiraeerseesenns 9,759 31,886

Property, plant and equipment, NEt.........c..ceevrreriirierine et e 10,796 37,171
OLhET ASSELS .oovvviiiciiii ettt ettt e et e s eraes e saeeeesaesssesresestatesssnbreesabeesesanrssenntne 15,354 16,871

$ 35909 $§ 85928

ACCOUNES PAYVADIE ....eovieeiiiitiie ettt $ 1,763 $§ 8,644
ACCTUCH IADIIILIES ..ottt ee st eeetb e e saes e e s sae e e sreneesias 1,997 5,445
Other current HabilItIEs. .......cccveiivivieireeeeeee ettt essabee s senee s 342 182
Total current Habilities........cccoeevivveiiieiiiieec ettt reree e 4,102 14,271

Other HADIIHES .....oiovie ittt ettt ettt s e s s et a s 423 542
TOtAl HADIHTIES «..veiiieisie ettt et e s etbe s stan e ia e e senssans e $ 4,525 § 14,813
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Operating results of the discontinued operations were as follows:

Years ended October 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)

Net sales. .o $112,557  $133,018  $140,957
Income (Loss) from discontinued operations...... 1,567 (1,830) 2,850
Loss on sale of discontinued operations............... (6,436) — —
Income tax benefit (eXpense)..........occcevvrvvnerenn. 1,737 714 (1,112)
Income (loss) from discontinued
operations, net of taxes.......c..coecceveverenenn. $ (3,132) § (1,116) § 1,738

20. Subsequent Events

On December 2, 2004, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized an annual dividend increase of
$0.05 per common share outstanding, increasing the annual dividend from $0.76 to $0.81. In a separate action,
the Board of Directors declared a three-for-two stock split in the form of a 50% stock dividend. Both the cash
dividend and stock dividend are effective with shareholders of record on December 17, 2004, and are payable on
December 31, 2004,

On December 9, 2004, Quanex Corporation completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding stock,
through a subsidiary merger, of Mikron Industries, Inc. (“Mikron™), a privately-held Washington corporation.
Mikron, an industry-leading manufacturer of engineered vinyl and thermoplastic alloy composite
(MikronWood™) window components, window coverings and door components, serves the residential building
and remodeling markets. Headquartered in the Seattle suburb of Kent, WA, Mikron operates modern and highly
automated extrusion facilities located in the Kent area; Winnebago, IL; and Richmond, KY. Mikron’s 2004
revenues are approximately $215 million. Mikron will be integrated into the Company’s Building Products
segment.
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Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following sets forth the selected quarterly information for the years ended October 31, 2004 and

2003.
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
{In thousands except per share amounts)
2004:
NEE SALES ..ottt beae et $252,007 $372912 $403,017 $432,332
Income from continuing Operations ............c.cee.-.. 6,647 10,788 20,502 19,662
NEt INCOME 1.overeieeeieeieer e 6,427 11,544 17,758 18,738
Earnings per share:
Basic earnings from continuing operations ...... $0.41 $0.66 $1.25 $1.19
Diluted earnings from continuing operations... 0.40 0.65 1.23 1.17
Basic earnings per share...........cccocevvevieeeennese. 0.39 0.70 1.08 1.13
Diluted earnings per share..........c...ocooeverennnnen 0.39 0.69 1.06 1.12
2003:
NEE SALES ..ovrveiiieiiieii ettt $198,470 $220,046 $228,139  §251,542
Income from continuing operations ..................... 7,325 9,481 14,397 12,800
NEt ICOME 1.t . 6,783 9,365 13,623 13,116
Earnings per share: .
Basic earnings from continuing operations....... $0.45 $0.59 $0.90 $0.80 '
Diluted earnings from continuing operations... 0.44 0.58 0.89 0.78
Basic earnings per share............cccovrevecnnnenenen 0.41 0.58 0.85 0.82
Diluted earnings per share............cccoocvvrvenenne. 0.41 0.58 0.84 0.80

SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at Charged to Balance at
Beginning  Costs & End
Description of Year Expenses  Write-offs Other of Year

(In thousands)

Allowance for doubtful accounts:

Year ended October 31,2004 ................. $6,829 $1,168 $ (734) $(381) $6,882
Year ended October 31, 2003 ................. 6,425 677 (280) 7 6,829
Year ended October 31, 2002................. 8,087 1,513 (3,213) 38 6,425
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Quarterly Financial Results
(From Continuing Operations)

Net Sales ($ millions)

Years ended October 31,

2004 2003 2002

$ 252.0 $198.5 $171.1
372.9 220.1 212.0
403.0 228.1 2314
432.4 251.5 238.9
$1,460.3 $898.2 $853.4
$ 6.6 $ 73 $ 48
10.8 9.5 9.4
20.5 14.4 24.1
19.7 12.8 15.4
$57.6 $44.0 $ 53.7
$ 041 $ 0.45 $ 0.35
0.66 0.59 0.68
1.25 0.90 1.55
1.19 0.80 0.94
$ 3.50 $ 272 $ 3.62
$0.17 $0.17 $0.16
0.17 0.17 0.16
0.19 0.17 0.16
0.2025 0.17 0.16
$0.7325 $0.68 $ 0.64
$ 48.08 $37.55 $29.64
38.82 29.12 25.71
49.33 33.49 38.35
40.10 27.93 28.63
49.79 33.49 44.19
39.66 28.59 31.01
54.38 40.60 40.55
40.30 29.94 33.18

(1) Fiscal 2002 third quarter income from continuing operations includes a retired executive life insurance benefit of $9.0 million.

(2) Fiscal 2003 third quarter income from continuing operations includes a retired executive life insurance benefit of $2.2 million.
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Item 9. Change in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report, Quanex management, including the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, have conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of disclosure controls and
procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures are effective in ensuring that all
material information required to be filed in this annual report has been made known to them in a timely fashion.
There have been no significant changes in internal controls, or in factors that could significantly affect internal
controls, subsequent to the date the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer completed their
evaluation.

PART HI
Item 10.  Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The Company has a Code of Ethics (the “Code”) that applies to all employees, executive officers
including the chief executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer and directors of
the Company that includes provisions covering conflicts of interest, ethical conduct, compliance with applicable
government laws, rules and regulations, and accountability for adherence to the Code.

The Company’s Board of Directors has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines and charters for the
Audit, Compensation and Management Development, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees of
the Board of Directors. These documents are available on the Company’s website at www.quanex.com.

You can obtain a printed copy of any of the materials referenced above at the following address:

Quanex Corporation

1900 West Loop South, Suite 1500
Houston, TX 77027

713-961-4600

The Company’s Board of Directors has determined that at least one person serving on its Audit
Committee is an “audit committee financial expert” as defined under Item 401(h) of Regulation S-K. Mr. Barger,
Mr. Ross and Mr. Wellek, all members of the Audit Committee, are audit committee financial experts and are
independent as set forth in Item 7(d)(3)(iv) of schedule 14A under the Exchange Act. The Audit Committee is
comprised of four Directors: Mr. Barger, Mr. Ross, Mr. Wellek and Mr. Flaum.

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, additional information on directors and executive
officers of the Registrant is incorporated herein by reference from the Registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement to
be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the close of the fiscal year ended October 31, 2004.
Item 11.  Executive Compensation

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, information on executive compensation is

incorporated herein by reference from the Registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the close of the fiscal year ended October 31, 2004.
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’ Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, information on security ownership of certain
beneficial owners and management is incorporated herein by reference from the Registrant's Definitive Proxy
Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the close of the fiscal year ended
October 31, 2004.

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, information on certain relationships and related
transactions is incorporated herein by reference from the Registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed
pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the close of the fiscal year ended October 31, 2004.
Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, information on principal accountant fees and services

is incorporated herein by reference from the Registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the close of the fiscal year ended October 31, 2004.
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PART IV .

Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) Listing of Documents

Page
L. Financial Statements
Responsibility for Financial REPOITING.........ccvvieiririerirriereiretirese et 26
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.........ccoooviveiiireniiiiiiiieeecee e 27
Consolidated Balance SHEetS..........coiciiiiiiiic ettt e sae s sae e nnane s 28
Consolidated Statements 0f TICOIME .......oiviiiiiiiie e e 29
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' EQUILY ......ccooooiiviiiciiiet e 30
Consolidated Statements 0f Cash FIOW ..ot 32
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements..........ocoeveciireieireeee et 33
2. Financial Statement Schedule
Schedule II—Valuation and qualifying aCCOUNTS .........ccooviiviiieiiricniirne e 67
Schedules not listed or discussed above have been omitted as they are either inapplicable or the
required information has been given in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.
B EXRIBILS oottt ettt ettt ke h ekttt st ae s et ae st anere e 71
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Exhibit

Number

2.1

2.2

2.3

24

2.5

2.6

2.7

3.1

32

Description of Exhibits
Asset Purchase Agreement dated July 31, 1996, among the Company, Piper Impact, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, Piper Impact, Inc., a Tennessee corporation, B. ¥. Sammons and
M. W. Robbins, filed as Exhibit 2.1 of the Company's Report on Form 8-K
(Reg. No. 001-05725), dated August 9, 1996, and incorporated herein by reference.

Stock Purchase Agreement dated April 18, 1997, by and among Niagara Corporation, Niagara
Cold Drawn Corp., and Quanex Corporation filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K (Reg. No. 001-05725), dated May 5, 1997, and incorporated herein by
reference.

Purchase Agreement dated December 3, 1997, among Quanex Corporation, Vision Metals
Holdings, Inc., and Vision Metals, Inc., filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K (Reg. No. 001-05723), dated December 3, 1997, and incorporated herein by reference.

Acquisition Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 23, 2000, between Quanex
Corporation, Quanex Five, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Temroc Metals, Inc., a Minnesota corporation, filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the
Company's Report on Form 8-K (Reg. No. 001-05725), dated November 30, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.

First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger dated November 15, 2000 between Quanex
Corporation, Quanex Five, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Temroc Metals, Inc., a Minnesota corporation, filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company's Report on Form 8-K (Reg. No. 001-05725), dated November 30, 2000 and
incorporated herein by reference.

Stock Purchase Agreement dated November 21, 2003, by and among Kirtland Capital Partners 11
L.P., Kirtland Capital Company II LLC, TruSeal Investments Ltd., the other stockholders of
TruSeal Technologies, Inc., and Quanex Corporation; filed as Exhibit 2.6 (Reg. No. 001-05725)
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference..
Pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K, certain schedules to this Stock Purchase
Agreement have not been filed with this exhibit. The schedules contain various items relating to
the assets of the corporation being acquired and the representations and warranties made by the
parties to the agreement. The registrant agrees to furnish supplementally any omitted schedule to
the SEC upon request.

Amended and Restated Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement dated December 23, 2003, by and
between North Star Steel Company, MACSTEEL Monroe, Inc. (formerly Quanex Two, Inc.),
and Quanex Corporation; filed as Exhibit 2.7 (Reg. No. 001-05725) on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended October 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference. Pursuant to Item 601(b)(2)
of Regulation S-K, certain schedules to this Amended and Restated Asset Purchase and Sale
Agreement have not been filed with this exhibit. The schedules contain various items relating to
the assets of the business being acquired and the representations and warranties made by the
parties to the agreement. The registrant agrees to furnish supplementally any omitted schedule to
the SEC upon request.

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant dated as of November 10, 1995, filed as
Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the fiscal
year ended October 31, 1995 and incorporated herein by reference.

Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant dated as of
February 27, 1997, filed as Exhibit 3.2 fiscal year ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated
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Exhibit

Number

33

34

35
4.1

42

43

44

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

Description of Exhibits

herein by reference.

Amendment to Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock of the Registrant dated as of April 15, 1999, filed as Exhibit 3.3 of
the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference.

Certificate of Correction of Amendment to Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock dated as of April 16, 1999, filed as Exhibit 3.4 of
the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant, as amended through August 26, 1999 filed as
Exhibit 3 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the fiscal
quarter ended July 31, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Registrant's Common Stock certificate, filed as Exhibit 4.1 of the Registrant's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (Reg. No. 001- 05725) for the quarter ended April 30, 1987, and
incorporated herein by reference.

Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of November 26, 2002, by and among Quanex
Corporation, the financial institutions from time to time signatory thereto and Comerica Bank, as
agent for the banks filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K dated
October 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference. Certain schedules and exhibits to this
Revolving Credit Agreement have not been filed with this exhibit. The Company agrees to
furnish supplementally any omitted schedule or exhibit to the SEC upon request.

First Amendment to Security Agreement, dated February 17, 2003, effective November 26,
2002, filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Reg. No. 001-
05725) dated January 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.

Consent and First Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated December 19, 2003, by and
among Quanex Corporation, the financial institutions from time to time signatory thereto and
Comerica Bank, as agent for the banks filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) dated October 31, 2003. Certain schedules and exhibits to this
Consent and First Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement have not been filed with this
exhibit. The Company agrees to furnish supplementally any omitted schedule or exhibit to the
SEC upon request.

Waiver and Second Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated March 11, 2004, by and
among Quanex Corporation, the financial institutions from time to time signatory thereto and
Comerica Bank, as agent for the banks filed as Exhibit 4.6 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q (Reg. No. 001-05725) dated January 31, 2004,

Form of Consent to Requested Extension to Revolving Credit Maturity Date under the Quanex
Corporation Revolving Credit Agreement dated April 7, 2004, filed as Exhibit 4.7 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Reg. No. 001-05725) dated April 30, 2004.

Form of Consent and Third Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated April 9, 2004, by
and among Quanex Corporation, the financial institutions from time to time signatory thereto and
Comerica Bank, as agent for the banks, filed as Exhibit 4.8 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q (Reg. No. 001-05725) dated April 30, 2004.

Indenture dated as of May 5, 2004 between Quanex Corporation and Union Bank of California,
NL.A, as trustee relating to the Company’s 2.50% Convertible Senior Debentures due May 15, 2034,
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Number Description of Exhibits
filed as Exhibit 4.9 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Reg. No. 001-05725) dated
April 30, 2004.

4.9 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of May 5, 2004 among Quanex Corporation, Credit Suisse
First Boston LLC, Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated, and KeyBanc
Capital Markets relating to the Company’s 2.50% Convertible Senior Debentures due May 15,
2034, filed as Exhibit 4,10 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Reg. No. 001-
05725) dated April 30, 2004.

4.10 Third Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated as of September 15, 2004, between the
Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. as Rights Agent, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's
Current Report on Form 8-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) dated September 17, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.

*4.11 Form of Consent and Fourth Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated November 18,
2004, by and among Quanex Corporation, the financial institutions from time to time signatory
thereto and Comerica Bank, as agent for the banks.

F10.1 Quanex Corporation 1988 Stock Option Plan, as amended, and form of Stock Option year
Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended October 31, 1988, together with the amendment filed as Exhibit 10.17 of the Registrant's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the quarter ended January 31, 1995,
and incorporated herein by reference.

110.2 Amendment to the Quanex Corporation 1988 Stock Option Plan, dated as of December 1997,
filed as Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for
the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.3 Amendment to the Quanex Corporation 1988 Stock Option Plan, dated as of December 9, 1999,
filed as Exhibit 10.3 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form {0-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for
the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference.

1104 Quanex Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended and restated, dated September
29, 1999, filed as Exhibit 10.4 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No.
001-05725) for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference.

110.5 First Amendment to Quanex Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan, dated December 7, 1999,
filed as Exhibit 10.5 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for
the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.6 Quanex Corporation Executive Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended and restated, dated
October 12, 1995, filed as Exhibit 10.8 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
(Reg. No. 001-05725) for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by
reference.

110.7 Quanex Corporation Supplemental Benefit Plan, as amended and restated effective June 1, 1999,
filed as Exhibit 10.9 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for
the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference

710.8 Form of Change in Control Agreement, between the Registrant and each executive officer of the
Registrant, filed as Exhibit 10.10 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No.
001-05725) for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference.

110.9 Quanex Corporation 1987 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, as amended, and the
related form of Stock Option Agreement, filed as Exhibit 10.14 of the Registrant's Annual
Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the year ended October 31, 1988, together with
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Exhibit

Number

+10.10

+10.11

$10.12

$10.13

110.14

110.15

10.16

$10.17

$10.18

+10.19

£10.20

110.21

Description of Exhibits
the amendment filed as Exhibit 10.14 of the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Reg.
No. 001-05725) for the quarter ended January 31, 1995, and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to the Quanex Corporation 1987 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, dated
December 1997, filed as Exhibit 10.13 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg.
No. 001-05725) for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to the Quanex Corporation 1987 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, dated
December 9, 1999, filed as Exhibit 10.14 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg.
No. 001-05725) for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference.

Quanex Corporation 1989 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, as amended, filed as
Exhibit 4.4 of the Registrant's Form S-8, Registration No. 33-35128, together with the
amendment filed as Exhibit 10.15 of the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Reg. No.
001-05725) for the quarter ended January 31, 1995, and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to the Quanex Corporation 1989 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, dated
December 1997, filed as Exhibit 10.16 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg.
No. 001-05725) for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to the Quanex Corporation 1989 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, dated
December 9, 1999, filed as Exhibit 10.17 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg.
No. 001-05725) for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference.

Quanex Corporation Employee Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan, as amended, filed as
Exhibit 10.14 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the
year ended October 31, 1994, and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to the Quanex Corporation Employee Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan,
dated December 1997, filed as Exhibit 10.19 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
(Reg. No. 001-05725) for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by
reference. ‘

Amendment to the Quanex Corporation Employee Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan,
dated December 9, 1999, filed as Exhibit 10.20 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
(Reg. No. 001-05725) for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Amendment to the Quanex Corporation Employee Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan,
effective July 1, 2000 filed as Exhibit 10.18 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
(Reg. No. 001-05725) for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2000 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Retirement Agreement dated as of September 1, 1992, between the Registrant and Carl E.
Pfeiffer, filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
(Reg. No. 001-05725) for the year ended October 31, 1992, and incorporated herein by
reference.

Stock Option Agreement dated as of October 1, 1992, between the Registrant and Carl E.
Pfeiffer, filed as Exhibit 10.21 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
(Reg. No. 001-05725) for the year ended October 31, 1992, and incorporated herein by
reference.

Deferred Compensation Agreement dated as of July 31, 1992, between the Registrant and Carl
E. Pfeiffer, filed as Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No.
001-05725) for the year ended October 31, 1992, and incorporated herein by reference.

76




Exhibit

Number

110.22

1023

+10.24

110.25

10.26

1027

+10.28

10.29

710.30

$10.31

+10.32

10.33

110.34

Description of Exhibits
Quanex Corporation Non-Employee Director Retirement Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.18 of the
Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the year ended October 31,
1994, and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to Quanex Corporation Non-Employee Director Retirement Plan dated May 25,
1995, filed as Exhibit 10.3 of the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(Reg. No. 001-05725) for the fiscal quarter ended January 31, 2000 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Agreement to Freeze the Quanex Corporation Non-Employee Director Retirement Plan, effective
December 5, 2002, filed as Exhibit 10.3 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(Reg. No. 001-05725) for the fiscal quarter ended April 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference

Quanex Corporation 1996 Employee Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan, filed as Exhibit
10.19 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the year ended
October 31, 1996, and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to Quanex Corporation 1996 Employee Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan,
dated December 1997, filed as Exhibit 10.26 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
(Reg. No. 001-05725) for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Amendment to Quanex Corporation 1996 Employee Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan,
dated December 9, 1999, filed as Exhibit 10.27 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
(Reg. No. 001-05725) for the fiscal yvear ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Amendment to Quanex Corporation 1996 Employee Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan,
effective February 23, 2000, filed as Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrant's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the fiscal quarter ended January 31, 2000 and incorporated
herein by reference.

Amendment to Quanex Corporation 1996 Employee Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan,
effective July 1, 2000 filed as Exhibit 10.28 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
(Reg. No. 001-05725) for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2000 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Amendment to the Quanex Corporation 1996 Employee Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan,
effective December 5, 2002, filed as Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the fiscal quarter ended April 30, 2003 and incorporated herein
by reference.

Quanex Corporation Deferred Compensation Trust filed as Exhibit 4.8 of the Registrant's
Registration Statement on Form S-3, Registration No. 333-36633, and incorporated herein by
reference.

Amendment to Quanex Corporation Deferred Compensation Trust, dated December 9, 1999,
filed as Exhibit 10.29 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for
the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference.

Quanex Corporation 1997 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan filed as Exhibit 10.21 of
the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the year ended October
31, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to Quanex Corporation 1997 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, dated
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Exhibit

Number

+10.35

10.36

+10.37

+10.38

+10.39

+10.40

+10.41

10.42

10.43

10.44

10.45

10.46

Description of Exhibits
December 9, 1999, filed as Exhibit 10.31 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg.
No. 001-05725) for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference.

Agreement to Terminate the Quanex Corporation 1997 Non-Employee Director Stock Option
Plan, effective December 5, 2002, filed as Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the fiscal quarter ended April 30, 2003 and incorporated
herein by reference.

Quanex Corporation 1997 Key Employee Stock Plan (formerly known as the Quanex
Corporation 1997 Key Employee Stock Option Plan) as amended and restated, dated October 20,
1999, filed as Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Reg. No.
001-05725), dated June 11, 2001.

Amendment to Quanex Corporation 1997 Key Employee Stock Plan (formerly known as the
Quanex Corporation 1997 Key Employee Stock Option Plan) dated December 9, 1999, filed as
Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Reg. No. 001-05725), dated
June 11, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to Quanex Corporation 1997 Key Employee Stock Plan (formerly known as the
Quanex Corporation 1997 Key Employee Stock Option Plan) effective July 1, 2000, filed as
Exhibit 10.3 of the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Reg. No. 001-05725), dated
June 11, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to the Quanex Corporation 1997 Key Employee Stock Option Plan effective
October 25, 2001, filed as Exhibit 10.36 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg.
No. 001-05725) for the year ended October 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference.

Quanex Corporation Long-Term Incentive Plan effective November 1, 2001, filed as
Exhibit 10.37 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the
year ended October 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference.

Letter Agreement between Quanex Corporation and Raymond A. Jean, dated February 14, 2001,
filed as Exhibit 10.6 of the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, dated March 7, 2002
and incorporated herein by reference.

Lease Agreement between The Industrial Development Board of the City of Decatur and
Fruehauf Trailer Company dated May 1, 1963, filed as Exhibit 10.22 of the Registrant's Annual
Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the year ended October 31, 1998 and
incorporated herein by reference.

Lease Agreement between The Industrial Development Board of the City of Decatur and
Fruehauf Corporation dated May 1, 1964, filed as Exhibit 10.23 of the Registrant's Annual
Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the year ended October 31, 1998 and
incorporated herein by reference.

Lease Agreement between The Industrial Development Board of the City of Decatur and
Fruehauf Corporation dated October 1, 1965, filed as Exhibit 10.24 of the Registrant's Annual
Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the year ended October 31, 1998 and
incorporated herein by reference.

Lease Agreement between The Industrial Development Board of the City of Decatur (Alabama)
and Fruehauf Corporation dated December 1, 1978, filed as Exhibit 10.25 of the Registrant's
Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No. 001-05725) for the year ended October 31, 1998 and
incorporated herein by reference.

Assignment and Assumption Agreement between Fruehauf Trailer Corporation and Decatur
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Number Description of Exhibits
Aluminum Corp. (subsequently renamed Nichols Aluminum-Alabama, Inc.) dated October 9,
1998, filed as Exhibit 10.26 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
(Reg. No. 001-05725) for the year ended October 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.47 Agreement between The Industrial Development Board of the City of Decatur and Decatur
Aluminum Corp. (subsequently renamed Nichols Aluminum-Alabama, Inc.) dated September
23, 1998, filed as Exhibit 10.27 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg. No.
001-05725) for the year ended October 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.48 Lease Agreement between Cabot Industrial Properties, L.P. and Quanex Corporation dated
August 30, 2002, filed as Exhibit 10.52 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Reg.
No. 001-05725) for the year ended October 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.49 Third Amendment to the Quanex Corporation 401(k) Savings Plan (effective August 9, 2004), filed
as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Reg. No. 001-05725) dated
July 31, 2004.

*+10.50 Amendment and restatement of the Quanex Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan, effective
July 1, 2004.

*21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

*23 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

*31.1 Certification by chief executive officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).

*31.2 Certification by chief financial officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).

*32.1 Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

T Management Compensation or Incentive Plan
* Filed herewith

As permitted by Item 601(b)(4)(iii)(A) of Regulation S-K, the Registrant has not filed with this Annual
Report on Form 10-K certain instruments defining the rights of holders of long-term debt of the Registrant and its
subsidiaries because the total amount of securities authorized under any of such instruments does not exceed 10%
of the total assets of the Registrant and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. The Registrant agrees to furnish a

copy of any such agreements to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

QUANEX CORPORATION
By: /st RAYMOND A. JEAN December 21, 2004
Raymond A. Jean
Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ Raymond A. Jean Chairman of the Board, President December 21, 2004
Raymond A. Jean and Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Donald G. Barger, Jr. Director December 21, 2004

Donald G. Barger, Jr.

/s/ Vincent R. Scorsone Director December 21, 2004
Vincent R. Scorsone

s/s Michael J. Sebastian Director December 21, 2004
Michael J. Sebastian

/s/ Russell M. Flaum Director December 21, 2004
Russell M. Flaum

/s/ Susan F, Davis Director December 21, 2004
Susan F. Davis

/s/ Joseph J. Ross Director December 21, 2004
Joseph J. Ross

/s/ Richard L. Wellek Director ' December 21, 2004
Richard L. Wellek :

/s/ Terry M. Murphy Vice President—Finance December 21, 2004
Terry M. Murphy Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ Ricardo Arredondo Vice President and Controller December 21, 2004
Ricardo Arredondo (Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION

’aymond A. Jean, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Quanex Corporation (the “Registrant™);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures [as defined in

' Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)] and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and '

¢. Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s
internal contro! over financial reporting.

December 21, 2004

YMOND A.JEAN
YMOND A. JEAN
Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION
I, Terry M. Murphy, certify that: .

1. Ihave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Quanex Corporation (the “Registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures {as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢e) and 15d-15(e)] and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

c. Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal ‘quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

December 21, 2004

TERRY M. MURPHY

/s/ TERRY M. MURPHY .
Vice President — Finance and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant To Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

We hereby certify that the accompanying Annual Report of Quanex Corporation on Form 10-K for the year ended October 31, 2004 fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Report fairly
presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Quanex Corporation.

December 21, 2004

/s/ RaYMOND A. JEAN /s TERRY M. MURPHY
Raymond A. Jean Terry M. Murphy
Chairman of the Board, President and Vice President—Finance and
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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